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Statement of Comprehensive Net Expenditure for the year ended
31 March 2021

2020-21 2019-20
Note £'000 £'000

Income from sale of goods and services 2 (13) (175)
Other operating income 2 (235) (213)
Total operating income (248) (388)

Staff costs 3 1,955 2,054
Purchase of goods and services 4 309,367 295,936
Other Operating Expenditure 4 120 119
Total operating expenditure 311,442 298,109

Comprehensive Expenditure for the year 311,194 297,722

The notes on pages 5 to 17 form part of this statement
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Statement of Financial Position as at
31 March 2021

2020-21 2019-20

Note £'000 £'000
Current assets:
Trade and other receivables 7 766 1,439
Cash and cash equivalents 8 133 293
Total current assets 899 1,732

Total assets 899 1,732

Current liabilities
Trade and other payables 9 (29,362) (22,270)
Total current liabilities (29,362) (22,270)

Assets less Liabilities (28,463) (20,538)

Financed by Taxpayers’ Equity
General fund (28,463) (20,538)
Total taxpayers' equity: (28,463) (20,538)

The notes on pages 5 to 17 form part of this statement

The financial statements on pages 1 to 4 were approved by the Governing Body on 3 June 2021 and signed on its behalf by:

Accountable Officer
Dr. Neil O'Brien
xxxxxxxxx 2021
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Statement of Changes In Taxpayers Equity for the year ended
31 March 2021

General fund
Total 

reserves
£'000 £'000

Changes in taxpayers’ equity for 2020-21

Balance at 01 April 2020 (20,538) (20,538)

Changes in NHS Clinical Commissioning Group taxpayers’ equity for 2020-21
Net operating expenditure for the financial year (311,194) (311,194)

Net Recognised NHS Clinical Commissioning Group Expenditure for the Financial  Year (311,194) (311,194)

Net funding 303,269 303,269
Balance at 31 March 2021 (28,463) (28,463)

General fund
Total 

reserves
£'000 £'000

Changes in taxpayers’ equity for 2019-20

Balance at 01 April 2019 (17,476) (17,476)

Changes in NHS Clinical Commissioning Group taxpayers’ equity for 2019-20
Net operating costs for the financial year (297,721) (297,721)

Net Recognised NHS Clinical Commissioning Group Expenditure for the Financial  Year (297,721) (297,721)

Net funding 294,659 294,659
Balance at 31 March 2020 (20,538) (20,538)

The notes on pages 5 to 17 form part of this statement
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Statement of Cash Flows for the year ended
31 March 2021

2020-21 2019-20
Note £'000 £'000

Cash Flows from Operating Activities
Net operating expenditure for the financial year (311,194) (297,721)
(Increase)/decrease in trade & other receivables 7 673 (365)
Increase/(decrease) in trade & other payables 9 7,092 3,606
Net Cash Inflow (Outflow) from Operating Activities (303,429) (294,480)

Net Cash Inflow (Outflow) before Financing (303,429) (294,480)

Cash Flows from Financing Activities
Grant in Aid Funding Received 303,269 294,659
Net Cash Inflow (Outflow) from Financing Activities 303,269 294,659

Net Increase (Decrease) in Cash & Cash Equivalents 8 (161) 179

Cash & Cash Equivalents at the Beginning of the Financial Year 293 114
Effect of exchange rate changes on the balance of cash and cash equivalents held in foreign currencies 0 0
Cash & Cash Equivalents (including bank overdrafts) at the End of the Financial Year 133 293

The notes on pages 5 to 17 form part of this statement
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Notes to the financial statements

1 Accounting Policies

NHS England/ has directed that the financial statements of Clinical Commissioning Groups shall meet the accounting requirements of the  Group 
Accounting Manual issued by the Department of Health and Social Care. Consequently, the following financial statements have been prepared in 
accordance with the  Group Accounting Manual 2020-21 issued by the Department of Health and Social Care. The accounting policies contained in 
the Group Accounting Manual follow International Financial Reporting Standards to the extent that they are meaningful and appropriate to clinical 
commissioning groups, as determined by HM Treasury, which is advised by the Financial Reporting Advisory Board.  Where the Group Accounting 
Manual permits a choice of accounting policy, the accounting policy which is judged to be most appropriate to the particular circumstances of the 
clinical commissioning group for the purpose of giving a true and fair view has been selected. The particular policies adopted by the clinical 
commissioning group are described below. They have been applied consistently in dealing with items considered material in relation to the accounts.

1.1 Going Concern
These accounts have been prepared on a going concern basis.
Public sector bodies are assumed to be going concerns where the continuation of the provision of a service in the future is anticipated, as evidenced 
by inclusion of financial provision for that service in published documents.
Where a Clinical Commissioning Group ceases to exist, it considers whether or not its services will continue to be provided (using the same assets, 
by another public sector entity) in determining whether to use the concept of going concern for the final set of financial statements. If services will 
continue to be provided the financial statements are prepared on the going concern basis. In February 2021 the Government released the NHS White 
Paper ‘Integration and innovation: working together to improve health and social care for all.’ Pending the necessary legislative changes it is 
envisaged that the CCG will become part of a larger ICS statutory body with effect from 1st April 2022, with financial responsibility and accountability 
moving to the ICS statutory body. In consideration of this it is expected the services currently undertaken by NHS South Tyneside CCG will transfer to 
the new body.

1.2 Accounting Convention
These accounts have been prepared under the historical cost convention modified to account for the revaluation of property, plant and equipment, 
intangible assets, inventories and certain financial assets and financial liabilities.

1.3 Movement of Assets within the Department of Health and Social Care Group
As Public Sector Bodies are deemed to operate under common control, business reconfigurations within the Department of Health and Social Care 
Grup are outside the scope of IFRS 3 Business Combinations. Where functions transfer between two public sector bodies, the Department of Health 
and Social Care GAM requires the application of absorption accounting. Absorption accounting requires that entities account for their transactions in 
the period in which they took place, with no restatement of performance required when functions transfer within the public sector.  Where assets and 
liabilities transfer, the gain or loss resulting is recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Net Expenditure, and is disclosed separately from 
operating costs.
Other transfers of assets and liabilities within the Department of Health and Social Care Group are accounted for in line with IAS 20 and similarly give 
rise to income and expenditure entries.

1.4 Joint arrangements
Arrangements over which the Clinical Commissioning Group has joint control with one or more other entities are classified as joint arrangements. 
Joint control is the contractually agreed sharing of control of an arrangement. A joint arrangement is either a joint operation or a joint venture.
A joint operation exists where the parties that have joint control have rights to the assets and obligations for the liabilities relating to the arrangement. 
Where the Clinical Commissioning Group is a joint operator it recognises its share of, assets, liabilities, income and expenses in its own accounts. 
The Clinical Commissioning Group has assessed that it does not have joint arrangements as joint control does not exist.

1.5 Pooled Budgets
The Clinical Commissioning Group has five pooled budget arrangements hosted by South Tyneside Council in accordance with section 75 of the 
NHS Act 2006. Under the arrangements, funds are pooled for Better Care Fund, the care of Learning Disabilities clients, Community Equipment 
Store, the delivery of legal advice for the Mental Capacity Act and the Joint Commissioning Unit. The Clinical Commissioning Group accounts for its 
share of the income and expenditure of the pools as determined by the pooled budget agreement and can be seen in Note 12.

1.6 Operating Segments
Income and expenditure are analysed in the Operating Segments note and are reported in line with management information used within the Clinical 
Commissioning Group.

1.7  Revenue
In the application of IFRS 15 a number of practical expedients offered in the Standard have been employed. These are as follows;
• As per paragraph 121 of the Standard the Clinical Commissioning Group will not disclose information regarding performance obligations part of a 
contract that has an original expected duration of one year or less,
• The Clinical Commissioning Group is to similarly not disclose information where revenue is recognised in line with the practical expedient offered in 
paragraph B16 of the Standard where the right to consideration corresponds directly with value of the performance completed to date.
• The FReM has mandated the exercise of the practical expedient offered in C7(a) of the Standard that requires the Clinical Commissioning Group to 
reflect the aggregate effect of all contracts modified before the date of initial application.

The main source of funding for the Clinical Commissioning Group is from NHS England. This is drawn down and credited to the general fund. 
Funding is recognised in the period in which it is received.
Revenue in respect of services provided is recognised when (or as) performance obligations are satisfied by transferring promised services to the 
customer, and is measured at the amount of the transaction price allocated to that performance obligation.
Where income is received for a specific performance obligation that is to be satisfied in the following year, that income is deferred.
Payment terms are standard reflecting cross government principles.
The value of the benefit received when the Clinical Commissioning Group accesses funds from the Government’s apprenticeship service are 
recognised as income in accordance with IAS 20, Accounting for Government Grants. Where these funds are paid directly to an accredited training 
provider, non-cash income and a corresponding non-cash training expense are recognised, both equal to the cost of the training funded.

1.8 Employee Benefits
1.8.1 Short-term Employee Benefits

Salaries, wages and employment-related payments, including payments arising from the apprenticeship levy, are recognised in the period in which 
the service is received from employees, including bonuses earned but not yet taken.
The cost of leave earned but not taken by employees at the end of the period is recognised in the financial statements to the extent that employees 
are permitted to carry forward leave into the following period.

1.8.2 Retirement Benefit Costs

Past and present employees are covered by the provisions of the NHS Pensions Schemes. These schemes are unfunded, defined benefit schemes 
that cover NHS employers, General Practices and other bodies allowed under the direction of the Secretary of State in England and Wales. The 
schemes are not designed to be run in a way that would enable NHS bodies to identify their share of the underlying scheme assets and liabilities. 
Therefore, the schemes are accounted for as though they were defined contribution schemes: the cost to the clinical commissioning group of 
participating in a scheme is taken as equal to the contributions payable to the scheme for the accounting period.

5



NHS South Tyneside Clinical Commissioning Group - Annual Accounts 2020-21

Notes to the financial statements

For early retirements other than those due to ill health the additional pension liabilities are not funded by the scheme. The full amount of the liability 
for the additional costs is charged to expenditure at the time the Clinical Commissioning Group commits itself to the retirement, regardless of the 
method of payment.
The schemes are subject to a full actuarial valuation every four years and an accounting valuation every year.

1.9 Other Expenses
Other operating expenses are recognised when, and to the extent that, the goods or services have been received. They are measured at the fair 
value of the consideration payable.

1.10 Leases
Leases are classified as finance leases when substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership are transferred to the lessee. All other leases are 
classified as operating leases.

1.10.1 The Clinical Commissioning Group as Lessee
Property, plant and equipment held under finance leases are initially recognised, at the inception of the lease, at fair value or, if lower, at the present 
value of the minimum lease payments, with a matching liability for the lease obligation to the lessor. Lease payments are apportioned between 
finance charges and reduction of the lease obligation so as to achieve a constant rate on interest on the remaining balance of the liability. Finance 
charges are recognised in calculating the Clinical Commissioning Group’s surplus/deficit.
Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term. Lease incentives are recognised initially as a 
liability and subsequently as a reduction of rentals on a straight-line basis over the lease term.
Contingent rentals are recognised as an expense in the period in which they are incurred.
Where a lease is for land and buildings, the land and building components are separated and individually assessed as to whether they are operating 
or finance leases.

1.11 Cash & Cash Equivalents
Cash is cash in hand and deposits with any financial institution repayable without penalty on notice of not more than 24 hours. Cash equivalents are 
investments that mature in 3 months or less from the date of acquisition and that are readily convertible to known amounts of cash with insignificant 
risk of change in value.
Cash, bank and overdraft balances are recorded at current values.

1.12 Clinical Negligence Costs

NHS Resolution operates a risk pooling scheme under which the Clinical Commissioning Group pays an annual contribution to NHS Resolution, 
which in return settles all clinical negligence claims. The contribution is charged to expenditure. Although NHS Resolution is administratively 
responsible for all clinical negligence cases, the legal liability remains with Clinical Commissioning Group.

1.13 Non-clinical Risk Pooling
The Clinical Commissioning Group participates in the Property Expenses Scheme and the Liabilities to Third Parties Scheme. Both are risk pooling 
schemes under which the Clinical Commissioning Group pays an annual contribution to the NHS Resolution and, in return, receives assistance with 
the costs of claims arising. The annual membership contributions, and any excesses payable in respect of particular claims are charged to operating 
expenses as and when they become due.

1.14 Financial Assets
Financial assets are recognised when the Clinical Commissioning Group becomes party to the financial instrument contract or, in the case of trade 
receivables, when the goods or services have been delivered. Financial assets are derecognised when the contractual rights have expired or the 
asset has been transferred and the Clinical Commissioning Group has transferred substantially all of the risks and rewards of ownership or has not 
retained control of the asset.
Financial assets are initially recognised at fair value plus or minus directly attributable transaction costs for financial assets not measured at fair value 
through profit or loss. Fair value is taken as the transaction price, or otherwise determined by reference to quoted market prices, where possible, or 
by valuation techniques.
Financial assets are classified into the following categories:
·                Financial assets at amortised cost;
·                Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income and ;
·                Financial assets at fair value through profit and loss.
The classification is determined by the cash flow and business model characteristics of the financial assets, as set out in IFRS 9, and is determined 
at the time of initial recognition.

1.14.1 Financial Assets at Amortised cost
Financial assets measured at amortised cost are those held within a business model whose objective is achieved by collecting contractual cash flows  
and where the cash flows are solely payments of principal and interest. This includes most trade receivables and other simple debt instruments.  
After initial recognition these financial assets are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method less any impairment.  The effective 
interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts through the life of the financial asset to the gross carrying amount of the 
financial asset.

1.15 Financial Liabilities
Financial liabilities are recognised on the statement of financial position when the Clinical Commissioning Group becomes party to the contractual 
provisions of the financial instrument or, in the case of trade payables, when the goods or services have been received. Financial liabilities are de-
recognised when the liability has been discharged, that is, the liability has been paid or has expired.

1.16 Value Added Tax
Most of the activities of the Clinical Commissioning Group are outside the scope of VAT and, in general, output tax does not apply and input tax on 
purchases is not recoverable. Irrecoverable VAT is charged to the relevant expenditure category or included in the capitalised purchase cost of fixed 
assets. Where output tax is charged or input VAT is recoverable, the amounts are stated net of VAT.

1.17 Critical accounting judgements and key sources of estimation uncertainty
In the application of the Clinical Commissioning Group’s accounting policies, management is required to make judgements, estimates and 
assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. The estimates and associated 
assumptions are based on historical experience and other factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual results may differ from those estimates 
and the estimates and underlying assumptions are continually reviewed. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the period in which the 
estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period or in the period of the revision and future periods if the revision affects both current and 
future periods.  pp     g g p  g p  g   q     j g    

1.17.1 Critical accounting judgements in applying accounting policies
There are no critical judgements, apart from those involving estimations (see below) that management has made in the process of applying the 
Clinical Commissioning Group’s accounting policies that have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial statements.

1.17.2 Sources of estimation uncertainty
The following are the key estimations that management has made in the process of applying the Clinical Commissioning Group’s accounting policies 
that have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial statements:
The main estimate in 2020/21 related to prescribing expenditure which is two months in arrears and is based on BSA profiling. The estimate accrual 
within the accounts is for the month of March only this year and is £2.584m.(£2.796m 2019/20).

1.18 Accounting Standards That Have Been Issued But Have Not Yet Been Adopted
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Notes to the financial statements

The Department of Health and Social Care GAM does not require the following IFRS Standards and Interpretations to be applied in 2020-21. These 
Standards are still subject to HM Treasury FReM adoption, with IFRS 16 being for implementation in 2022/23, and the government implementation 
date for IFRS 17 still subject to HM Treasury consideration. 
● IFRS 16 Leases – The Standard is effective 1 April 2022 as adapted and interpreted by the FReM.
● IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts – Application required for accounting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2021, but not yet adopted by the FReM: 
early adoption is not therefore permitted.
HM Treasury revised the implementation date for IFRS 16 in the UK public sector to 1 April 2022. Due to the need to reassess lease calculations, 
together with uncertainty on expected leasing activity from April 2022 and beyond, a quantification of the expected impact of applying the standard in 
2022/23 is currently impracticable. However, the CCG does not expect this standard to have a material impact on non-current assets, liabilities and 
depreciation.
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2 Other Operating Revenue
2020-21 2020-21 2020-21 2019-20
Admin Programme Total Total
£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Income from sale of goods and services (contracts)
Recoveries in respect of employee benefits 13 - 13 175
Total Income from sale of goods and services 13 - 13 175

Other operating income
Other non contract revenue - 235 235 213
Total Other operating income - 235 235 213

Total Operating Income 13 235 248 388

Administration revenue is revenue received that is not directly attributable to the provision of healthcare or healthcare services.

All other revenue is deemed to be non-contract revenue by the Clinical Commissioning Group.

Revenue in this note does not include cash received from NHS England, which is drawn down directly into the bank account of the Clinical 
Commissioning Group and credited to the General Fund.

Recoveries in respect of employee benefits relates to the recharge of Termination Benefits for the Accountable Officer to North Durham CCG, 
Durham Dales Easington and Sedgefield CCG and Sunderland CCG.
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3  Employee benefits and staff numbers

3.1.1 Employee benefits 2020-21
Permanent 
Employees Other Total

£'000 £'000 £'000
Employee Benefits
Salaries and wages 1,428 113 1,541
Social security costs 176 0 176
Employer Contributions to NHS Pension scheme 235 0 235
Other pension costs 3 0 3
Gross employee benefits expenditure 1,842 113 1,955

Less recoveries in respect of employee benefits (note 4.1.2) (13) 0 (13) 
Total - Net admin employee benefits including capitalised costs 1,829 113 1,942

2019-20
Permanent 
Employees Other Total

£'000 £'000 £'000
Employee Benefits
Salaries and wages 1,341 84 1,425
Social security costs 162 0 162
Employer Contributions to NHS Pension scheme 240 0 240
Other pension costs 3 0 3
Termination benefits 224 0 224
Gross employee benefits expenditure 1,970 84 2,054

Less recoveries in respect of employee benefits (note 4.1.2) (175) - (175)
Net employee benefits excluding capitalised costs 1,795 84 1,879

3.1.2 Recoveries in respect of employee benefits 2020-21 2019-20
Permanent 
Employees Other Total Total

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000
Social security costs (13) - (13) (7)
Termination benefits - - - (168)
Total recoveries in respect of employee benefits (13) - (13) (175)

3.2 Average number of people employed

Permanently 
employed Other Total

Permanently 
employed Other Total

Number Number Number Number Number Number

Total 21.46 1.08 22.54 20.96 1.02 21.98

3.3 Exit packages agreed in the financial year

There were no exit packages agreed in the financial year 2020/21.

Number £ Number £ Number £
£50,001 to £100,000 - - 1 63,918 1 63,918
£150,001 to £200,000 1 160,000 - - 1 160,000
Total 1 160,000 1 63,918 2 223,918

3.4  Analysis of Other Agreed Departures

Number £ Number £
Contractual payments in lieu of notice - - 1 63,918
Total - - 1 63,918

Termination benefits is the gross cost to the Clinical Commissioning Group following the departure of the Accountable Officer on 31 March 2020.

Recoveries in respect of employee benefits relates to the recharge of Termination Benefits for the Accountable Officer to North Durham CCG, 
Durham Dales Easington and Sedgefield CCG and Sunderland CCG.

Compulsory redundancies Other agreed departures Total
2019-20 2019-20 2019-20

2019-202020-21

Total

Total

Recoveries in respect of employee benefits relates to the recharge of additional NI costs incurred in 2020/21 relating to the Termination of the 
Accountable Officer, to North Durham CCG, Durham Dales Easington and Sedgefield CCG and Sunderland CCG.

2019-20

The Compulsory redundancy figure is the gross cost to the Clinical Commissioning Group following the departure of the Accountable Officer on 31 March 2020. This figure consists 
of both a redundancy payment and Lieu of Notice payment.

These tables report the number and value of exit packages agreed in the financial year. The expense associated with these departures may have been recognised in part or in full 
in a previous period.

Redundancy and other departure costs have been paid in accordance with the provisions of the NHS Terms and Conditions of Service Handbook.

Exit costs are accounted for in accordance with relevant accounting standards and at the latest in full in the year of departure.

Other agreed departures
2020-21

Other agreed departures
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3.5 Pension costs

Past and present employees are covered by the provisions of the two NHS Pension Schemes.  Details of the benefits payable and rules of 
the Schemes can be found on the NHS Pensions website at www.nhsbsa.nhs.uk/pensions.

These schemes are unfunded, defined benefit schemes that cover NHS employers, General Practices and other bodies allowed under the 
direction of the Secretary of State in England and Wales. The schemes are not designed to be run in a way that would enable NHS bodies 
to identify their share of the underlying scheme assets and liabilities.

Therefore, the schemes are accounted for as though they were defined contribution schemes: the cost to the Clinical Commissioning 
Group of participating in a scheme is taken as equal to the contributions payable to the scheme for the accounting period.

In order that the defined benefit obligations recognised in the financial statements do not differ materially from those that would be 
determined at the reporting date by a formal actuarial valuation, the FReM requires that “the period between formal valuations shall 
be four years, with approximate assessments in intervening years”. An outline of these follows

3.5.1 Accounting valuation

A valuation of scheme liability is carried out annually by the scheme actuary (currently the Government Actuary’s Department) as at the 
end of the reporting period. This utilises an actuarial assessment for the previous accounting period in conjunction with updated 
membership and financial data for the current reporting period, and is accepted as providing suitably robust figures for financial reporting 
purposes. The valuation of the scheme liability as at 31 March 2021, is based on valuation data as 31 March 2020 updated to 31 March 
2021 with summary global member and accounting data. In undertaking this actuarial assessment, the methodology prescribed in IAS 19, 
relevant FReM interpretations, and the discount rate prescribed by HM Treasury have also been used.

The latest assessment of the liabilities of the scheme is contained in the report of the scheme actuary, which forms part of the annual NHS 
Pension Scheme Accounts. These accounts can be viewed on the NHS Pensions website and are published annually. Copies can also be 
obtained from The Stationery Office.

3.5.2 Full actuarial (funding) valuation

The purpose of this valuation is to assess the level of liability in respect of the benefits due under the schemes (taking into account recent 
demographic experience), and to recommend contribution rates payable by employees and employers. 

The latest actuarial valuation undertaken for the NHS Pension Scheme was completed as at 31 March 2016. The results of this valuation 
set the employer contribution rate payable from April 2019 to 20.6% of pensionable pay. For 2020/21, NHS CCGs continued to pay over 
contributions at the former rate with the additional amount being paid by NHS England on CCG's behalf. The full costs and related funding 
has been recognised in these accounts.  The 2016 funding valuation was also expected to test the cost of the Scheme relative to the 
employer cost cap that was set following the 2012 valuation. In January 2019, the Government announced a pause to the cost control 
element of the 2016 valuations, due to the uncertainty around member benefits caused by the discrimination ruling relating to the McCloud 
case. 

The Government subsequently announced in July 2020 that the pause had been lifted, and so the cost control element of the 2016
valuations could be completed. The Government has set out that the costs of remedy of the discrimination will be included in this
process. HMT valuation directions will set out the technical detail of how the costs of remedy will be included in the valuation
process. The Government has also confirmed that the Government Actuary is reviewing the cost control mechanism (as was
originally announced in 2018). The review will assess whether the cost control mechanism is working in line with original
government objectives and reported to Government in April 2021. The findings of this review will not impact the 2016 valuations,
with the aim for any changes to the cost cap mechanism to be made in time for the completion of the 2020 actuarial valuations.
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4  Operating expenses
2020-21 2020-21 2020-21 2019-20
Admin Programme Total Total
£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Purchase of goods and services
Services from other CCGs and NHS England 990 776 1,766 1,868
Services from foundation trusts - 197,453 197,453 193,759
Services from other NHS trusts - (26) (26) 160
Purchase of healthcare from non-NHS bodies - 49,564 49,564 39,996
Purchase of social care - 4,603 4,603 5,528
Prescribing costs - 29,585 29,585 28,147
Pharmaceutical services - 226 226 178
GPMS/APMS and PCTMS - 23,288 23,288 22,133
Supplies and services – general 18 1,104 1,122 1,192
Consultancy services 19 - 19 29
Establishment 45 71 116 116
Transport 1 - 1 7
Premises 195 1,250 1,445 2,433
Audit fees 39 - 39 35
Other non statutory audit expenditure
·          Other services - 7 7 11
Other professional fees 33 66 99 134
Legal fees 2 8 10 146
Education, training and conferences 3 47 50 64
 Total Purchase of goods and services 1,345 308,022 309,367 295,936

Other Operating Expenditure
Chair and Non Executive Members 117 - 117 116
Clinical negligence 3 - 3 3
Total Other Operating Expenditure 120 - 120 119

Total operating expenditure 1,465 308,022 309,487 296,055

Included within Other professional fees is £33,544 (2019/20: £35,770) for internal audit services.

Expenses related to Rentals under Operating Leases are within the Establishment and Premises lines. These costs can be seen in Note 6 - Operating Leases within 
these Accounts.

Administration expenditure is expenditure incurred that is not a direct payment for the provision of healthcare or healthcare services.

The external auditor of the Clinical Commissioning Group is Mazars LLP. The audit fee for 2020/21 was £38,520 (including VAT).

External audit fees and non-audit services are inclusive of VAT. Non-audit services are in respect of Mental Health Investment Standard assurance that NHSE requires 
CCGs to obtain from an independent reporting accountant, to demonstrate their investment in mental health expenditure rises at a faster rate than their overall 
published programme funding. The work is done after the year-end, with the fees being as follows: 2019/20 £9.5k + Vat = £11,400 and an estimated accrual for 2020-
21.
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5  Better Payment Practice Code

Measure of compliance 2020-21 2020-21 2019-20 2019-20
Number £'000 Number £'000

Non-NHS Payables
Total Non-NHS Trade invoices paid in the Year 3,124 71,302 3,774 69,002
Total Non-NHS Trade Invoices paid within target 3,113 71,281 3,738 68,768
Percentage of Non-NHS Trade invoices paid within target 99.65% 99.97% 99.05% 99.66%

NHS Payables
Total NHS Trade Invoices Paid in the Year 575 201,474 1,598 208,177
Total NHS Trade Invoices Paid within target 571 201,411 1,585 208,042
Percentage of NHS Trade Invoices paid within target 99.30% 99.97% 99.19% 99.94%

6  Operating Leases

6.1 As lessee

6.1.1 Payments recognised as an Expense 2020-21 2019-20
Total Land Buildings Other Total
£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Payments recognised as an expense
Minimum lease payments - 214 3 217 - 217 3 220
Total - 214 3 217 - 217 3 220

2019-20 2019-20
Land Buildings Other Total Land Buildings Other Total
£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Payable:
No later than one year - - - - - - 1 1
Total - - - - - - 1 1

Buildings
£'000

Land
£'000

Other
£'000

Whilst our arrangements with NHS Property Services Limited fall within the definition of operating leases, rental charge for future years has not been agreed . Consequently, this note does not 
include future minimum lease payments for these arrangements.

The significant operating leases represented in the figure below are in relation to NHS Property Services. In addition to the lease for the Clinical Commissioning Group headquarters, this 
figure also includes leases for properties which the Clinical Commissioning Group are deemed to be responsible for but do not occupy.
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7  Trade and other receivables Current Current
2020-21 2019-20

£'000 £'000

NHS receivables: Revenue 227 461
NHS prepayments - 627
NHS accrued income 31 206
Non-NHS and Other WGA receivables: Revenue 176 16
Non-NHS and Other WGA prepayments 212 113
Non-NHS and Other WGA accrued income 96 -
VAT 21 15
Other receivables and accruals 3 1
Total Trade & other receivables 766 1,439

Total current and non current 766 1,439

7.1  Receivables past their due date but not impaired
2020-21 2020-21 2019-20 2019-20

DHSC Group 
Bodies

Non DHSC Group 
Bodies

DHSC Group 
Bodies

Non DHSC 
Group Bodies

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000
By up to three months 13 20 3 4
By three to six months - 1 3 0
By more than six months 12 1 81 0
Total 25 22 87 4

£257 of the amount above has subsequently been recovered post the statement of financial position date.

8  Cash and cash equivalents

2020-21 2019-20
£'000 £'000

Balance at 01 April 2020 293 114
Net change in year (160) 178
Balance at 31 March 2021 133 293

Made up of:
Cash with the Government Banking Service 133 293
Cash and cash equivalents as in statement of financial position 133 293

Balance at 31 March 2021 133 293

Current Current
2020-21 2019-20

£'000 £'000

NHS payables: Revenue 155 996
NHS accruals 250 1,701
Non-NHS and Other WGA payables: Revenue 3,699 4,594
Non-NHS and Other WGA accruals 24,737 14,328
Social security costs 25 23
Tax 35 26
Other payables and accruals 461 602
Total Trade & Other Payables 29,362 22,270

Total current and non-current 29,362 22,270

Other payables include £223,564 outstanding pension contributions at 31 March 2021 (£170,073 at 31 March 2020).

9  Trade and other payables
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10  Financial Instruments

10.1 Financial assets

Financial Assets 
measured at 

amortised cost Total

Financial Assets 
measured at 

amortised cost Total
2020-21 2020-21 2019-20 2019-20

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Trade and other receivables with NHSE bodies 251 251 538 538
Trade and other receivables with other DHSC group bodies 55 55 143 143
Trade and other receivables with external bodies 227 227 3 3
Other financial assets - - - -
Cash and cash equivalents 133 133 293 293
Total at 31 March 2021 666 666 977 977

10.2 Financial liabilities

Financial Liabilities 
measured at 

amortised cost Total

Financial Liabilities 
measured at 

amortised cost Total
2020-21 2020-21 2019-20 2019-20

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Loans with group bodies - -
Loans with external bodies - -
Trade and other payables with NHSE bodies 66 66 535 535
Trade and other payables with other DHSC group bodies 6,402 6,402 9,128 9,128
Trade and other payables with external bodies 22,833 22,833 12,559 12,559
Other financial liabilities - - - -
Private Finance Initiative and finance lease obligations - - - -
Total at 31 March 2021 29,301 29,301 22,222 22,222

11  Operating segments

It is the Clinical Commissioning Group's assessment that it is not exposed to any material Financial Instruments risk.

The NHS Clinical Commissioning Group considers they have only one segment: commissioning of healthcare services.
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12  Joint arrangements - interests in joint operations

- Better Care Fund
- care of Learning Disabilities Clients
- delivery of legal advice for Mental Capacity Act package
- Community Equipment Store
- Joint Commissioning Unit

For accounting purposes, management has assessed that joint control does not exist.

Name of arrangement Parties to the 
arrangement

Description of 
principal activities Expenditure Expenditure

£'000 £'000

Section 75
South Tyneside 
Council and South 
Tyneside CCG

Better Care Fund 4,603 5,228

Section 75
South Tyneside 
Council and South 
Tyneside CCG

Care of Learning 
Disability Clients 12,631 10,986

Section 75
South Tyneside 
Council and South 
Tyneside CCG

Delivery of legal 
advice in respect to 
CHC, Joint packages 
and S117

32 29

Section 75
South Tyneside 
Council and South 
Tyneside CCG

Equipment Store 731 738

Section 76
South Tyneside 
Council and South 
Tyneside CCG

Joint Commissioning 
Unit 612 612

Under s75 of the 2006 NHS Act, the Clinical Commissioning Group has entered into pooled budget agreements with South Tyneside Council 
in relation to :

2020-21 2019-20
Amounts recognised in Entities books ONLY

The NHS Clinical Commissioning Group's share of the expenditure handled by the pooled budgets in the financial year are shown below. No 
income has been handled by the pooled budgets in relation to the clinical commissioning group.
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13  Related party transactions

2020/21 2019/20

Governing Body / Executive Committee member Related Party

Payments to 
Related 

Party

Receipts 
from 

Related 
Party

Amounts 
owed to 
Related 

Party

Amounts 
due from 
Related 

Party

 Payments to 
Related 

Party 

 Receipts 
from 

Related 
Party 

 Amounts 
owed to 
Related 

Party 

 Amounts 
due from 
Related 

Party 
£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Dr Matthew Walmsley Marsden Road Health Centre 2,165           -              351         -              1,926            -              162         -              
Dr Matthew Walmsley South Tyneside Health Collaboration 1,392           -              301         -              1,417            -              65           -              
Dr Matthew Walmsley Wawn Street Surgery 1,006           -              47           -              1,010            -              70           -              
Dr Tarquin Cross Northumbria Healthcare NHS Foundation Trust 644              -              -              -              624               -              28           -              
Dr David Hambleton (left 31/3/20) NHS North of England CSU 2,104            (105)        17           (5)            
Dr Jon Tose (left 6/9/20) Central Surgery 2,682           -              398         -              2,647            -              334         -              
Dr James Gordon Imeary Street Surgery 465              -              35           -              420               -              32           -              
Dr James Gordon South Tyneside Health Collaboration 1,392           -              301         -              1,417            -              65           -              
Dr David Julien First Contact Clinical 324              -              154         -              265               -              108         -              
Dr Sreeni Vis-Nathan (left 31/3/20) Ravensworth Surgery 846               -              43           -              
Ms Ros Whitehead South Tyneside Health Collaboration 1,392           -              301         -              1,417            -              65           -              
Ms Pat Harle NHS Sunderland CCG 894              (121)        66           (31)          227               (24)          421         (23)          
Ms Pat Harle South Tyneside and Sunderland NHS Foundation Trust 137,256       (72)          18           -              143,891        -              245         (72)          
John Whitehouse (appointed 1/4/20) NHS County Durham CCG 71                (131)        -              -              
John Whitehouse (appointed 1/4/20) NHS North Cumbria CCG -                   (5)            -              -              
Dr Neil O'Brien (appointed 1/4/20) County Durham and Darlington NHS Foundation Trust 1,227           -              55           (1)            
Dr Neil O'Brien (appointed 1/4/20) NHS County Durham CCG 71                (131)        -              -              
Dr Neil O'Brien (appointed 1/4/20) NHS Sunderland CCG 894              (121)        18           (31)          
Dr Nousha Ali (appointed 7/9/20) Newcastle Upon Tyne Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust 15,325         -              -              -              

* Dr David Hambleton's wife is employed by NHS North of England Commissioning Support Unit.

All payments are made to the Related Party, not to the individual Governing Body member.

The details of the Member Practices of the Clinical Commissioning Group for 2020/21 are listed below :
2020/21 2019/20

Payments to 
Related 

Party

Receipts 
from 

Related 
Party

Amounts 
owed to 
Related 

Party

Amounts 
due from 
Related 

Party

 Payments to 
Related 

Party 

 Receipts 
from 

Related 
Party 

 Amounts 
owed to 
Related 

Party 

 Amounts 
due from 
Related 

Party 
£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Albert Road Surgery 526              -              33           -              455               -              35           -              
Central Surgery 2,682           -              398         -              2,647            -              334         -              
Colliery Court Medical Group 1,006           -              45           -              977               -              36           -              
Dr Dowsett and Overs 752              -              56           -              765               -              57           -              
Dr Haque 520              -              71           -              497               -              38           -              
West View Surgery (previously Dr Kulkarni) 321              -              59           -              351               -              22           -              
Dr Thorniley-Walker and Partners 722              -              48           -              769               -              30           -              
East Wing Surgery 574              -              36           -              553               -              29           -              
Ellison View Surgery 1,140           -              235         -              932               -              108         -              
Farnham Medical Centre 2,273           -              224         -              2,263            -              108         -              
Imeary Street Surgery 465              -              35           -              420               -              32           -              
Marsden Road Health Centre 2,165           -              351         -              1,926            -              162         -              
Mayfield Medical Group 1,239           -              60           -              1,167            -              53           -              
Ravensworth Surgery 859              -              38           -              846               -              43           -              
St George and Riverside 969              -              167         -              953               -              105         -              
Talbot Medical Group 1,066           -              67           -              992               -              65           -              
The Glen Medical Group 1,289           -              133         -              1,340            -              157         -              
The Park Surgery (Practice closed 1/3/19) -                   -              -              -              14                 -              -              -              
Trinity Medical Centre 1,167           -              201         -              1,052            -              90           -              
Victoria Medical Centre 534              -              73           -              503               -              63           -              
Wawn Street Surgery 1,006           -              47           -              1,010            -              70           -              
Whitburn Surgery 605              -              41           -              574               -              32           -              

• NHS England ( including North of England Commissioning Support Unit );
• NHS Foundation Trusts, including;

South Tyneside and Sunderland NHS Foundation Trust County Durham and Darlington NHS Foundation Trust
Gateshead Health NHS Foundation Trust North East Ambulance Service NHS Foundation Trust
Cumbria, Northumberland, Tyne and Wear NHS Founda  Northumbria Healthcare NHS Foundation Trust
South Tees Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust
The Newcastle Upon Tyne Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust

• NHS Trusts;
• NHS Litigation Authority; and,
• NHS Business Services Authority.

2020/21 2019/20

Payments to 
Related 

Party

Receipts 
from 

Related 
Party

Amounts 
owed to 
Related 

Party

Amounts 
due from 
Related 

Party

 Payments to 
Related 

Party 

 Receipts 
from 

Related 
Party 

 Amounts 
owed to 
Related 

Party 

 Amounts 
due from 
Related 

Party 
£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

South Tyneside Council 37,803         (796)        9,622      (159)        33,801          (330)        4,051      -              

 In addition, the Clinical Commissioning Group has had a number of material transactions with other Government departments and other central and local government 
bodies. Most of these transactions have been with South Tyneside Council. 

Details of related party transactions with individuals are as follows:

The Department of Health and Social Care is regarded as a related party. During the year the Clinical Commissioning Group has had a significant number of material transactions with entities for which the Department is 
regarded as the parent Department. For example:
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14  Events after the end of the reporting period

15  Financial performance targets

NHS Clinical Commissioning Group have a number of financial duties under the NHS Act 2006 (as amended).

NHS Clinical Commissioning Group performance against those duties was as follows:

2020-21 2020-21 2020-21 2020-21

Duty Target Performance Variance Duty Achieved
£'000 £'000 £'000

Expenditure not to exceed income 314,602 311,442 3,160 Yes
Capital resource use does not exceed the amount specified in Directions - - - Yes
Revenue resource use does not exceed the amount specified in Directions 314,353 311,193 3,160 Yes

Capital resource use on specified matter(s) does not exceed the amount specified in Directions - - - Yes

Revenue resource use on specified matter(s) does not exceed the amount specified in Directions - - - Yes
Revenue administration resource use does not exceed the amount specified in Directions 2,984 2,958 26 Yes

2019-20 2019-20 2019-20 2019-20

Duty Target Performance Variance Duty Achieved
£'000 £'000 £'000

Expenditure not to exceed income 299,117 298,109 1,008 Yes
Capital resource use does not exceed the amount specified in Directions - - - Yes
Revenue resource use does not exceed the amount specified in Directions 298,729 297,721 1,008 Yes

Capital resource use on specified matter(s) does not exceed the amount specified in Directions - - - Yes

Revenue resource use on specified matter(s) does not exceed the amount specified in Directions - - - Yes
Revenue administration resource use does not exceed the amount specified in Directions 3,385 3,280 105 Yes

There are no post balance sheet events which will have a material effect on the financial statements of the Clinical Commissioning Group. These statements were authorised 
for issue by Dr. Neil O'Brien on xxxxxx
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Performance overview 
This section includes a statement from our Clinical Chair and the Chief Officer, information 
about our CCG including our vision, and the areas we have focused on in the past year, 
including an outline of the work carried out to manage the COVID-19 pandemic and vaccine 
rollout in South Tyneside. 
 

Statement from the Clinical Chair and Accountable Officer 
Welcome to NHS South Tyneside Clinical Commissioning Group’s (CCG) 2020-21 annual 
report.  
 
In a year dominated by the COVID-19 pandemic and then the immense effort to roll out the 
vaccines, it is only right that we should start our annual report by paying tribute to the selfless, 
brave, and tireless work by colleagues, partners and volunteers right across our health and 
care system. 
 
The contribution of health and care staff has been exceptional throughout a long and difficult 
year. From hospital staff managing the hugely demanding spike in COVID-19 cases at the start 
of the year, to primary care teams changing the way they work almost overnight to provide 
most consultations remotely and follow stringent infection control procedures for face-to-face 
consultations, the commitment and creativity of our colleagues has never been more evident. 
 
In the early stages of the pandemic, a dedicated 'hot clinic' was set up very quickly to support 
practices and help patients who needed face-to-face care but did not require hospital 
treatment. 
 
South Tyneside led the way in developing community-based pulse oximetry solutions for 
COVID-19 patients, as a volunteer 'Sats Squad' provided a fast, responsive service so that 
GPs could identify when a patient needed hospital care – or help them avoid being admitted 
unnecessarily. 
 
Our colleagues at South Tyneside Council have played a key role in leading the public health 
response to the pandemic and providing community leadership around the importance of 
following infection control guidelines. 
 
After nine challenging months, our first vaccine was provided on 16 December, with 
colleagues, partners and volunteers redoubling their efforts to ensure a caring, efficient and 
safe vaccine programme for our borough. 
 
Rolling out the biggest vaccine programme in the NHS's history is an immense and complex 
challenge, but from Primary Care Networks and practice staff to CCG colleagues, pharmacists 
and volunteers, the response has been nothing short of phenomenal. 
 

https://www.shieldsgazette.com/news/people/how-volunteers-are-saving-lives-south-tyneside-fight-against-coronavirus-2557296
https://www.shieldsgazette.com/health/just-flu-jab-it-didnt-hurt-one-little-bit-covid-vaccines-start-south-tyneside-3070685
https://www.southtynesideccg.nhs.uk/news-media/news/this-is-south-tyneside-at-its-very-best-nhs-celebrates-as-a-quarter-of-the-boroughs-adults-have-had-vaccine/
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Inevitably, the strong focus on COVID-19 and the vaccine effort made it necessary to slow 
down our work in some other areas, but our teams have continued to make progress on 
several projects. 
 
In recent years, we have worked hard to develop 'the South Tyneside Way,' to ensure that the 
CCG and its partners - including GPs, South Tyneside Council, and our local hospital trust – 
work as a team, making decisions together as a health and care system rather than a group of 
separate organisations. This increasingly seamless way of working, which draws on the 
experience of our partner system in Canterbury, New Zealand, helped to ensure we were in a 
strong position to address the challenges of this year. 
 
In September, our Governing Body agreed a new end of life care plan entitled ‘The best 
possible care, whatever your preferences', setting out a vision for a range of high-quality 
palliative care services, so that more people can choose where to spend their last days, 
knowing that support will be on hand for their needs. 
 
This follows the sad loss of St Clare's Hospice, which closed due to insolvency in 2019, but 
also reflects people's changing hopes and expectations, as more people wish to have greater 
choice at the end of their life. 
 
The £1.5m plan cemented a series of improvements to community-based end of life care 
services, as well as including proposals for a suite of ‘home from home’ bedrooms at Haven 
Court, a state-of-the-art building in its own quiet area on the South Tyneside hospital site. As 
the year ended, we were working closely with South Tyneside and Sunderland NHS 
Foundation Trust to mobilise this new service. 
 
The year has also seen improvements to frailty and musculoskeletal services in South 
Tyneside. 
 
We have continued our partnership with Sunderland CCG and South Tyneside and Sunderland 
NHS Foundation Trust on the Path to Excellence programme, a five-year transformation of 
hospital healthcare provision across South Tyneside and Sunderland.  
 
In March 2020, the programme was paused to allow staff to focus on managing COVID-19, but 
we have now restarted work on phase two, which is considering how we look after people in an 
emergency or with an urgent healthcare need in medicine and surgical specialties, and how we 
provide planned care. At the end of the year, we were asking people to consider and share 
their views on the updated draft 'case for change' document. 
 
The coming year promises to bring significant changes to commissioning structures in the 
NHS, with the recent Government white paper proposing a new approach which is likely to 
involve statutory status for the North East and North Cumbria Integrated Care System at 
regional level. As the year came to an end, discussions were still underway about the shape of 
these changes within our region, as well as the recognised need for a strong local 'place-
based' presence. 
 

https://www.southtynesideccg.nhs.uk/news-media/news/south-tyneside-nhs-leaders-agree-plan-for-better-end-of-life-care/
https://www.southtynesideccg.nhs.uk/news-media/news/south-tyneside-nhs-leaders-agree-plan-for-better-end-of-life-care/
https://www.southtynesideccg.nhs.uk/news-media/news/take-a-closer-look-at-haven-court/
https://www.southtynesideccg.nhs.uk/news-media/news/take-a-closer-look-at-haven-court/
https://pathtoexcellence.org.uk/
https://youtu.be/xr4X8tGRRB8
https://nhsjoinourjourney.org.uk/
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We will continue to play an active role in shaping these changes along with our partners in the 
region, while our local alliancing approach (known as 'the South Tyneside way') and close links 
with Sunderland and Durham CCGs will place our area in a strong position as it adapts to a 
new landscape. 
 
Through the year, we have pioneered a number of different ways of developing patient and 
public involvement, to ensure we can listen to and act upon the views of those we serve.  We 
have managed this through online surveys, making use of video and phone technology, and 
particularly by working with and employing our experts by experience, such as care leavers 
and residents with learning disabilities as part of our joint commissioning unit. While embracing 
far greater use of digital techniques, we take care to ensure that people with limited access to 
computers are still able to share their views. 
 
While some engagement work inevitably had to be rescheduled due to the pandemic, we have 
continued to make progress in engaging with people around areas like the Path to Excellence 
programme and the greater use of technology in primary care, as well as developing a new 
Stakeholder Management System to underpin this work. 
 
We would like to take this opportunity to express our thanks to all our partners, colleagues, and 
members of the public for your vital contributions as we came together to handle an immensely 
challenging period, and we look forward to working with you again in the coming year. 
 
 

  
Dr Neil O’Brien 
Accountable Officer 

Dr Matthew Walmsley 
Clinical Chair 

 
 

  

https://pathtoexcellence.org.uk/
https://www.southtynesideccg.nhs.uk/news-media/news/nhs-asks-for-patients-views-on-new-online-ways-of-working/
https://www.google.co.uk/url?sa=i&url=https://www.thenorthernecho.co.uk/news/16862148.doctor-takes-new-role-ccgs/&psig=AOvVaw2vCi48ipYG3f5UOYneGW1s&ust=1583404038470000&source=images&cd=vfe&ved=0CAIQjRxqFwoTCLCx2u3NgOgCFQAAAAAdAAAAABAE
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Statement of purpose 
This section outlines our business model and environment, organisational structure, objectives, 
and strategies. 
 

About NHS South Tyneside Clinical Commissioning Group 

South Tyneside CCG represents 21 GP practices, serving a population of 150,976 people 
(2019 ONS mid-year estimates). Led by doctors, nurses and other health professionals 
working alongside experienced healthcare managers, we are responsible for planning and 
commissioning (buying) of local healthcare services. This includes commissioning:  

• Planned hospital care  

• Urgent and emergency care  

• Rehabilitation care  

• Community health services 

• Mental health and learning disability services 
 

Overview of South Tyneside 

South Tyneside has a population of 150,976 people. Census projections predict that the mix of 
population by age is likely to change considerably over the coming years, with projections 
predicting that the population of working age adults will fall by 1%. It is predicted that the 
number of people over 65 will rise by 20%, from 27,000 to over 32,000, by 2021. Over the 
same period, it is predicted the number of people over 85 will increase by 40%, from 3,600 to 
5,000. Older people use health and social care services more intensively than other population 
groups, so the projected increase in the number of older people in South Tyneside has 
important implications for the planning of health and social care services.  
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The ability to meet and respond to the needs of a population that is living longer, with 
increasingly complex needs, is a significant test for the health and social care economy. This 
challenge is compounded by the financial limitations faced by commissioners. These 
challenges mean the CCG needs to review and adapt the way in which health and social care 
services are commissioned and delivered, in order to ensure that we can continue meeting the 
needs of people in South Tyneside. 
 

Clinical leadership 

The CCG’s Clinical Chair is Dr Matthew Walmsley, who chairs the Council of Practices and the 
Governing Body. The CCG Council of Practices comprises a GP Nominated Lead from each of 
the 21 member practices, giving the CCG a strong mandate from clinical leaders. 
 

Our vision 

Our vision is to work collaboratively across South Tyneside to improve health and commission 
excellent health care and is supported by three high level strategic objectives which describe 
the changes we aim to make: 

• People are able to take greater responsibility for their own health 

• People are able to stay well in their own homes and communities 

• People receive timely and appropriate complex care 
 

Our partners 

The CCG works with a vast range of partners.  Some of these partners include: 

• South Tyneside Health and Wellbeing Board 

• South Tyneside Council – working with adult social care, housing and public health and 
other committees in the council, including Overview and Scrutiny and People Select 
Committees, as well as special commissions 

• NHS providers of healthcare – NHS South Tyneside Foundation Trust and Cumbria, 
Northumberland, Tyne and Wear Mental Health NHS Foundation Trust 

• North East Ambulance Service NHS Foundation Trust 

• Other providers of NHS healthcare – independent sector, community and voluntary 
sector 

• South Tyneside Healthwatch 

• Local people 
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Health and Wellbeing Board 

The CCG is a key member of South Tyneside Health and Wellbeing Board, which has statutory 
duties and powers to encourage integrated work of both commissioners and providers to 
improve the health and wellbeing of the local population, reduce inequalities, and improve the 
quality and experience of services for local people. 
                                                                                                                                        
The Health and Wellbeing Board therefore works to improve the health and wellbeing of the 
people of South Tyneside and reduce health inequalities, as well as providing ‘whole system 
leadership’ for our local health economy. 
 
The CCG is represented on the board by Dr Matthew Walmsley (the CCG's Clinical Chair and 
also Vice Chair of the Health and Wellbeing Board), Dr Neil O'Brien (Chief Officer) and Matt 
Brown (Executive Director of Operations).  
 
The board focuses its work around the five outcomes in the Health and Wellbeing Strategy, 
which means we regularly discuss issues such as economic wellbeing and community 
resilience.  
 
A key priority for the board during the past year has been to drive the response to, and 
recovery from the Covid-19 pandemic, through a multi-agency Covid-19 Leadership 
Board.  This has overseen the NHS response to Covid-19, as well as its impact on the 
economy, community and society, and key elements of compliance with the rules, testing and 
the vaccine programme.     
 
The Health and Wellbeing Board is now working to develop a revised Joint Health and 
Wellbeing Strategy for South Tyneside, building on the previous version that ran from 2017 to 
2021. 
 
Matt Brown also chairs the Alliance Executive Committee, the key subgroup of the Board and 
with full decision making ability on behalf of the CCG. This committee works to drive forward 
the detail of our integration journey, to improve the health, health care and wellbeing of the 
people of South Tyneside. 
 
Our shared commitment to working together as a single system goes well beyond the statutory 
requirements of the Health and Wellbeing Board. This is based on our early success as a 
Health and Care Pioneer area and our partnership with the Canterbury (New Zealand) District 
Health Board – the first of its kind in the country. 
 
This has led us to develop our own shared local leadership approach called alliancing. 
Alliancing shapes the behaviours of our system leaders, from chief executives to frontline 
practitioners. This way of working has led to further improvements in trust and practical service 
improvements, such as a significant reduction in delayed transfers of care and smoking in 
pregnancy, and an improvement in mental health service standards.   
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In particular, our work around children's mental health has been of vital importance throughout 
the challenges of Covid-19 and lockdown. We have invested heavily in support to children, 
parents, families, teachers and schools, to try to ensure that our children have the best 
possible chance to thrive as we move through the next period of this pandemic.  
 
A particular focus for the Health and Wellbeing Board this year has been to deepen our 
understanding of the challenges of poverty in our borough, many of which have been greatly 
exacerbated by the pandemic. This will be a key priority in the years ahead, to ensure that all 
partners take action on poverty together to improve local people's health. 
 
A priority of the Health and Wellbeing Board is to promote proactive, personalised and fair 
health and care services. The board is therefore driving reforms around integrated 
commissioning of health and care. During the coming year, we aim to create formal 
governance structures in 2021 for integrated commissioning, in support of the existing Joint 
Commissioning Unit and jointly appointed senior commissioners. 
 
We are confident that by working in partnership to address these issues we will make South 
Tyneside a healthier and more equitable place to live, invest and bring up families.  
 

The South Tyneside Way 

Over the last few years South Tyneside CCG has been working with its organisational partners 
to introduce a new way of working which is different from the traditional commissioner provider 
relationships. 
 
The core to this way of working is a move to a system-based approach whereby decisions are 
made collectively by the system on a ‘best for patient, best for system' basis.  
 
The adoption of this approach is in line with our partnership with the Canterbury District Health 
Board in New Zealand who is held up as a world leader in integrated care. This has led to a 
group of organisations who used to merely work in the same locality to become a collective 
group who combine to form the South Tyneside system. They have a renewed way of working 
which is based on collaboration and the empowerment of front-line clinicians to make changes 
which they see fit to enable South Tyneside residents to stay well in their own homes and 
communities.  
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Statement of activities 
Below we outline our main areas of work and some of our priorities and achievements during 
the past year. 
 

COVID-19 pandemic  

Like the whole of our country, our paramount concern over the past year has been to support 
patients, staff and our wider health and care system through the COVID-19 pandemic. 
 
After the first cases appeared locally in March 2020, NHS staff, our partners and our local 
community have all made immense contributions to keeping South Tyneside as safe as 
possible through a situation that none of us have experienced before. 
 
Frontline health and care staff have worked incredibly hard and with great courage, as well as 
showing immense creativity in quickly finding new ways of working under the pressure of 
COVID-19. Hospital staff managed winter challenges at the same time as dealing with 
immense pressure as the pandemic peaked with around 50% of beds used by COVID-19 
patients. At the same time, GPs and their teams had to drastically change their working models 
to keep staff and patients as safe as possible. 
 

New ways of working 

Facing the risk of COVID-19 infection, GP practices were forced to make sweeping changes to 
the way they see patients – but found that doctors and patients welcomed many of the new 
ways of working.  
 
Prior to the pandemic, most GP appointments were face-to-face, but COVID-19 meant moving 
to safer methods like phone, online and video consultations almost overnight.  
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Practices moved quickly to use safer methods for GP appointments like phone, online or video  

consultations and keep patients safe – while keeping face to face options available where needed 
 
With local practices minimising face-to-face contact, most consultations currently start with a 
phone call, moving onto a video consultation where necessary. Many patients are also using 
eConsult – where you complete a form on the practice website, and a GP sends advice or 
arranges an appointment if you need one. 
 
A survey carried out in partnership with Sunderland CCG showed that patients have welcomed 
many of the changes, like cutting out travel and time spent in the waiting room, while also 
highlighting challenges like internet access and body language. 
 
Doctors also reported benefits, for example in more efficient use of staff time, reducing 
infection risk and enabling patients to be seen quicker, as well as understanding issues like 
internet access and confidence. 
 
Across the North East and North Cumbria services, clinicians and commissioners met twice 
weekly to review patient priority to make sure that all had access to the intervention that they 
required. This was to make sure that patients were not disadvantaged if their local hospital was 
restricted in their capacity, the Intensive Care Unit in particular, as a result of the number of 
Covid-19 patients. This process ensured that cancer services were continued throughout the 
pandemic response. 
 

Covid-19 'hot clinic' 

In the early stages of the pandemic, the CCG commissioned a dedicated ‘hot clinic’ service 
locally, to provide care for patients who were referred by their GP practice for COVID-19 but 
who did not require hospital treatment.  
 

https://www.southtynesideccg.nhs.uk/news-media/news/nhs-asks-for-patients-views-on-new-online-ways-of-working/
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This service was designed to support GP practices during the daytime and at weekends in 
managing patients who were COVID-19 symptomatic and had a primary care need that could 
not be managed through remote consultation, and therefore needed to see a GP or nurse face 
to face. 
 
The hot clinic played an important role as part of our initial response, but as other initiatives 
including at-home monitoring using pulse oximetry were developed, it became less central to 
our approach and was able to be stood down. 
 

The 'Sats Squad' 

As our local system was continuing to adjust to the demands of the pandemic, a local GP 
suggested it would be possible to make better clinical decisions for coronavirus patients at 
home if we could find a way to get a pulse oximeter into the person’s home quickly. 
 
The result was the Sats Squad – a team of 17 volunteers on standby to deliver oxygen 
saturation tests they deliver to COVID-19 patients at short notice. When a test was urgently 
needed, a GP would text the address and a trained volunteer would then head straight out, 
leaving the kit on the patient’s doorstep before stepping back safely. 
 

 
South Tyneside's volunteer 'Sats Squad' at work 

 
The patient then tested their own oxygen saturation level, with the GP helping by phone or 
video link. The kits often helped doctors decide when someone needed hospital care – or 
helped them avoid being admitted unnecessarily.  
 
 
 
 

https://www.southtynesideccg.nhs.uk/news-media/news/south-tyneside-volunteers-are-coronavirus-lifesavers/#:%7E:text=The%20Sats%20Squad%20%E2%80%93%20named%20after,local%20doctors%20for%20their%20work.&text=The%20kit%2C%20once%20used%2C%20is,on%20to%20the%20next%20patient.
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“You have just saved a life. An ambulance has been 
dispatched to rush the patient to hospital. Well done, 

everyone – we’re making a difference.” 
 

Feedback received by the South Tyneside Sats Squad 

 
 

 
The initiative, which was highly praised by local GPs and featured on BBC Look North, meant 
South Tyneside was among the first areas to provide home pulse oximetry for COVID-19 
patients, and was a model for developments in other areas of the country. 
 
The team were brought together with help from Inspire South Tyneside, while South Tyneside 
Council provided vehicles and other support. 

Vaccines 

Wednesday 16 December was a huge day for South Tyneside's COVID-19 effort, as the 
borough's first local vaccine centre opened at Flagg Court in South Shields. 
 
81-year-old Joan Myers, a great-grandmother from Harton Village, was among the first to have 
the vaccine, and summed up many people's feelings about COVID-19, saying: “I’m fed up with 
it now! I just want to get back to something like normal as soon as possible. I hope this is the 
first step on the road to normality.” 
 

 
81-year-old Joan Myers from Harton Village was among the first to have the vaccine 

 

https://www.shieldsgazette.com/health/just-flu-jab-it-didnt-hurt-one-little-bit-covid-vaccines-start-south-tyneside-3070685
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Two further local centres quickly followed, as NHS staff, partner organisations and a wide 
range of volunteers pulled together to develop an efficient local vaccine programme as quickly 
as possible.  
 
Tuesday 22 December saw a second centre open at The Glen Primary Care Centre in 
Hebburn. The new centre built directly on the meticulously planned systems at Flagg Court, 
with an appointment every five minutes, and stewards on hand to guide patients through to the 
nurse or healthcare assistant who provides their vaccine. 
 
A further centre opened at Cleadon Park on 15 January, meaning South Tyneside now had 
three local centres, each vaccinating one person every 90 seconds.  
 
In addition, many local people received invitations to the nationally procured large vaccine 
centres at the Centre for Life and the Nightingale Hospital. 
 

 
 
The local vaccine centres are spearheaded by South Tyneside's Primary Care Networks 
(PCNs) – groups of practices working together in local neighbourhoods – with support from the 
CCG and other partners. 
 
As the biggest vaccination programme in our history, the COVID-19 vaccine effort is a huge 
and complex task for the NHS and its partners, and on behalf of our whole community we 
share our thanks and admiration for the teams working incredibly hard to make us all as safe 
as possible. 
 

https://www.southtynesideccg.nhs.uk/news-media/news/please-wait-to-be-called-say-south-tyneside-doctors-as-second-vaccine-centre-goes-live/
https://www.southtynesideccg.nhs.uk/news-media/news/south-tynesides-third-local-vaccine-centre-now-in-action/
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Teams manage major logistical challenges across the three sites, to align booking systems, 
staffing rotas (for medical staff, administrators, and marshals) and the timing of vaccine 
deliveries, often at short notice.  
 
Many doctors, nurses and practice managers worked almost every day over Christmas as the 
vaccine programme got underway. PCN teams continue to work long and demanding shifts, 
including evenings and weekends, to ensure the best possible use of the vaccines and avoid 
wastage. 
 
Primary care staff have worked exceptionally hard throughout the pandemic and have 
continued to keep core services operating at the same time as managing the demands of the 
vaccine programme.  
 
Community pharmacists have given up their weekends to reach people who are housebound, 
as well as helping in the vaccine centres. Outreach teams have held special vaccine clinics so 
that people with learning disabilities can get the vaccine in a place that's familiar to them. An 
immense effort through South Tyneside and Sunderland NHS Foundation Trust has provided 
the vaccine to hospital staff. 
 

 
22 community pharmacists have led the effort to vaccinate housebound people in South Tyneside 

 
An outreach project has been working to ensure that vulnerable groups like homeless people, 
drug and alcohol users, and people in the sex industry are also reached by the vaccine 
programme. 
 
More than 250 local people from all walks of life have volunteered to work as marshals, helping 
the vaccine process run smoothly, guiding patients through, and putting them at ease. Just as 
importantly, people in communities across South Tyneside have played their part by following 
the guidance around masks, hand washing and social distancing. 
 

https://www.shieldsgazette.com/health/coronavirus/south-tyneside-pharmacists-give-their-weekends-vaccinate-thousands-housebound-people-and-their-carers-3108861
https://www.chroniclelive.co.uk/news/north-east-news/south-shields-opera-star-swaps-20108259
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By 15 February, almost everyone in the first four national priority groups, including residents in 
older people's care homes and housebound people, had received a first dose, in line with the 
target. As the year ended, South Tyneside's NHS had provided more than 75,000 vaccines in 
just over three months and was well on track to reach over-50s and people in at-risk groups by 
mid-April. 
 

North East and North Cumbria Integrated Care System (ICS)  

The North East and North Cumbria Integrated Care System (ICS) is a regional partnership 
between the NHS, local authorities, and others, taking collective responsibility for resources, 
setting strategic objectives and care standards, and improving the health of the 3.1 million 
people it serves. We are a highly interdependent health and care system, with longstanding 
clinical networks and mutual aid arrangements for managing surge/winter and challenges such 
as COVID-19. 

Our ICS builds on existing local place-based leadership and responsibilities of clinical 
commissioning groups to plan and arrange services for local populations. During 2020/21 the 
legislative proposals for a Health and Care Bill - ‘Integration and Innovation: Working together 
to improve health and social care’ build on the work the system has been doing since the 
publication of the NHS Long Term Plan and is in line with the need to bring together NHS 
organisations, local government and wider partners at a system level to deliver more joined up 
approaches to improving health and care outcomes, coterminous with local authorities.  
 
Our ICS is focused on ‘at scale’ priorities that multiply our collective impact around overarching 
clinical strategy and clinical networks, strategic commissioning, and shared policy 
development. It is supported by four Integrated Care Partnerships (ICPs).  Networks and 
regional arrangements include:  

• 16 clinical networks – including the Northern Cancer Alliance 

• A Joint CCG Committee for decisions on policy and strategic commissioning 

• Workforce planning via Health Education England North East (HENE) 

• An NHS Digital Network – coordinating cyber-security and the Great North Care Record 

• The Academic Health Science Network (AHSN NE) and Applied Research Collaborative 
 
During 2020/21, we have seen ICS-level coordination of the COVID-19 response with: 

• Joint working with local authority public health and social care colleagues, and local 
police and fire and rescue services to coordinate our response across organisational 
boundaries 

• New ways of working to provide care differently and keep people safe – from the 
creation of GP red hubs to virtual consultations. 

• Digital innovation in clinical services e.g., ‘attend anywhere’/online consultations 
(recognising the need to be mindful of digital exclusion) 

• Agile and flexible working of staff in multiple settings  

https://www.southtynesideccg.nhs.uk/news-media/news/this-is-south-tyneside-at-its-very-best-nhs-celebrates-as-a-quarter-of-the-boroughs-adults-have-had-vaccine/
https://nhsjoinourjourney.org.uk/
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• Working together to create our own sustainable supplies of PPE including the opening 
of the Northumbria Manufacturing and Distribution Hub 

• The willingness and commitment of our VCSE partners to support service provision 

• Joint delivery of NHS Charities Together funding via Durham and Cumbria Community 
Foundations on behalf of the ICS area 

• Working with Healthwatch to understand the impact of COVID-19 on our patients and 
communities 

• Developing an ICS-wide offer of psychological support via CNTW to health and care 
staff no matter where they work. 

 
Other ICS achievements include: 

• Academic Health Science Network relicensed for our ICS, and Applied Research 
Collaborative established 

• Sunderland Medical School established – with a focus on GP development 

• Jointly promoting the ICS area as a place to live, train and work for medical trainees 
through our Find Your Place campaign. 

• Investment in digital diagnostics to support Radiology, Pathology and Haematology 

• Digital tools such as the Great North Care Record (GNCR) and HealthCall rolled out 
across the ICS 

• The Capacity Tracker tool, developed by North of England Commissioning Support, 
deployed to care homes across the ICS area, and the RAIDR app deployed to all 
regional CCGs and GP practices  

• ICS communications network established leading the communications response to the 
pandemic and coordinating our #DoYourBit winter campaign 

• Flu vaccination programme – higher uptake rates across all groups when compared to 
last year (85% over-65s 
compared to 73% last year). 

• ICS-wide provider collaborative 
established – building on the 
cross-boundary mutual aid 
developed during the pandemic 
and supporting service recovery 

• Launch of our collective BAME 
Promise to tackle workplace 
discrimination 
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Our Integrated Care Partnership  

In South Tyneside, Sunderland and County Durham, NHS organisations have come together, 
working with local authorities, to lead and plan care for their population in a coordinated way as 
the Durham, South Tyneside and Sunderland Integrated Care Partnership (ICP).    
 
South Tyneside CCG is one of the NHS partners in the North East and North Cumbria (NENC) 
Integrated Care System (ICS) who have agreed to work together at scale where it makes most 
sense to do so, and to protect and emphasise the importance of ‘place’ - local accountability to 
local populations and the ability to respond to local needs.   
 
Durham, South Tyneside and Sunderland Integrated Care Partnership (ICP) will continue to 
work with our partners to develop further care models that support the balancing of capacity 
and demand across the health economy.   
 

North East and North Cumbria Urgent and Emergency Care 
Network 

Our CCG is an active member of the North East and North Cumbria Urgent and Emergency 
Care Network, which brings together organisations across the Integrated Care System (ICS) to 
ensure the quality, safety and equity of urgent and emergency care services in the region. 

The network provides a delivery team (based at North of England Commissioning Support), 
Directory of Services (DoS) function and real time information through the UEC-RAIDR urgent 
care app, allowing providers to focus on operational delivery whilst the network provides 
operational and programme management support. 

The network entered 2020-21 with clear aims aligned to the national Long-Term Plan, 
designed to reduce pressure on emergency hospital services, provide alternative pathways to 
ambulance services, continue to enhance integrated urgent care services and reduce length of 
stay in hospital and delayed discharges. 
 
The unprecedented challenges of the COVID-19 pandemic in early 2020 brought an inevitable 
change in approach, with the network partners focusing all their efforts on delivery of frontline 
services. 
 
To support the partners, the network continued to meet monthly informing and supporting the 
newly emerging operating models, activity and behaviours and agreeing a revised timeline for 
the development of local system winter plans for 2020/21. 
 
The rearranged annual winter debrief provided an opportunity for all system partners to come 
together virtually and test their winter plans. A subsequent system resilience event focused on 
sharing best practice and developing OPEL escalation plans at ICP level.   
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Changes in patient behaviour in the early months of the pandemic, with lower attendances at 
both emergency departments and primary care, as well as the ongoing need to prevent the 
spread of virus, made it possible for us to identify areas of learning from the use of new 
technology and pathways, and to accelerate the introduction of the national NHS 111 First 
initiative, providing virtual access to advice, guidance, and where necessary onward referral for 
patients.   
 
This initiative was piloted in the North ICP area before being embedded across the region and 
is now ensuring all patients following the pathway receive appropriate advice and where 
possible, avoid attending face-to-face services where they risk further spread of the virus.  
 
A regional project group has focused on reducing ambulance handover delays and making 
changes to process because of COVID-19 and new infection prevention control requirements.   
 
This will also support further opportunities for ambulances to convey patients to alternative 
locations, away from crowded Emergency Departments. This could include direct admission to 
same day emergency care services, or referral to Urgent Treatment Centres or community 
services where appropriate. 
 

Directory of Services 

The year saw significant advances in the digital framework for the Directory of Services, the 
central directory that is used by 111 and 999 staff if the patient does not require an ambulance, 
and by clinicians in urgent and emergency care services, to identify the most appropriate 
referral for the patient. 
 
This includes increased detail in ranking of services to enable more accurate search results, 
and a change so that users can profile services within a local authority rather than a CCG area, 
to ensure an appropriate provider for the patient's location is offered as a referral option. 
 
Several other changes were also made to ensure that patients are referred to their GP or a 
pharmacy where this is more appropriate than an urgent treatment centre or out-of-hours GP 
service, and to include sexual assault referral centres within the DoS as an alternative to 
emergency departments following a sexual assault. 
 

UEC-RAIDR app 

The UEC-RAIDR application provides insight and intelligence on all aspects of urgent and 
emergency care, playing an important role in the collective management of capacity and 
demand across the system. 
 
During the past year, the app has been enhanced as a tool for managing COVID-19i related 
pressures and the team has worked intensively to embed the app within areas facing high 
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levels of escalation over a sustained period. This has aided the intelligent conveyancing of 
ambulance-based patients and informed discussions about the provision of mutual aid.   
 
The network has also worked to ensure that wherever possible the app displays key metrics on 
OPEL, emergency department and bed data in near-real time and that the system is prepared 
for the closure of the Flight Deck system at the end of the financial year.  
 
The app now contains a significantly enhanced suite of metrics on ambulance conveyancing 
and handovers. Looking ahead to 2021, the network hopes to build on this by creating the 
ability to capture incident-level data and produce smart alerts that link conveyancing data to 
bed capacity.  
 

Winter funding 

The network distributed over £780,000 in non-recurrent winter funding at short notice, to help 
local systems to deliver projects addressing our key priorities in urgent and emergency care 
provision. This included piloting new systems of intelligent conveyancing in North of Tyne, an 
innovative mental health street triage scheme in Cumbria, new equipment in Durham, South 
Tyneside and Sunderland, and support for the development of same day emergency care in 
Tees.  
 
Great North Care Record  
Over the last year, the Great North Care Record (GNCR) project has helped health and care 
workers throughout the North East and North Cumbria to deliver collaborative care during 
unprecedented times.  
 
The GNCR electronically connects patient information from GPs, local hospitals, social care, 
community and mental health teams together across the system, helping to make care better 
and safer. It operates in the North East of England and North Cumbria and covers the 3.6m 
people living in our region.  
 
The GNCR has securely enabled all GPs, most hospital Trusts (including North East 
Ambulance Service), and a local authority to share patient data, such as medications, hospital 
visits, referrals and letters. To date, information is being shared on the GNCR by: 
 

• All 400 + GP practices in the North East and North Cumbria 
• Over 200 community services  
• Newcastle upon Tyne Hospitals NHS 
• North Tees and Hartlepool NHS Foundation Trust Foundation Trust 
• County Durham and Darlington NHS Foundation Trust  
• Cumbria, Northumberland Tyne and Wear NHS Foundation Trust 
• South Tyneside and Sunderland NHS Foundation Trust 
• North East Ambulance Service NHS Foundation Trust 
• Gateshead Health NHS Foundation Trust 
• Sunderland City Council  

https://www.greatnorthcarerecord.org.uk/
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The system is being widely used by health and care workers, with approximately 220,000 
views per month, or 7,000 a day.    
 
The aim is for information to be available from all practices, trusts and local authorities across 
the North East and North Cumbria Integrated Care System in 2021.  
 
A second phase of the GNCR will also be fully launched in 2021. My Great North Care Record 
is set to give patients access to their personal information, including hospital appointments and 
repeat prescriptions, via the NHS App. For more information, please visit 
www.greatnorthcarerecord.org.uk. 
 

Capacity Tracker 

Our CCG is one of the organisations using Capacity Tracker, which was built by our partners at 
NHS North of England Commissioning Support (NECS) in partnership with NHS England, local 
authority representatives and care home providers.   
 
Capacity Tracker provides a platform for care homes, in-patient community rehabilitation, 
substance misuse and hospice providers to make visible their vacancies and other critical 
information through minimum input to provide rich information across health and social care 
organisations, such vacancies to help reduce the time taken to discharge individuals from 
hospital, PPE to enable rapid response from local/regional teams.  
 
It enables care homes to make their vacancies instantly visible to all discharge teams across 
England in real-time and is accessible from any desktop or mobile device. This helps 
individuals make the right choice, ensuring they don’t stay in hospital any longer than is 
necessary when discharge to their own home is not possible. The simplified process reduces 
stress and anxiety for the individual and their families at a time when they need care and 
support. 
 
As the COVID-19 pandemic took hold, Capacity Tracker was mandated by the government 
and provided valuable insight, enabling support to be offered to providers in dealing with the 
crisis. 
 
Capacity Tracker continues to evolve thanks to the input from health and social care partners 
and users of the system. By having close engagement with user groups drawn from local 
authorities and health care commissioners, this enables the system to meet the changing and 
ongoing needs and priorities of its users. 
 
As part of the COVID-19 
response, additional critical 
information on PPE, COVID-19 
outbreaks, admission status 
and workforce were added to 

http://www.greatnorthcarerecord.org.uk/
https://www.necsu.nhs.uk/capacity-tracker/
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support national, regional and local oversight to enable a rapid response from health and social 
care teams to target support where it was most needed. 
 

Northern CCG Joint Committee 

In common with all CCGs in the region, we play an active role in the Northern CCG Joint 
Committee. 
 
During 2020/21 the Joint Committee considered the following: 

• Developing an Integrated Care System (ICS) in the North East and North Cumbria 

• Governance items 

• Research and evidence 

• The use of Avastin for the treatment of wet AMD (age-related macular degeneration) 

• Academic Health Science Network 

• Northern Joint Committee Annual Report 2019/20 

• Northern Treatment Advisory Group (NTAG) Annual Report 

• How-Fit Programme      

• Learning Disability inpatient provision across the region 

• Commissioning of Maternal Medicine Network 

• North of England Commissioning Support (NECS) Annual Review, Business Plan 
2021/22 - 2022/23 and customer board reports 

 
A work plan for the Joint Committee for 2020/21 was agreed and includes: 

• Proposals for jointly commissioning breast diagnostic services across the ICS area 

• To jointly commission cardiology and specialised neuro-rehabilitation services within 
NHS England/NHS Improvement’s Specialised Commissioning team for the North East 
and North Cumbria 

• Development of a consistent policy to be applied across the ICS area for Value-Based 
Clinical Commissioning (VBCC) and Individual Funding Requests (IFRs) 

• North Cumbria North East Prescribing Forum 

• Plans for rheumatology services in the County Durham, South Tyneside and 
Sunderland ICP as they develop and for any other services being developed on an ICP 
footprint which may have an impact on areas of the region 

 
Due to COVID-19, it was not possible to hold meetings of the Committee in public. However, 
papers were published on CCG websites together with recordings of more recent meetings. 
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CCGs’ choice policy for wet AMD treatment 

In 2018, 12 CCGs in the North East and Cumbria won a landmark legal case after two 
multinational drug companies challenged the new choice policy in relation to wet age-related 
macular degeneration (wet AMD). 
 
The policy gives patients the option to choose the drug Avastin for treatment of wet AMD, 
alongside the two existing options, Lucentis and Eylea. 
 
Drug companies Novartis and Bayer took legal action to try to stop the CCGs from offering 
Avastin as an option to patients in this way – even though it has been found by NICE (the 
National Institute for Health and Care Excellence) to be just as clinically effective and safe.  
 
Not only is Avastin equally effective, but it is also much less expensive and could save up to 
£13.5 million per year for the 12 CCGs involved, which can be reinvested into caring for our 
patients. 
 
A well-known cancer drug, Avastin is widely used around the world, including the EU and 
private practice in the UK, to treat wet AMD.  
 
In March 2020, the Court of Appeal decided in favour of the NHS following an appeal by the 
two multinational drug companies, and in November 2020 it was confirmed that Bayer and 
Novartis have been refused permission to appeal to the Supreme Court. 
 
This ensures that there is no legal uncertainty over the choice policy, and clinicians can be 
reassured that the use of Avastin for the treatment of wet AMD is lawful, safe and effective. 
 

Long Term Conditions  

The Long-Term Conditions (LTC) Alliance launched in early 2018, bringing together health and 
care Partners from across the South Tyneside system to work together across organisational 
boundaries. The Alliance set out to support and encourage active collaboration across the 
system, ensuring the implementation of evidence based and innovative interventions, to 
ensure people with LTCs are supported to take control over their conditions, where disease 
management is optimized, and where accessible alternatives to hospital admissions are in 
place ensuring parity of esteem with non-medical interventions. 
 
The Long-Term Conditions Strategy launched in Autumn 2018 setting out our ambition to delay 
and reduce the burden of long-term conditions. 
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Significant progress has been made since the launch of the LTC Strategy, and 2020/21 has 
proved to be a busy year. 
 

Responding to COVID-19 

As a result of the COVID-19 pandemic, there was an important task to identify practical ways 
that we could support people living with LTCs in South Tyneside. Supported self-management 
is of particular importance to people living with LTCs, who are at increased risk of severe 
illness from COVID-19.  

 
Supported self-management approaches such as health coaching, peer support and self-
management education help people to build their knowledge, skills, and confidence to manage 
their own health and care. Evidence shows that when people are supported to increase their 
knowledge, skills, and confidence they benefit from better health outcomes, improved 
experiences of care and fewer unplanned care admissions which is more important than ever 
at this time. 

 
Early in March we started to think about how we could modify our LTC Plans for 2020/21 to 
help ease pressures during the COVID-19 pandemic – particularly thinking about what we 
could do to support the system and what we can do to support residents. A number of key 
areas were identified, and we have made significant progress in moving these forward locally 
via our LTC Alliance alongside our core programme of work. 
 
  



28 
 

What have we done in 2020/21? 

A Better U 

• Our Social Prescribing Link Worker and Health Coaching teams have worked alongside 
GP Practices to support vulnerable and at-risk patients who had non-medical needs, 
including those who are shielding. This meant that they could provide emotional and 
psychosocial support, as well as coaching, to encourage self-management of health and 
wellbeing.  

• Developed and tested out a model of peer support, called Peer Pals, within the stop 
smoking model. This allows people who have a lived experience of quitting themselves 
to offer support, advice, and guidance (where appropriate) to those who have been 
identified as smokers and have a desire to quit. 

 

Screening & Early Intervention 

• Worked with GP Practices to increase referrals and uptake of the NHS Diabetes 
Prevention Programme, which is now being delivered virtually. 

• We worked with Inspire South Tyneside, an umbrella body for the voluntary and 
community sector, to invite non-clinical volunteers to join the South Tyneside ‘SATS 
Squad’ (an acronym for saturation levels) in April 2020, to deliver self-monitoring 
equipment to the homes of patients displaying coronavirus symptoms. 

• Implemented a COVID-19 Oximetry @ Home model within the community (including 
care homes), which involves the remote monitoring of patients with coronavirus 
symptoms to ensure quick action is taken if someone starts to deteriorate. 

 

Integrated Rehabilitation and Structured Education 

• In response to COVID-19 preventing face to face delivery, we have worked with South 
Tyneside & Sunderland NHS Foundation Trust (STSFT) to implement alternative models 
for Cardiac Rehabilitation and Heart Failure Rehabilitation. This has included the 
introduction of new apps and virtual classes to allow patents to complete their rehab 
programmes at home.  

 

Person Centred Planned Care Pathway 

• We are continuing to implement Year of Care, which aims to provide personalised care 
planning for people with long term conditions by working in partnership with patients and 
care professionals. Further work has commenced, providing training for our practices 
with a view of having them in a position to start providing personalised long-term 
conditions care post-COVID-19. 

 

Whole Person Care 

• Worked with South Tyneside and Sunderland health and care organisations to develop 
a local Post-COVID-19 Assessment Clinic (also known as long COVID-19). The service 
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brings together an integrated team offering patients assessment and treatment, 
delivered within local communities. 

 

Mental Health and Learning Disabilities  

Learning Disabilities 

• 86% of people with Learning Disabilities over 14 years of age accessed an annual 

health check by 31st March 2021 

• Quality checkers implemented across the GP practices 

• Dynamic Risk Register now fully operational 

• Learning Disabilities Navigator role introduced across South Tyneside 

• Forensic Transitions Team fully operational across South Tyneside 

• Keeping connected offer mobilised 

• Host commissioning arrangement implemented  

• Experts by experience posts embedded  

• Complex case coordinator role established and embedded 

• Post within the CHC team established for a Learning Disabilities expert 

• Support established for people with learning disabilities to better understand COVID-19 

vaccinations, enabling them to make informed decisions 

• STOMP/STAMP champions established, and approach agreed for systematic change 

across the borough 

• Bespoke Learning Disabilities Vaccination Clinics co-delivered alongside Annual Health 

Checks in a familiar and appropriate environment 

Autism 

• Autism Health Check model develop and to be implement in 2021 

• Streamlined process for Autism Diagnosis established at single point of access for 

children and adults 

• Lifespan Autism Hub established and offered continued throughout lockdown 

• Waiting time initiative for Children’s Autism Assessments established  

• ADHD and Autism waiting time initiative for adults in mobilisation 

Children / Young People 

• Mental Health Support Teams now accessible across all Schools with South Tyneside 
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• Enhanced bereavement offer was in place from August 2020 

• Mental Health Parent Group implemented January 2021 

• Online Counselling service is place for CYP aged 10-25  

• Stronger Schools resource established for professionals and school staff  

• Wellbeing for Education sessions established and delivered to schools to facilitate 

return for pupils into education 

• Rainbow flag award delivered digitally to schools which has enhanced schools’ 

understanding of sexuality and identity  

• Six-weekly information sessions established for parents and carers with joint 

commissioning unit  

• Review of the existing therapy offer undertaken and recommendations made 

• Enhanced the online counselling offer (Kooth) to include children aged 11 and young 

adults up to 25 

Mental Health 

• Successfully submitted Community Mental Health Model and Transformation monies 

awarded, model to be implemented 2021 

• Reviewed and implemented recovery college 

• Successfully submitted alternative to crisis model and transformation monies 

awarded model to be implemented 2021 

• Enhanced bereavement offer was in place from August 2020 

• 67% of people on the SMI registered accessed enhance health checks (National 

target 60%) 

• Proposal for Maternal Mental Health Service devised, and monies secured via 

bidding process  

• 24 Hr Mental Health Crisis Response Service in place 

 

Autism Hub 

The new Autism Hub, commissioned by the Joint Commissioning Unit (JCU), was launched on 
10 January 2020.  The centre provides drop-in sessions for all ages, with no diagnosis or 
referral necessary. 
 
The centre was launched as a direct response to feedback from those with autism, and their 
families, who felt there was a lack of support in the borough, which evidence shows can lead to 
crisis. 
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Planned Care  

Frailty 

• We have continued to facilitate the South Tyneside Frailty Alliance, bringing together 
partners from across mental health, primary, secondary and social care to have new 
conversations about how we proactively enable healthy ageing in South Tyneside.  

• This included securing funding to roll out Comprehensive Holistic Assessment – Older 
People (CHA) digital tool as a pilot area. The CHA is a multidisciplinary process that is 
based on the well-evidenced Comprehensive Geriatric Assessment (CGA) used in the 
care of older people. It is an assessment process which aims to produce a care plan 
born from the consideration of all elements of an individual's life. This is being piloted as 
part of the Enhanced Health into Care Home MDTs.  

• We have worked in collaboration across the system to develop a bespoke Frailty Matrix 
to truly understand the South Tyneside offer for frailty.   

• We have also worked in collaboration with the Regional Ageing Well Community of 
Practice to develop a Population Health Management model which captures pre-
frail/pre-crisis people in partnership with third sector partners. The aim of this work is to 
identify causal factors such as loneliness, to reach more people avoiding admission, 
underpinned by 23 metrics measuring change.  

 

End of life  

Over the past year, we have continued to develop our strategy for the South Tyneside 
palliative and end of life care system. 
 
This work is based on a recognition that people’s hopes and expectations have changed over 
recent decades, with most people both locally and nationally wishing to have more choice at 
the end of their life.  
 
In addition, it reflects the importance of improving the full range of end-of-life care, following the 
closure of the St Clare's Hospice charity in 2019 and the significant quality, safety and financial 
problems that it faced. After the closure of St Clare's, the CCG has worked with doctors, 
nurses, families, care home staff and other experts to listen to their ideas and shape a new 
vision for better services and more choice. 
 
Over recent years, around one in 20 deaths in South Tyneside has taken place in a hospice 
setting, with the vast majority preferring to be at home or in a care home. It is, therefore, 
important to ensure that people have access to the best possible care, whatever their 
circumstances. 
 
In September, our Governing Body agreed a new plan entitled ‘The best possible care, 
whatever your preferences', setting out a vision for a range of high quality services, so that 

https://www.southtynesideccg.nhs.uk/news-media/news/south-tyneside-nhs-leaders-agree-plan-for-better-end-of-life-care/
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more people can choose where to spend their last days, knowing that support will be on hand 
for their needs. 
 
This £1.5 million plan set out a series of improvements to community-based end of life care 
services, as well as proposals for a suite of ‘home from home’ bedrooms for patients needing 
end of life care, who do not wish to die at home. These would be based at Haven Court, a 
state-of-the-art building in its own quiet area on the South Tyneside hospital site.  
 
Haven Court can offer homely private bedrooms with en suite facilities, in a quiet and dignified 
setting. The building also has its own separate garden, car park and entrance, which many 
people have told us are important to them. 
 
The proposal also includes plans for a dedicated family and carer room with catering facilities, 
and we are keen to consider options for developing services like physio and occupational 
therapies, complementary therapies, counselling and chaplaincy as the model takes shape. 
 

 
Haven Court can offer homely private bedrooms with en-suite facilities 

 
A key part of the plan is to develop an integrated workforce to support end of life services 
across the borough and improve communication between different services so that families 
have more joined-up care in future. 
 
As the year ended, we were working closely with South Tyneside and Sunderland NHS 
Foundation Trust to mobilise this new service. 
 
The palliative and end of life care model will be a spoke and hub design, and a community 
focus will be core to the service. In particular, the service will provide more personalised and 

https://www.southtynesideccg.nhs.uk/news-media/news/take-a-closer-look-at-haven-court/
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integrated care at the end of life, with better communication between the different elements of 
the service. 
 
The service now includes an enhanced community nursing team offering 24/7 palliative care 
(in hours and out of hours), supported by a separate group of Specialist Nurses and rapid 
response social care.  
 
Patients will therefore be able to rely on: 

• Care at home provided through MacMillan nurses, community staff nurses, community 
matrons and other members of the Community Integrated Teams 

• Multidisciplinary planned care in their own home or usual place of residence 

• Specialist out of hours community palliative care team, providing a responsive service in 
relation to unplanned and planned care 

• A planned overnight nursing service to support the District Nursing Service, provided by 
Marie Curie to support palliative care to end of life patients, irrespective of diagnosis, in 
their own homes and to support families and/or carers  

• An integrated single point of contact (SPoC) with triage for palliative care, with a 24-hour 
telephone line 

 
In addition to the above, the CCG has recently made several investments to improve and 
enhance the quality and range of community services provided to patients. This has enabled 
South Tyneside and Sunderland NHS Foundation Trust to develop an interim in-hours 
palliative care team to provide unplanned and planned care during the day to mirror the 
existing out of hours service working as part of an integrated team. 
 
In addition to this investment in the in-hours palliative care team, the CCG has worked with the 
council to commission additional rapid response domiciliary care provision for patients at the 
end of life. 
 
We have also continued to support the South Tyneside End of Life Care Alliance. This group 
brings together partners from across secondary, primary, social care and the third sector to 
deliver improved data and services for people receiving palliative care and those in their last 
days of life. 
 

Musculoskeletal (MSK) services 

We have worked with our partners to ensure the best possible musculoskeletal services are 
provided to patients in South Tyneside. This has included: 

• Running a successful pilot for First Contact Practitioners (FCP) within the South primary 
care network area. The aim of First Contact Practitioners is to streamline MSK services 
by signposting and reducing over-referral into physiotherapy by providing appropriate 
self-management strategies from the first point of contact. The pilot has demonstrated 
many positive and improved outcomes such as reduced unnecessary investigations and 
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reduced referrals into secondary care. Funding has now been secured for an additional 
two FCPs across the East and West primary care network areas. 

• Development of prehabilitation offer for patients waiting for knee and hip arthroplasty 
has been mobilised. The current MSK community service provider is now able to accept 
self-referrals from patients who consult with their GP, Practice Nurse or FCP 
complaining of lower link joint pain whilst waiting an orthopaedic appointment in 
secondary care. This will support patients who are on a waiting list for a surgical opinion 
regarding knee and hip arthroplasty. Prehabilitation is the practice of enhancing a 
patient's functional capacity before surgery, and evidence suggests that it may slightly 
improve early postoperative pain and function among patients undergoing joint 
replacements.  

• A review and update of the existing Osteoarthritis Knee & Hip pathway was undertaken 
to ensure provision of optimal service for patients, service users and professionals.  

• We have continued to develop group consultations for chronic pain, which can be 
helpful for patients on high or higher dose opiates to manage chronic pain. The 
consultations describe what chronic pain is and allow an open discussion with key 
professionals and sharing personal pain stories with information about how to reduce it.  

 

Cancer 

In terms of COVID-19 recovery, we have worked with the Northern Cancer Alliance (NCA) and 
Integrated Care System (ICS) colleagues to ensure minimal impact from COVID-19 on the 
delivery of cancer services, including the reduction in referrals, diagnosis and treatments. 
 
In terms of risk factors and screening, together with NCA and other regional colleagues, faecal 
immunochemical testing (FIT) postal service for symptomatic patients has been introduced and 
non-clinical cancer champions training sessions has been held for primary care which has 
been supported by Cancer Research UK (CRUK). 
 
We have worked with the NCA and South Tyneside and Sunderland Foundation Trust (STSFT) 
to launch the Rapid Diagnostic Pathway for South Tyneside and utilised NCA funding to launch 
Community Cancer Champions and work with Inspire South Tyneside to facilitate a micro-
grants process to support voluntary and community groups for cancer engagement and 
awareness. 
 
In conjunction with the Central Integrated Care Partnership (ICP) work has been carried out to 
implement Breast Stratified follow up with plans for implementation of prostate and colorectal 
stratified follow up from April 2021. 
 
Working with colleagues across the NCA, STSFT and Year of Care continues regarding 
Cancer Care Reviews and the development of appropriate templates, linking with holistic 
needs assessments completed in secondary care and other reviews completed in primary care 
(such as Long-term conditions review). 
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All 21 GP Practices within the borough are supported by Cancer Research UK (CRUK) to 
complete the National Cancer Diagnosis Audit (NCDA). 

As of June 2020, the respective Cancer Locality Groups for South Tyneside CCG and 
Sunderland CCG came together to form a joint group.  The dissemination of information 
continues widely via the South Tyneside Cancer Bulletin and through the close working with 
HealthPathways authors to ensure up to date content is easily accessible to health 
professionals. 
 

Path to Excellence – the transforming hospital services across 
South Tyneside and Sunderland  

Performance overview 

We have continued our partnership with NHS South Tyneside CCG and South Tyneside and 
Sunderland NHS Foundation Trust on the Path to Excellence programme, a five-year 
transformation of hospital healthcare provision across South Tyneside and Sunderland.  
In March 2020, Phase Two was paused to allow staff to focus on managing COVID-19. The 
programme’s business continuity plan was enacted to allow staff to focus on the response to 
the pandemic. 
 
During the summer of 2020, the programme website was completely redeveloped and planning 
and development work took place around virtual and digital methodologies for patient and 
public engagement. 
 
In Autumn 2020 the programme carried out a situational analysis to inform the reset of the 
programme through interviews with senior leaders from across the health partnership. 
The review found that: 

• The case for change is more relevant because of the pandemic and accelerates the 
need for service transformation 

• In some areas the pandemic had resulted in the rapid introduction of new ways of 
working, e.g., out-patient transformation, which need to be maintained 

• There is a need to consider how the programme fits within the wider Integrated Care 
System (ICS) and Integrated Care Partnership (ICP) work 

• The programme objectives remain valid, and a universal view that COVID-19 needs to 
be factored into the programme objectives. 

• There are several new policy directions which need to be considered  

• There is a need to include specific objectives and think differently around health 
inequalities 

• There is a need to work closely with staff, particularly GPs, to understand their 
experiences of the pandemic, alongside closer working with community and primary 
care partners. 

• The need to increase efforts to engage with communities who suffer health inequalities  

https://pathtoexcellence.org.uk/
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• Due to the on-going COVID-19 response and recovery work, staff and clinical capacity 
may be an issue in relation to the delivery timescale of the programme. 

 
The situational analysis is available on the Path to Excellence website.  
 

Workforce  

The past year has had a huge impact on the entire NHS workforce. We recognise the 
enormous contribution that NHS staff have made with compassion, competence and 
professionalism to deliver patient care during the pandemic and understand that COVID-19 
has increased the mental and physical pressure on many NHS staff. They have had to think 
about the risk of infection to themselves and their family, as well as their duty of care to 
patients.  
 
Staff sickness rates due to COVID-19 and staff absence due to shielding has put extra 
pressure on front line clinical teams. Maintaining safe staffing levels has meant that staff have 
had to be flexible both with working patterns and their areas of work, with many surgical teams 
working in support of other wards and departments. As a result of these combined pressures 
staff health and wellbeing is now even more of a concern.  
 

Quality Improvement 

Hospital services are recognised as being safe and high quality (CQC report 2020), however 
we recognise these could be even better if organised differently.  
 
The pandemic required improved standards of infection and prevention and control, which we 
now need to embed to ensure they are sustainable in the long term and that we can continue 
to protect our patients from COVID-19.  
 
In addition, the national decision to postpone all non-urgent operations has left the trust, like 
hospitals across the UK, with a backlog of patients awaiting surgery. Recovering from COVID-
19 includes reducing our waiting lists of people who need planned operations. 
 

Future Demand 

Thanks to medical advances and improvements in technology more people than ever before 
are successfully treated by the NHS and as a result living longer; the ageing population means 
that demand for services will continue to grow. 
 
The pandemic resulted not only in reductions in planned care but also in fewer patients 
attending hospitals with urgent or unplanned health needs. With reports that that one in three 
people with an existing health condition delayed seeking help from the NHS, rising to two in 
five for people with diabetes, lung disease and mental health conditions. 

https://pathtoexcellence.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2021/02/Report-16-Restarting-after-covid-Path-to-Excellence-situational-analysis.pdf
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We also know that COVID-19 has impacted more negatively on certain groups than others. 
The health inequalities exposed by COVID-19 mean we must work harder than ever to close 
the gaps that exist, to ensure that everyone has access to the same high-quality care. The 
pandemic has only accelerated the need for change 
 

Review of patient experience in relation to the impact of COVID-19 

In winter 2020 the programme undertook a desk review to understand the impact on patient’s 
use of services from the COVID-19 pandemic as well as changes in perceptions of how care is 
delivered. 
 
The programme undertook to explore that research and attempts to answer the three 
questions:  

1. How has COVID-19 changed people’s use of NHS hospital services?  

2. How has COVID-19 changed people’s attitudes towards NHS hospital services?  

3. What is important to people about using hospital services in the future? 

 
A call to action was sent to NHS organisations asking them to share any reports which could 
be included within the review. An overwhelming response was received with over 150 reports 
received.  
 
The full report can be read here: https://pathtoexcellence.org.uk/wp-
content/uploads/2021/02/Report-17-Programme-Reset-Patient-Insights-Report.pdf 
 
In relation to changes to hospital services significant changes were made to hospital services 
because of the pandemic, to ensure their ability to cope as well as assuring the safety of 
patients and staff. In many cases, services could no longer be delivered safely because of 
lockdown restrictions and others because staff and resources were relocated. This has 
resulted in changes such as: 

• delays and cancellations of services 

• speeding up of the discharge service from hospitals 

• increased use of digital consultations. 
 

Restarting the programme 

In February 2021 the programme published an updated case for change.  
 
It provided a reminder about the reasons for change and how clinical teams had progressed 
working ideas around key areas of hospital care before the pandemic.  
These key areas are: 
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• Emergency care and acute medicine – This includes care in Emergency Departments 
and emergency admissions to hospital for life saving treatment. 
 

• Emergency surgery and planned operations – This includes patients who require an 
emergency operation and patients waiting for planned operations.  
 

• Planned care and outpatients – This includes tests, scans and other planned 
treatments. 

• Clinical support services – This includes physiotherapy, occupational therapy, speech 
and language therapy, as well as clinical pharmacy and radiology or diagnostic services 
(scans and x-rays). 

 
It set out why the need to not lose focus on the vital quality improvements still needed and why 
things cannot be delayed. 
 
Given the ongoing challenge of COVID-19 there is also a need to be realistic.  The scale of 
service change in Phase Two is huge.  The clinical teams do not have time to consider 
everything, at once, during a global pandemic.   
 
The clinical teams are prioritising the ‘working ideas’ for Emergency surgery and planned 
operations. 
 
The ‘working ideas’ would mean most planned operations taking place on one hospital 
site.  Emergency operations and some complex operations would take place on the other 
hospital site.  Outpatient care would continue on both hospital sites.  
 
By organising surgery in this way there are many benefits.  It is a tried and tested model and 
many other parts of the NHS have already done this with great success.   
 
As NHS partners the consensus was not to delay plans for surgical services any further as this 
will be vital on the road to recovery from COVID-19.   
 

What about the other working ideas? 

Pressure on our Emergency Departments and medical wards has not gone away.  However, 
and more time is needed to debate and discuss the impact of COVID-19.  Frontline staff do not 
have time to do this right now.   
 
Further work will need to take place once the COVID-19 pressures ease.  This will be subject 
to the same rigorous process, including public consultation, in future. 
 
Many of the ambitions for planned care and outpatients are already becoming reality.  COVID-
19 has been a welcome catalyst for these positive changes.  More services are being providing 
more locally than ever before.   
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Looking towards public consultation  

At the end of March 2021, the programme was continuing its pre-consultation processes and 
involving staff, patients, and stakeholders in helping to assess the working ideas, with a view to 
go to public consultation later in 2021. 
 

Key Issues and Risks 
The CCG identified the following key risks to the delivery of its strategic objectives in 2020/21:  

• Financial pressures within the Local Authority and CCG around eligibility for Continuing 
Healthcare 

• Increasing demand for mental health services for children and young people 

• Safeguarding adults and children and primary care compliance with statutory 
safeguarding processes 

• Compliance with infection prevention and control across primary care and social care 

• Implementation of Liberty Protection Safeguards (LPS)  

• Potential disruption to delivery of tailored and personalised approaches to care due to 
NHS England procurement exercise 

• Risk that COVID-19 pandemic will have a negative impact on the CCG's quality 
assurance framework 

• Providers ability to meet the A&E 95% four-hour target 
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Performance analysis 

Performance Summary 
CCG performance is reviewed by NHS England to ensure that CCGs are delivering quality 
outcomes for patients, both locally and as part of the national standards.  The CCG monitors 
our performance against a range of standards and frameworks which cover both elective and 
emergency activity and link to or delivery programme. We regularly monitor how the services 
we commission are performing against national standards and report regularly on key themes.  
 
2021/21 has been an unprecedented year for the NHS, with the onslaught of the COVID-19 
pandemic, and resources have very much been realigned throughout the year to cope with the 
consequences. This has taken its toll on elective work specifically with much non-urgent 
activity put on hold and has also led to people using and accessing services in a different way. 
 
Programmes of renew and recovery between provider organisations and CCGs are currently 
ongoing across the local and wider system to address the issues caused by the COVID-19 
pandemic. 
 
The following pages will summarise some of our performance standards for 2020/21 and 
highlight the impact of the pandemic against national and local standards. the following pages 
set out areas that have still managed to perform particularly well and give some indication of 
the scale of improvement needed to get back on track. 
 

Performance measures 

Accident and Emergency (A&E) Performance 

 
Most people from South Tyneside who need urgent, or emergency care attend South Tyneside 
Hospital which is part of the South Tyneside and Sunderland NHS Foundation Trust. 
 
Provider organisations have a number of targets in relation to emergency care.  Although the 
performance measures for A&E are currently under review, one key target is that 95% of 
patients should wait no longer than four hours for treatment in an emergency department. 
 
The chart below shows how the Trust and South Tyneside Hospital have performed since 
February 2018. Prior to the start of the pandemic, performance had decreased and did not 
meet the required standard although was showing signs of rapid improvement. 
 
Since April 2020, performance has improved but some of this is due to decreasing numbers of 
people attending because of the pandemic which caused a change in their behaviour. During 
1920/21 to December, 93.3% of patients who attended A&E were seen and treated within 4 
hours, which is almost a 10-percentage point improvement on the previous year. Despite fewer 
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people attending we have also seen an increase in the level of acuity, or how poorly people 
are, when they arrive. 
 
Performance has continued to stay strong although there are some months where the 95% has 
not been met. We are working closely with our providers to understand and capture what, apart 
from number of attendances, is different so that we can continue to maintain the improved 
levels. 
 

 
Chart 1 Patients spending 4 hours or less in and A&E or Minor Injuries Unit at South Tyneside 
Hospital 

Cancer Waiting Times 

There are several performance indicators for cancer and the two charts below show 
performance for South Tyneside residents since February 2018.  

93% of people referred to a hospital following a GP referral for suspected cancer should have 
their first appointment within 2 weeks of their referral. This indicator tells us about the 
population of South Tyneside irrespective of the hospital they were referred to. 

Before the pandemic, performance for South Tyneside residents was variable, and for 
2019/2020 the standard was narrowly missed with just over 90% of patients seen within 2 
weeks. For 2020/21 so far, only 73.1% of patients referred by their GP urgently with suspected 
cancer were given an outpatient appointment within two weeks.   
The pandemic has had a significant impact on these referrals and the ability for patients to be 
seen within the 2 week timeframe. The ability for patients to be seen as outpatients due to the 
need for social distancing, different ways of working, and capacity within teams together with 
with people delaying seeing their GP in a timely way are all factors thought to contribute to this. 
We are working closely with the Cancer Network and our partners across the local and wider 
systems to put new plans in place to increase the number of people seen within 2 weeks. 
 
Chart 3 shows the percentage of South Tyneside residents who were treated within 62 days of 
an urgent GP appointment for suspected cancer. The standard for this is 85%. Up to now for 

65%
70%
75%
80%
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95%

100%

A&E - % patients spending 4 hrs or less in A&E or minor 
injury unit

Indicator Target STFT Only
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2020/2021 82.96% of patients who were diagnosed with cancer following an urgent referral 
from their GP waited less than 62 days from referral for treatment to commence, this is an 
increase on the previous year but remains below the standard. In addition, we are aware that 
fewer people were coming through the system. More recent data suggests that numbers are 
improving and recovery plans that have been put in place are beginning to work. We are also 
working with the cancer network on this indicator and working with our providers to put plans in 
to continue this improvement. 

Chart 2: Percent of patients from South Tyneside seen within 2 weeks of an urgent GP referral 
for suspected cancer 

 

Chart 3 Percentage of South Tyneside patients who were treated within 62 days of an urgent 
GP referral for suspected cancer 
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Referral to Treatment  

Patients have the right to start their NHS consultant led treatment within a maximum of 18 
weeks from referral. 
 
This, and not having to wait more than 52 weeks for treatment are further indicators where the 
pandemic has had significant impacted upon access to care and treatment.  
 
Prior to the pandemic, South Tyneside CCG met the referral to treatment target of 18 weeks 
for several years. Chart four clearly demonstrates the impact of the pandemic on waiting times 
by putting a stall on the number of people who could be seen and then coping with the ongoing 
consequences of additional referrals into the system.  
 
There are currently 31,264 patients on the waiting list, 5,771 of these have waited in excess of 
18 weeks. 
 
In addition to these increased waiting lists, more people are waiting for longer than 52 weeks. 
In 2020/21 up to the end of December, 266 patients requiring non-urgent consultant-led 
treatment in total waited longer than 52 weeks for that treatment.  There were 5 cases reported 
in 2019/20. 
 
The CCG continues to work with our providers both locally, and across the ICP and ICS to 
build and put in place a recovery plan to manage these increases to begin to bring things back 
to previous levels. 
 
 
Chart 4 – South Tyneside Patients waiting for 18 weeks 
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The above charts and narrative give an indication of the consequences of the COVID-19 
pandemic on CCG performance and its consequences on the health care of the population of 
South Tyneside. Fewer people attending their GP for consultations has led to a delay in 
potential diagnosis of conditions or related complications and fewer outpatient appointments 
and constraints brought on by social distancing has left more people in the health and social 
care system.  
 
All systems are in a similar position and the CCG is working closely with providers and other 
teams locally and regionally on recovery plans to bring our performance and positive health 
benefits in line with previous years. 

Improve quality 
2020/21 has been a challenging year both nationally and locally for health and care services. 
Alongside supporting the COVID-19 response the Quality and Safeguarding team have 
continued to maintain the CCGs essential duties and responsibilities. The team have taken 
forward the learning from our experiences to inform our future plans and strategy.  
 
Quality is defined as care that is safe, effective and provides as positive an experience as 
possible for patients. Commissioning high-quality, person centred healthcare is at the heart of 
everything we strive to achieve for people across South Tyneside.   
  
To achieve this we use a variety of tools, processes and mechanisms and work collaboratively 
with partners and stakeholders from across the health and social care economy to ensure 
continuous improvements in clinical effectiveness and outcomes, quality and safety, patient 
experience, safeguarding and infection, prevention and control.  
 
All providers of healthcare strive to deliver high quality and safe care to patients. As a 
commissioner of healthcare, we have an important role in gaining assurance on the quality of 
care delivered by our commissioned organisations. 
  
Learning from failures across the NHS continues to emphasise the important role 
commissioners should play in prevention and driving quality improvements and has been 
influential in shaping the architecture of our quality strategy and framework.   
 

Quality Strategy 2018-21 

A drive to continuously improve the quality of services is at the heart of our work. We have a 
Quality Strategy 2018-21 that underpins our work and that aligns to the NHS Five Year 
Forward View, the National Quality Boards ‘Shared commitment to quality’ publication and the 
2019 national patient safety framework. It describes our responsibilities, approach, governance 
and systems to enable and promote quality across the local health economy.   
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A new Quality Strategy is in development to reflect the changing NHS landscape and 
architecture and will reflect the revised national patient safety strategy while retaining a focus 
on both quality assurance and improvement. 
 

Quality and Safety Committee  

The Quality and Patient Safety Committee (QPSC) has delegated functions from the 
Governing Body.  This committee includes CCG representatives, lay members and practice 
representatives. The purpose of the committee is to ensure appropriate quality governance 
systems and processes are in place to commission, monitor and ensure the delivery of high 
quality, safe patient care in commissioned services.  This includes Acute and Mental Health 
Trusts, Care Homes, Ambulance and Community services. 
 
Work has been undertaken this year in readiness to merge the QPSC from April 2021 with the 
Quality committee in Sunderland CCG to support collaborative working and avoid unnecessary 
duplication of assurance processes with shared providers. This will ensure a harmonised 
approach to the monitoring of quality across our commissioned services.  
 
In response to COVID-19, NHSE in order to reduce the burden on NHS organisations and to 
release capacity into the system, made changes to a number of Governance, Reporting and 
Assurance mechanisms. This did have an impact on some of the CCGs quality and patient 
safety functions and availability of data such as Friends and Family tests, despite this the 
committee continued to receive detailed quality assurance updates and reports.      
 
The committee itself were keen to explore the impact that COVID-19 had on key services in 
the first wave and to hear first-hand about the learning and what if anything needed to be done 
differently to ensure a continuation of the CCGs aspiration for commissioning high quality care. 
In response an informal QPSC meeting was held in the autumn with representatives from the 
CCG and partners including contracting, performance, medicines management and joint 
commissioning.  
 
Throughout 2020/21 the QPSC has supported delivery of the CCG quality strategy and 
associated action plan.    
 

Quality and Safeguarding Team  

The Quality and Safeguarding team is led by the CCG Executive Director of Nursing, Quality 
and Safety who, along with the Head of Quality, and Safeguarding team provide strategic and 
operational leadership for key components of the quality and safeguarding work streams.  
 

Quality Review Groups    
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Our interface with providers is through Quality Review Group Meetings (QRGs). These are 
formal meetings held with our main providers to monitor and discuss all aspects of their quality-
of-care delivery; this includes patient experience data, complaints, concerns and the review of 
themes and trends from incidents. The QRGs allow a transparent and open discussion of 
issues to take place and improvements to be monitored. Membership includes Executive leads 
and NHSI, NHSE and CQC colleagues are invited to support a single approach to assurance.   
 

Quality Impact Assessments 

To assure ourselves as a CCG that any decisions we might make regarding the services we 
commission do not have a detrimental effect on quality, we have a quality impact assessment 
(QIA) policy, and the process is embedded across the CCG. Commissioning leads review 
proposed changes to services and assess whether there will be a positive, neutral, or negative 
effect on safety, patient experience, and effectiveness. This process is managed by the quality 
team, with the Executive Director of Nursing, Quality and Safety reviewing and approving any 
completed QIAs.  
 

Learning from Serious Incidents  

Serious incidents are events in health care where the potential for learning is so great, or the 
consequences to patients, families and carers, staff or organisations are so significant, that 
they warrant a comprehensive response. The occurrence of a serious incident can 
demonstrate weaknesses in a system or process that need to be addressed to prevent future 
incidents.    
 
The CCG is responsible for gaining assurance that when a serious incident occurs either within 
providers or within commissioned services that there are measures in place which safeguard 
patients.  
 
Robust governance processes are in place to monitor serious incidents through a combined 
CCG Serious Incident Panel held jointly with NHS Sunderland CCG. This panel is led by the 
CCG Executive Directors of Nursing, Quality and Safety who ensure sufficient rigor has been 
applied to the investigations and that learning has been elicited and embedded into practice. 
Providers are invited to attend the panel to provide further assurances and clarity around their 
investigation reports.       
 
Serious incident reports and action plans are reviewed and only signed off during the panel 
once appropriate assurance has been received. The panel also monitor serious incident 
themes and trends across the year and work with providers to manage and respond to any 
emerging themes.  
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Healthcare Associated Infections 

The CCG has played a key role in the regional response to the pandemic working alongside 
health, social care and other partners and worked closely with the North East and North 
Cumbria Integrated Care System to source and distribute emergency PPE supplies to health 
and care providers across Sunderland. Ensuring frontline services could operate safely and 
deliver effective care to our population.  
 
In May 2020 the Chief Nursing Officer for England issued a mandate for CCGs to deliver 
infection, prevention and control super training to care homes.  Dedicated efforts by the CCG 
and Local Authority partners meant that 100% of the 34 homes in South Tyneside were 
provided with this training to timescale.      
 
There has been additional investment in IPC resources this year with a dedicated team being 
commissioned to support the implementation of IPC across South Tyneside.     
 
The Healthcare Associated Infections (HCAI) Improvement Group is a joint collaborative group 
that meets quarterly across South Tyneside and Sunderland and includes representation from 
the two CCGs, provider organisations and Public Health England. The group provides 
leadership and oversight and ensures a whole system approach to preventing and controlling 
healthcare associated infections. The HCAI group has robust reporting mechanisms and 
receives regular assurance reports and updates on key metrics. Any identified quality or 
patient safety issues are escalated to the quality review groups or regional IPC forums.     
 
The CCG has in place a whole system HCAI joint action plan and progress is reported to the 
HCAI Improvement Group. The plan reflects the recommendations of the governments 
Antimicrobial Resistance (AMR) 5-year plan and ensures a continued focus on infections such 
as Clostridium Difficile and Methicillin-resistant Staphylococcus aureus (MRSA) particularly 
while national attention has been focused on the pandemic.       
 

Quality surveillance group (QSG) 

The CCG remains an active member of the Cumbria, Northumberland, and Tyne and Wear 
(CNTW) Quality Surveillance Group (QSG) along with other peer colleagues across the North 
East and key partners and stakeholders.  
 
Quality Surveillance Groups are an important mechanism for sharing and analysing significant 
information and intelligence about commissioned services. This enables early detection of 
deteriorating quality and an ‘early warning’ of potential risks to patient safety. Where 
necessary, the QSG conducts enhanced surveillance of providers until evidential assurance of 
sustained quality improvement is demonstrated. 
 
  



48 
 

Quality in Primary Care  

The CCG has delegated responsibility from NHS England for the commissioning of general 
medical services. We support NHS England in relation to our duty to improve the quality of 
primary medical services through agreements and processes with our member practices 
regarding quality and safety. The CCG has a well-established Primary Care Quality Business 
Group which reports to the Primary Care Commissioning Committee. Any quality exceptions 
are reported formally to the Quality and Patient Safety committee. The PCQB meeting occurs 
monthly and includes representation from NHS England as well as a representative from 
general practice and is where we assess, measure and benchmarking the quality of care within 
general practice.  
 
This is achieved by reviewing General Practice against a range of national and local quality 
indicators, sharing soft intelligence, complaints and incident data and considering the outcome 
of reports following CQC inspection of general practices at the CCGs quarterly data assurance 
group.  
 
Despite the challenges of COVID-19 during 2020/21 the process has been maintained by the 
CCG and we have continued to support practices in delivering high quality, safe care to their 
local populations using digital technology.    
 

Research and Development  

In order to fulfil our statutory duty to ensure research is carried out for benefit of the population 
we serve; we are committed to ensuring that research activity is undertaken rigorously and 
ethically under the governance framework established by our Research and Evidence Group.  
 
The findings of our research and information gained from research and evaluation undertaken 
across the system will be used as evidence to inform commissioning decisions. Additionally, 
the findings will be presented to the Executive Committee and Governing Body and written up 
for publication in healthcare journals, lay summaries produced and disseminated to the public 
and patients to ensure transparency and understanding of research activities.  
 
In 20/21, research activity was negatively affected by the impact of the pandemic, with planned 
studies being placed on hold, e.g., management of errors on imaging reports and end of life 
care experiences.  In response to the evidence to suggest that the mental wellbeing of staff 
working in care settings (care home, domiciliary care) has been negatively affected by the 
pandemic, a study carried out between South Tyneside CCG and Sunderland CCG, using a 
military wellbeing assessment tool to ascertain the self-reported mental wellbeing status of 
care workers by home/organisation.  Additional commercial funding was gained which 
rendered the study eligible for NIHR portfolio adoption, so 535 accruals were attributed to both 
CCGs (233 South Tyneside, 302 Sunderland). The anonymised findings are being shared with 
organisations providing interventions to support mental wellbeing and resilience interventions, 
and the study is being written up for publication in peer-reviewed journals. 
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The long-term follow up of bariatric patients in the community has been adopted onto the NIHR 
portfolio and is now open to recruitment. This study is supporting the development of the 
Sunderland-based service and explores views of potential services users and healthcare 
professionals who will be both accessing and delivering the services. This study will also 
include community pharmacists, following on from the earlier study published in Clinical 
Obesity in 2020. 
 
Nationally, the research agencies (NIHR etc.) are prioritising vaccine and urgent public health 
studies, which is holding up research processes.  Research leads are working closely with 
colleagues in NHS and care settings to identify further studies which can answer local research 
questions and support patients and professionals as the pandemic continues 
 
The CCG has supported several publications:  

• Graham, Yitka, McArdle, Mark, Scott, Jeanette, Barrigan, Marie, Richardson, 
Angela and Hayes, Catherine (2020) Stopping the clock and pressing reset: 
acknowledging and investing in the knowledge and skills of the care home 
workforce. Care Talk. p. 9. 

• Graham, Yitka, Fox, Ann, Scott, Jeanette, Johnson, Melanie and Hayes, 
Catherine (2020) How a pandemic affects the mental health of the nursing 
workforce. Nursing Times, 116 (8). pp. 20-22. ISSN 0954-7762 

• Graham, Yitka, Earl-Sinha, Charlotte, Parkin, Lindsay, Callejas-Diaz, Lindes, Fox, 
Ann, Tierney, Callum, Mahawar, Kamal and Hayes, Catherine (2020) Evaluating a 
potential role for community pharmacists in post-bariatric patient nutritional 
support. Clinical Obesity. ISSN 1758-8111 

 

Patient Experience and Feedback 

Patient experience is a key feature within our quality assurance processes.  
 
We collate and analyse several feedback sources including NHS Choices, complaints, patient 
surveys, patient and public involvement activities and provider reports to support service 
improvements and highlight areas of patient satisfaction with our providers.  
 
This year we have challenged our providers to improve their response rates across several 
areas in addition to improving the quality of the data and information they provide. We have 
raised specific concerns regarding the timeliness of complaint responses and have supported 
providers in effectively   implementing their patient experience frameworks.  
 

Safeguarding  

The CCG has a statutory responsibility to promote the safety and welfare of adults and children 
in all commissioned services. Due to this the CCG have in place robust structures, systems, 

http://sure.sunderland.ac.uk/id/eprint/12523/
http://sure.sunderland.ac.uk/id/eprint/12523/
http://sure.sunderland.ac.uk/id/eprint/12523/
http://sure.sunderland.ac.uk/id/eprint/12276/
http://sure.sunderland.ac.uk/id/eprint/12276/
http://sure.sunderland.ac.uk/id/eprint/11935/
http://sure.sunderland.ac.uk/id/eprint/11935/
http://sure.sunderland.ac.uk/id/eprint/11935/
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standards, and an assurance framework which enable compliance with legal duties and local 
governance arrangements.  
 
Executive leadership for safeguarding is provided via the Executive Director of Nursing, Quality 
and Safety. Other statutory lead roles are delivered by the role of Designated Nurse 
Safeguarding Children, Designated Nurse Safeguarding Adults, Designated Nurse Looked 
after Children and Designated Doctor functions of Safeguarding Children, Looked After 
Children and Child Death. The named GP for Adult Safeguarding and Child Safeguarding offer 
support on a sessional basis. The new appointment of a Named Nurse for Primary Care 
provides additional resource to strengthen safeguarding within primary care, and facilitate 
robust information sharing pathways across the health economy. 
  
The South Tyneside Safeguarding Children and Adult Partnership (STSCAP) transitioned from 
the previous separate Local Safeguarding Children and Adult Boards during 2019/20, to the 
combined partnership recognising the importance of ‘Think Family’ in safeguarding the most 
vulnerable members of our community. An Independent Scrutineer has also been appointed to 
provide impartial challenge and appraisal of safeguarding arrangements to judge the 
effectiveness of the multi-agency arrangements to safeguard and promote the welfare of 
residents of South Tyneside. The STSCAP has continued to meet virtually throughout the 
challenges of the pandemic to ensure safeguarding activity has continued throughout and 
systems remain robust to provide support at such a critical time.  
 
The CCG provides safeguarding leadership and assurance across the health economy 
incorporating safeguarding children, safeguarding adults, Mental Capacity Act, Deprivation of 
Liberty Safeguards and Prevent. The CCG is also a key partner within the statutory processes 
for facilitating the embedding of the learning from Safeguarding Adult Reviews (SAR) Domestic 
Homicide Reviews (DHR) and Child Safeguarding Practice Reviews (CSPR) through 
supporting provider organisations in the borough.  
 
Training provision has continued throughout the year, albeit in virtual format to ensure training 
standards are upheld. This has been provided to primary care via formal sessions during the 
GP education sessions and informal safeguarding leads meetings. Assurance has been gained 
from the provider organisations, through dashboard data, that training has continued to be 
delivered despite significant clinical pressures due to the pandemic. Due to this compliance 
has decreased, however every effort is being made by Named colleagues to ensure training 
remains high on the agenda.   
 

Engaging people and communities 
NHS South Tyneside CCG are committed to collecting the views from a range of South 
Tyneside residents, including patients, the public, and carers. This includes listening to the 
views from protected characteristic groups. 
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Specialist advice and external benchmarking is obtained from the national Consultation 
Institute. This support ensures that all engagement and consultation work undertaken by the 
CCG follow best practice. 
 
A lay member with responsibility for patient and public involvement (PPI) sits on the CCG 
Governing Body and oversees PPI at the CCG.  The Governing Body receives a full review of 
all PPI activities. However, in due to COVID-19, this was paused in 2020 and will begin again 
in 2021. 
 

Involvement activities 

Path to Excellence – the transforming hospital services across South 
Tyneside and Sunderland  

During the summer of 2020, the programme website was completely redeveloped and planning 
and development work took place around virtual and digital methodologies for patient and 
public engagement. 
 
In autumn 2020 the programme carried out a situational analysis to inform the reset of the 
programme through interviews with senior leaders from across the health partnership. 
 
The programme continues to work with The Consultation Institute to follow a best practice pre-
consultation and public consultation processes and is committed to open, transparent patient 
and public involvement.  
 

Building on the involvement work so far 

So far during phase 2, the programme has collected 17,000 responses. People had responded 
to a survey or attended a meeting or event. Many have responded via 
social media such as a like, share, view or comment. 
 
This includes feedback from NHS staff and patients who have used hospital services. The 
programme has also involved key stakeholders to help set evaluation criteria and assess the 
‘working ideas’. 
 
Local MPs, councillors and Healthwatch have highlighted key issues. All feedback is very 
important and continues to influence the development of the programme. 
 
All feedback reports are published on the programme website: 
https://pathtoexcellence.org.uk/publications/feedback-reports/. 
 

Statement of continuous involvement  

The following statement sets out the programme’s open and continuous involvement principle 
and this will be included in all key public documents the programme produces. 

https://pathtoexcellence.org.uk/publications/feedback-reports/
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“The Path to Excellence programme values everyone’s views and is always open to new ideas. 
No matter what stage of the programme we encourage people to get in touch and discuss what 
they think. We can also connect you with other people who are interested.” 
 

Continuous involvement with key groups 

There are already good links with key communities of interest supported by existing 
relationships with HealthWatch organisations, the two Voluntary and community sector 
organisation umbrella organisations into protected groups, via South Tyneside and Sunderland 
Foundation Trust patient groups and support via the Local Authorities into local area 
committees and other groups. 
 
All this provides a strong basis to continue to involve people in the programme. 
 

Patient and public involvement in a pandemic 

The global pandemic has created a new norm in terms of shifting activity to digital and most of 
the ‘traditional’ face to face consultation activity can be replicated online.  
 
This includes an improvement in the attitudes and abilities of citizens in terms of interacting 
online who are now generally better equipped to do-so and more trusting of the process.   
The Path to Excellence has adopted a ‘virtual first’ approach which encourages digital 
engagement without stifling the ability to participate offline.   
 
This shift makes better use of resources – people, time, and funding – and NHS Path to 
Excellence partners have already made investments in digital technologies to enable digital or 
virtual approach in anticipation of the need to involve and consult patients, stakeholders and 
the public under the circumstances of social distancing.  
 
In-line with involvement activities that are already well established for the Path to Excellence 
programme, the involvement strategy seeks to continue to take an asset-based approach of 
using established communities and networks to support involvement activity, recognising the 
ability of partners to reach further into communities. 
 

Digital exclusion 

It is important that the programme ensures a safe and socially distanced approach to 
involvement which also includes off-line methods. An involvement strategy that relies heavily 
on digital approaches may exclude certain sections of the population and increase health 
inequalities.  
 
There are many factors contributing to digital exclusion including restricted access to 
equipment or data, poor broadband, lack of confidence, literacy, and poor accessibility for 
people with disabilities such as sensory impairment. 
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The programme plans involvement activity and consider carefully who may be affected by 
digital exclusion and how this can be overcome, making connections to the wider digital 
transformation and inclusion strategy with local authorities. 
 
For some groups, such as people with caring responsibilities or mobility issues, digital 
engagement can remove barriers to participation. Beyond these groups, there are many 
people who find interacting online more accessible than face-to-face activities. This is 
demonstrated by the increase in numbers of people attending to observe council committees 
and joining on-line involvement sessions with the NHS. 
 

Stakeholder Relationship Management (SRM) system 

There has been investment in a SRM which is a single digital repository for all stakeholder 
(patients, public and other partner) communications.  It is a data store of activity (interactions), 
feedback (from all channels) and will allow the programme to store, recall and analyse 
information quickly and easily.  It is used as a database (for statutory consultees) and has 
stakeholder mapping functionality.  Unlike CRM, SRM is concerned with what is being said as 
well as who is saying it which is fundamental to good consultation and involvement practice. 
The system allows people to easily sign up and is GDPR compliant. 
 
Emails and invitations can be easily sent to existing distribution lists and include links to 
surveys, recruitment for groups and to share other digital content.  
 

Path to excellence website  

To support a digital first approach, the programme has completely reviewed and updated its 
dedicated website www.pathtoexcellence.org.uk 
 
The website has enhanced functionality to really harness the benefits for involvement and 
includes an involvement portal https://pathtoexcellence.org.uk/get-involved/involvement-
activity/ 
 
This links to surveys and other opportunities as they are developed via the SRM system as set 
out above.  
 
The website hosts digital versions of the draft case for change, animations, and alternative 
formats such as easy read. 
 
It can be harnessed as a place for consultees to consume multimedia excerpts (collateral) 
around challenges, explore evidence and provide views.   
 

Social media 

Path to Excellence, the CCGs and STSFT all have established social media channels such as 
Facebook and Twitter which are used to share information and content and encourage 
responses or feedback.  
 

http://www.pathtoexcellence.org.uk/
https://pathtoexcellence.org.uk/get-involved/involvement-activity/
https://pathtoexcellence.org.uk/get-involved/involvement-activity/
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The programme continues to work with partners and through trusted routes on social media – 
many organisations run closed Facebook or WhatsApp groups with community members or 
service users.  
 
There has been a huge rise during COVID-19 in using webinars and videoconferences via 
Zoom, Microsoft Teams, Google Meet and others. This style of engagement can range from 
information sharing, focus groups to online coproduction using interactive whiteboard tools. 
Collaborative working tools and platforms provide opportunities to have a large number of 
people inputting to the same document or building up ideas collaboratively using an online 
whiteboard such as Miro, JamBoard and vWall. 
 

Tradition media and promotion  

There are strong links with the Sunderland Echo and the Shields Gazette as well as other 
major media outlets such as the BBC and ITV Tyne Tees. Information at key points will be 
shared with the media. Other promotional activity will be planned at key points to raise 
awareness of the public consultation issues and access to ways to provide views.   
 

Digital exclusion 

It is important that the programme ensures a safe and socially distanced approach to 
involvement which also includes off-line methods. An involvement strategy that relies heavily 
on digital approaches may exclude certain sections of the population and increase health 
inequalities.  
 
There are many factors contributing to digital exclusion including restricted access to 
equipment or data, poor broadband, lack of confidence, literacy, and poor accessibility for 
people with disabilities such as sensory impairment. 
 
The programme will plan involvement activity and consider carefully who may be affected by 
digital exclusion and how this can be overcome, making connections to the wider digital 
transformation and inclusion strategy with local authorities. 
 
For some groups, such as people with caring responsibilities or mobility issues, digital 
engagement can remove barriers to participation. Beyond these groups, there are many 
people who find interacting online more accessible than face-to-face activities. This is 
demonstrated by the increase in numbers of people attending to observe council committees 
and joining on-line involvement sessions with the NHS. 
 

Looking towards public consultation  

At the end of March 2021, the programme was continuing its pre-consultation processes and 
involving staff, patients and stakeholders in helping to assess the working ideas, with a view to 
going to public consultation later in 2021. 
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Digital GP appointments 

More information about this engagement can be found by going to: 
https://www.southtynesideccg.nhs.uk/get-involved/involve-me/past-engagement-
activities/digital-gp-appointments/  
 
We want to ask people for their thoughts about online GP consultation methods, to explore 
their experience of using the service, and any barriers (perceived or through experience) which 
may need to be addressed. We also want to explore staff thoughts on this new way of working. 
We did this through several methods: 
 

Public engagement – Survey and interviews 

South Tyneside CCG worked in partnership with Sunderland CCG and County Durham CCG 
to develop and promote a survey which explored thoughts about digital GP appointments. In 
total, there were 1710 to the public survey (Sunderland: 303; South Tyneside: 242; County 
Durham: 1157; unclassified: 8). 
 
In addition to the survey responses, 19 telephone interviews were completed with patients 
across the three geographical areas. 
 

Staff engagement – Survey and interviews 

In addition to the public engagement, there was also a survey and interviews held with staff to 
understand their views. For this engagement, South Tyneside CCG worked in partnership with 
Sunderland CCG. In total, there were 77 responses to the staff survey (Sunderland: 42; South 
Tyneside: 35) and 5 telephone interviews were completed.  
 

Collecting the views from the deaf community 

The CCG also worked in partnership with Becoming Visible – a VCSO which supports the deaf 
community to collect the views from patients who can only read British Sign Language. 
Becoming Visible held a focus group / conversation with 11 individuals. The information 
collected through this focus group identified barriers to digital GP consultations experienced by 
the deaf community. 
 

VCSO feedback 

NHS Sunderland CCG, NHS South Tyneside CCG, and NHS South Tyneside and 
Sunderland Foundation Trust commissioned some focus groups with Voluntary 
Community Sector Organisations (VCSOs) across Sunderland and South Tyneside to explore 
the use of GP and Hospital digital appointments and to contribute to a volume of work. 
 
In total 7 VCSOs took part in 3 focus groups in August 2020, and 2 VCSOs contributed 
feedback independently. 
 

https://www.southtynesideccg.nhs.uk/get-involved/involve-me/past-engagement-activities/digital-gp-appointments/
https://www.southtynesideccg.nhs.uk/get-involved/involve-me/past-engagement-activities/digital-gp-appointments/
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Working with partners 

Involvement Strategy for NHS South Tyneside and Sunderland CCGs 

For more information about the Involvement Strategy research, go to: 
https://www.southtynesideccg.nhs.uk/get-involved/involving-the-public-in-
governance/involvement-strategy/  
 
There was a requirement for NHS South Tyneside CCG and NHS Sunderland CCG to 
redevelop their patient and public involvement strategy for April 2021.  
 
To do this to the highest standards, the CCGs involved a range of key partners and 
stakeholders in a research phase to inform the updated strategy. The research phase was 
particularly important to take account of the global COVID-19 pandemic and the social 
distancing measures which directly impact the ability to carry out face-to-face involvement.  
 
The initial focus of the research was around ‘How we better involve patients and the public in 
NHS service improvement’ in line with good involvement practice. The research methodology 
later evolved based on feedback from participants to explore ‘What good involvement looks 
like’ as perceived by CCG stakeholders. 
 

Methodology 

Several engagement methods were used to gather the thoughts from key 
partners and stakeholders to help inform the redevelopment of the CCGs’ 
involvement strategies. This includes: 
 

• Development session (November 2020): In total, 15 participants joined a virtual 
development session. This session provided information on the legal considerations for 
NHS bodies in relation to public and patient involvement. It also detailed a range of 
different involvement techniques including different types of citizen engagements. This 
session was part of the initial research which was focused on NHS Sunderland CCG 
only. 

• Discussion session (November 2020): In total nine participants joined a virtual 
discussion session to build on the learning and feedback from the first session. In 
addition, discussions were held around how involvement could be better developed as a 
health and care system, in line with the NHS Long Term Plan. This session was part of 
the initial research which was focused on NHS Sunderland CCG only. 

• Key interviews (January 2021): In total, nine people took part (who nominated 
themselves as a result of taking part in the qualitative survey) in a short 20-minute 
interview to explore their thoughts on what good involvement looks like. These 
interviews were held with Refugee and Asylum Seekers Support Association, 
Sunderland City Council, Sunderland Older People’s Association, and South Tyneside 
and Sunderland NHS Foundation Trust. The remainder of the interviews were with 
members of the public. 

https://www.southtynesideccg.nhs.uk/get-involved/involving-the-public-in-governance/involvement-strategy/
https://www.southtynesideccg.nhs.uk/get-involved/involving-the-public-in-governance/involvement-strategy/


57 
 

• Qualitative survey (January 2021): A qualitative survey was sent out to explore what 
stakeholders felt the CCGs did well with involvement, what could be done better, and 
what good involvement looks like to them. The survey was distributed to VCSOs across 
Sunderland and South Tyneside, Sunderland and South Tyneside Healthwatch, the 
Equality, Diversity, and Inclusion Network (EDIN), the Sunderland Involvement 
partnership (SIP), and to the South Tyneside Healthnet group, which covers key 
partners for South Tyneside. The survey was open between 8 and 24 January 2021. In 
total, 24 responses were received. 

• Focus group (January 2021): One focus group was held to further explore the questions 
included in the qualitative survey. In total, 6 participants took part in the session. 

 
In addition, a detailed desk review of existing literature was also produced. 

From the research and the desk review, five key themes were identified in the new 
Involvement Strategy: 
 

1. We will reach out to people to involve them in the right way to increase participation  
2. We will promote equality and diversity and encourage and respect different beliefs and 

opinions 
3. We will take the time to plan for involvement, including how we can work with partners, 

and feeding back 
4. We will continue to build on our partnership relationships, in particular to ensure 

knowledge and capability is shared for the future. 
5. We will use a range of best practice involvement methods including both on-line and off-

line methods 
 

Experience of the COVID-19 vaccination programme 

For more information about this engagement, go to: https://www.southtynesideccg.nhs.uk/get-
involved/involve-me/current-engagement-activities/have-you-had-your-covid-vaccine-tell-us-
how-we-did/  
 
NHS South Tyneside CCG is working in partnership with Healthwatch Sunderland and 
Healthwatch South Tyneside to explore experience of COVID-19 vaccination. 
 
Healthwatch Sunderland and Healthwatch South Tyneside provide an independent voice for 
people who use publicly funded health and social care services. Their role is to ensure that 
people’s views are listened to and fed back to service providers and commissioners in order to 
improve services. 
 
The survey will help explore people's experiences of receiving their COVID-19 vaccine in the 
Sunderland and South Tyneside areas by asking those who have had their vaccine to 
complete a short survey.   The results of this survey will help us to understand directly from the 
public and patients what is going well, but also what else could be done to improve the delivery 
of the vaccine to local people. 

https://www.southtynesideccg.nhs.uk/get-involved/involve-me/current-engagement-activities/have-you-had-your-covid-vaccine-tell-us-how-we-did/
https://www.southtynesideccg.nhs.uk/get-involved/involve-me/current-engagement-activities/have-you-had-your-covid-vaccine-tell-us-how-we-did/
https://www.southtynesideccg.nhs.uk/get-involved/involve-me/current-engagement-activities/have-you-had-your-covid-vaccine-tell-us-how-we-did/
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Patient Reference Group 

The Patient Reference Group is a bi-monthly meeting where patients from practices in South 
Tyneside meet to find out about the work of the Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG).  
Patients can also influence the work of the CCG by discussing and giving their opinions and 
views about plans and progress.  One of the aims of the group is that members will take the 
information they have gained from the meetings back to patient forums in their own practices to 
share and discuss. 
 
Although this group was paused due to the COVID-19 pandemic, meetings began again in 
April 2021. 
 
All agenda, minutes and presentations from the group can be found at 
https://www.southtynesideccg.nhs.uk/get-involved/involve-me/patient-participation-groups/. 
 

Friends and Family Test 

The Friends & Family Test is used by the CCG as a quality measure to monitor patient 
experience and support service improvements.  The results are included in the CCG quality 
monitoring and assurance reports and discussed at quality review group meetings. 
 

Healthnet meetings 

HealthNet is a local umbrella organisation with representatives from diverse South Tyneside 
voluntary and community organisations. 
 
The CCG attends monthly HealthNet meetings. These meetings provide an opportunity for 
people from the local community to discuss, question and give suggestions to the CCG, as well 
as facilitate discussions amongst partner organisations. 
 
More information can be found by going to:  https://www.southtynesideccg.nhs.uk/get-
involved/involve-me/ccg-updates-healthnet/. 
 
  

https://www.southtynesideccg.nhs.uk/get-involved/involve-me/patient-participation-groups/
https://www.southtynesideccg.nhs.uk/get-involved/involve-me/ccg-updates-healthnet/
https://www.southtynesideccg.nhs.uk/get-involved/involve-me/ccg-updates-healthnet/
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We're still listening 

Patient stories 

NHS South Tyneside CCG are committed 
to hearing about the experiences of local 
health services, both good and bad, to 
help us shape future services. 
 
The CCG collect patient stories to learn 
about the experiences and needs of 
people accessing health services in South 
Tyneside, and to put patients at the heart 
of service development and decision 
making. This allows the CCG to identify 
where systems and processes may need 
to be improved, as well as sharing areas 
of good practice, to improve people’s 
experiences and access to health care. 
From April 2021, these stories will be 
taken to Quality Safety Committee and 
Governing Body meetings. 
 
An animation has been developed to help 
collect patient stories 
https://youtu.be/r7FxVj_r8GU. This has 
been included on the CCGs website and 
promoted through social media. 
 
Although the collection of patient stories was paused due to the COVID-19 pandemic, efforts to 
engage with patients started up again in 2021, with an enhanced social media campaign aimed 
to encourage people to come forward with their stories. The CCG also linked with Healthwatch 
to collect patient stories. 
 

Communicating with stakeholders 

News releases and engaging with local media 

Along with uplifting national news releases on a local level, NHS South Tyneside CCG produce 
regular news releases specific to us and we engage with local media to ensure good coverage. 
Our news releases can be found on our website at: 
https://www.southtynesideccg.nhs.uk/news-and-media/news/  
 
A range of press releases were produced in 2020 / 2021. These include: 
 

https://youtu.be/r7FxVj_r8GU
https://www.southtynesideccg.nhs.uk/news-and-media/news/
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Don’t miss your vaccine because of a wrong number! 
A reminder to patients to ensure their contact details are up to date so they don't miss out on their 
COVID-19 vaccine. 
 
University of Sunderland pharmacy students unite for final push of South Tyneside 
housebound vaccinations 
Pharmacy students from the University of Sunderland joined the dedicated team known as the 
‘pharmy army’ helping to provide the COVID-19 vaccine to housebound people in South 
Tyneside. 
 
Vaccine drop-in opportunity for priority groups in South Tyneside 
People in the first nine vaccine priority groups can attend special drop-in sessions with no 
appointment needed. 
 
“This is South Tyneside at its very best” – NHS celebrates as a quarter of the borough’s 
adults have had vaccine 
More than 35,000 people in South Tyneside have had their first COVID-19 jab, just seven 
weeks after the first vaccine centre opened in the borough. 
 
Pharmacists close to completing first round of vaccines to housebound people in South 
Tyneside 
Caring community pharmacists in South Tyneside have made such good progress in their drive 
to vaccinate housebound people that they expect to complete the first stage of the project 
earlier than planned.  
 
Pharmacists set to vaccinate housebound people in South Tyneside 
Pioneering pharmacists in South Tyneside are giving up their weekends to vaccinate 
housebound patients in a unique project.  
 
South Tyneside’s third local vaccine centre now in action 
South Tyneside’s third local centre for the Covid-19 vaccine is now up and running, as the 
borough’s vaccination programme picks up speed. 
 
“The teams are doing an incredible job” – South Tyneside’s COVID-19 vaccine effort 
picking up speed 
NHS leaders have hailed the incredible work of vaccine teams as several thousand residents 
have had the jab in the first three weeks – in spite of the Christmas holidays. 
 
Health bosses urge people not to call their GP practice for COVID-19 vaccine 
GPs are calling for people in South Tyneside to be patient and not contact their GP practice to 
book a COVID-19 vaccination. 
 
Please be a Patient Patient 
HEALTH chiefs across South Tyneside are urging people to ‘please be patient’ when 
contacting their GP practice and to only go to A&E in a real emergency 
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Please wait to be called, say South Tyneside doctors – as second vaccine centre goes 
live 
South Tyneside’s COVID-19 programme moved up a gear on Tuesday as the NHS opened the 
borough’s second vaccination centre, less than a week after the first. 
 
“I hope this is the first step on the road to normality!” – 81-year-old Joan among the first 
to get vaccine in South Tyneside 
COVID-19 vaccinations are now underway in South Tyneside – with people who are most at 
risk first in line to receive the vaccine. 
 
South Tyneside NHS leaders agree plan for better end of life care 
Plans agreed for a better range of end-of-life care services for South Tyneside, which will 
provide improved care for people who prefer to die at home, as well as a suite of ‘home from 
home’ end of life bedrooms at Haven Court in South Shields. 
 
NHS asks for patients’ views on new online ways of working 
GPs in South Tyneside are asking patients to share their views on the new ways they have 
been working during the Covid-19 outbreak. 
 
South Tyneside volunteers are coronavirus lifesavers 
Raising awareness of The Sats Squad – a very special group of volunteers helping the NHS 
tackle coronavirus in South Tyneside. 
 
Don’t put off calling us if you need care, say South Tyneside doctors 
While Coronavirus (COVID-19) is having a huge effect on us all, doctors are concerned that 
some people may not be asking for help for vital questions like possible cancer symptoms. 
 
A leading GP has re-joined the frontline fight to back the NHS response to COVID-19 
GP and accountable officer for NHS South Tyneside Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG), 
Sunderland CCG and County Durham CCG, Dr Neil O’Brien, has been helping to support staff 
on Ward 1 at Chester-le-Street Hospital. 
 
Help to quit smoking – from someone who knows what it’s like 
The UCan scheme will pair up smokers with a Peer Pal, a trained person who has been there, 
done it and can offer help using their own experience. 
 
Help at hand as South Tyneside children head back to school 
With the borough's pupils returning after their routines were disrupted by the latest lockdown, 
health and education leaders are determined to make sure schools are well prepared for 
anyone who needs help. 
 
New LGBT+ service for young people in South Tyneside 
A new service is set to provide specialist support for young people who need help with their 
gender or sexual identity.  

Bank holiday opening times for GP practices and pharmacies 
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For each bank holiday period, we issue a news release to local media advising of health 
service opening times.  
 

Reducing Health Inequality 
Our commitment to equality and diversity is driven by the principles of the NHS Constitution, 
the Equality Act 2010 and the Human Rights Act 1998, and also by the duties of the Health 
and Social Care Act 2012 (section 14T) to reduce health inequalities, promote patient 
involvement and involve and consult with the public. 
 
We have demonstrated our commitment to taking Equality, Diversity and Human Rights 
(EDHR) in everything we do, whether that is commissioning services, employing people, 
developing policies, communicating, consulting or involving people in our work as evidenced 
below. 
 

Public Sector Equality Duty (PSED) 

We understand that we are required under the Public Sector Equality Duty (PSED) which is set 
out in s149 of the Equality Act 2010, to have due regard to: 

• Eliminate unlawful discrimination, harassment, victimisation and other conduct 
prohibited by the (Equality) Act. 

• Advance equality of opportunity between people who share a protected characteristic 
and those who do not. 

• Foster good relations between people who share a protected characteristic and those 
who do not. 

 
We are also required as part of the Specific Duties Regulations 2011 to publish: 

• Equality objectives, at least every four years. 
• Information to demonstrate our compliance with the public sector equality duty. 

 

Governance 

Equality, Diversity and Health Inequalities is governed and reports into the Audit and Risk 
Committee and the Executive Team. The board ensures we are compliant with legislative, 
mandatory, and regulatory requirements regarding equality and diversity, develops and 
delivers national and regional diversity-related initiatives within the CCG, provides a forum for 
sharing issues and opportunities, functions as a two-way conduit for information dissemination 
and escalation, monitors progress against the equality strategy and supports us in the 
achievement of key equality and diversity objectives. 
 
A quarterly Governance Assurance Report is submitted to the board outlining relevant updates 
in relation to Equality, Diversity and Health Inequalities. 
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Equality, Diversity, and Inclusion (EDI) Strategy  

Our Equality Strategy for 2021-2024 has been developed. The revised strategy highlights the 
aims set out within the ‘We are the NHS: People Plan 2020/21 – action for us all’ and outlines 
our strategic direction in how we foster a culture of inclusion and belonging, take action to 
develop a diverse workforce that is representative of the communities it serves, train our 
people, and work together differently to deliver patient care. 
 

The Equality Delivery System 2 - Our Equality Objectives 

We have continued to utilise the Equality Delivery System (EDS2) framework and have been 
using the tool to support the mainstreaming of equalities into all our core business functions to 
support us in meeting the Public Sector Equality Duty (PSED) and to improve our performance 
for the community, patients, carers, and staff with protected characteristics that are outlined 
within the Equality Act 2010.  
 
We have used the NHS Equality Delivery System 2 (EDS2) to continue monitoring our equality 
objectives outlined below: 
 
Objective 1 – Continuously improve engagement, ensure that services are commissioned and 
designed to meet the needs of patients from at least 9 protected groups. 
 
Objective 2 – Improve and simplify the complaints process ensuring that complaints are 
handled efficiently and effectively for at least 6 protected groups. 
 
Objective 3 – Continuously monitor and review staff satisfaction to ensure they are engaged, 
supported, and have the tools to carry out their roles effectively. 
 
Objective 4 – Ensure that the CCG Governing Body actively leads and promotes Equality and 
Diversity throughout the organisation. 
 

Our Staff - Encouraging Diversity  

We encourage a diverse range of people to apply to and work for us as we recognise the 
benefits such diversity brings to the quality of our work and the nature of our organisation. 
 
We continue to offer guaranteed interviews to applicants with a disability who are identified as 
meeting the essential criteria for any advertised roles; and 
reasonable adjustments under the Equality Act 2010 are 
considered and implemented during the recruitment 
process and during employment.  
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By working closely with DWP, we have maintained our ‘Level 2 Disability Employer’ status for 
2020 -2021 by demonstrating our commitment to employing the right people for our business 
and continually developing our people. 
 

Workforce Race Equality Standard 

In accordance with the Public Sector Equality Duty and the NHS Equality and Diversity 
Council’s agreed measures to ensure employees from black and ethnic minority (BME) 
backgrounds have equal access to career opportunities and receive fair treatment in the 
workplace, the CCG has shown due regard to the Workforce Race Equality Standard (WRES). 
We have due regard to the standard by seeking assurance of compliance from trusts and aim 
to improve workplace experiences and representation at all levels for black and minority ethnic 
staff. 
 

Equality Impact Assessments 

Our Equality Impact Assessment (EIA) Toolkit has been reviewed in 2020 to continue the 
process to be embedded into core business processes and to provide a comprehensive insight 
into our local population, patients, and staff’s diverse health needs.  
 
The tool covers all equality groups offered protection under the Equality Act 2010 (Race, 
Disability, Gender, Age, Sexual Orientation, Religion/Belief, Marriage and Civil Partnership and 
Gender Re-assignment) in addition to Human Rights and Carers, as well as including prompts 
for engagement with protected groups the tool also aids compliance with the Accessible 
Information Standard. 
  
The EIA is embedded into our governance process and sign off from the Executive is required 
for monitoring and completion. 
 

Accessible Information Standard 

The Accessible Information Standard aims to make sure that people with a disability or sensory 
impairment have access to information that they can understand, and access to any 
communication support they might need. 
 
The CCG has due regard to the standard by obtaining feedback from Patient Reference 
Groups (PRG’s) in relation to how we can improve our communication methods and make 
them more accessible for all. 
 
Further information can be found at: https://www.england.nhs.uk/ourwork/accessibleinfo/  
 
  

https://www.england.nhs.uk/ourwork/accessibleinfo/
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Health Inequalities 

We have regard to the need to reduce inequalities between patients in accessing health 
services for our local population. 
 
We understand our local population and local health needs, through the joint strategic needs 
assessments (JSNAs) and we collate additional supporting data including local health profiles 
as well as qualitative data through our local engagement initiatives which aim to engage hard 
to reach groups. 
 
We seek the views of patients, carers and the public through individual feedback/input, 
consultations, working with other organisations and community groups, attendance at 
community events and engagement activity including patient surveys, the Patient Reference 
Group and Healthwatch. 
 
As the local commissioners of health services, we seek to ensure that the services that are 
purchased on behalf of our local population reflect their needs. We appreciate that to deliver 
this requires meaningful consultation and involvement of all our stakeholders. We aim to 
ensure that comments and feedback from our local communities are captured and, where 
possible, giving local people the opportunity to influence local health services and enable 
people to have their say using a variety of communication methods enabling them to influence 
the way NHS health services are commissioned. 
 
Through our Commissioning Support Unit, we have continued to work closely with other local 
NHS organisations to support the regional working that has been a legacy of the Equality, 
Diversity and Human Rights Regional Leads Meetings. Also, nationally we were awarded E&D 
Partner status for 2016/17 and have continued to work closely with partners as part of the 
alumni programme. 
 
We continue to monitor the health profiles and data available which detail the health 
challenges of our population including the Joint Strategic Needs Analysis (JSNA), RightCare 
Health Inequality Packs and Health Profile data. 
 
Further information can be found at: 
 

• Health Profiles: Local Authority Health Profiles 
• Public Health England – Local Health:  
• South Tyneside JSNA: 

https://www.southtyneside.gov.uk/article/49425?utm_source=friendly_URL&utm_mediu
m=all_marketing_materials&utm_campaign=jsna 

• South Tyneside CCG Health Inequalities: https://www.england.nhs.uk/wp-
content/uploads/2018/12/ehircp-ney-south_tyneside-ccg-dec-18.pdf 

 
 
  

https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile/health-profiles/data#page/13/gid/1938132696/pat/6/par/E12000001/ati/202/are/E08000022/cid/4
https://www.southtyneside.gov.uk/article/49425?utm_source=friendly_URL&utm_medium=all_marketing_materials&utm_campaign=jsna
https://www.southtyneside.gov.uk/article/49425?utm_source=friendly_URL&utm_medium=all_marketing_materials&utm_campaign=jsna
https://www.england.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2018/12/ehircp-ney-south_tyneside-ccg-dec-18.pdf
https://www.england.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2018/12/ehircp-ney-south_tyneside-ccg-dec-18.pdf
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[Insert signature] 
 
Dr Neil O’Brien 
Accountable Officer  
XX-month 2021 



67 
 

Corporate Governance Report 

Members Report 
The CCG’s Constitution sets out the terms by which we, through our appointed 
members, elected GP executives and governing body, implement all statutory 
obligations including the commissioning of secondary health care and other services 
for South Tyneside. The Constitution contains the main governance rules of the 
CCG and Governing Body. 
 
The Constitution was agreed and signed by all member practices as part of the CCG 
authorisation process and has subsequently been updated, including reflecting the 
changes in relation to additional primary medical care commissioning responsibilities 
the CCG. 
 
The CCG covers the whole of the borough of South Tyneside and details of our 
member practices can be found on the following pages. 
 

Member Practices and Council of Practices 

As a membership organisation the CCG comprises 21 practices that make up the 
membership, represented through the Council of Practices. The Member Practices 
that comprise the CCG are as follows: 
 

Practices in NE31 
Victoria Medical Centre NE31 1NU 
The Glen Medical Group NE31 1NU 
Ellison View Surgery NE31 2SP 

Practices in NE32 
Drs Dowsett and Overs NE32 3UX 
East Wing Surgery  NE32 3UX 
Albert Road Surgery NE32 5AG 
Mayfield Medical Centre NE32 5SE 

Practices in NE33 
Ravensworth Surgery NE33 3ET 
Wawn Street Surgery NE33 4DX 
Imeary Street  NE33 4EG 
West View Surgery NE33 4JP 
Farnham Medical Centre NE33 4QY 
Trinity Medical Centre NE33 5DU 
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St George and Riverside Practice  NE33 5DU 
Practices in NE34 

Talbot Medical Centre NE34 0BX 
Marsden Road Health Centre NE34 6RE 
Central Surgery NE34 7QD 
Drs Haque and Haque NE34 9BP 

Practices in NE35 
Dr Thorniley-Walker and Partners NE35 9AN 
Colliery Court Medical Group NE35 9AN 

Practices in SR6 
Whitburn Surgery SR6 7EE 

 
In keeping with the CCG as a membership organisation, there is an established 
Council of Practices which has reserved a limited number of matters to itself (as 
specified in the CCG’s Scheme of Reservation and Delegation) having delegated 
many functions and duties of the CCG, through the means of the Constitution, to the 
Governing Body.  In 2020/21, the Council of Practices met in accordance with its 
Terms of Reference – a meeting once a year with further meetings being held in year 
as required. 
 

Composition of Governing Body 

The main functions of the Governing Body are described in section 14L of the 2006 
Health Service Act (inserted by section 25 of the Health and Social Care Act 2012). 
The Governing Body’s principal aim is to ensure that the group has made 
appropriate arrangements for ensuring that it complies with its obligations to exercise 
its functions effectively, efficiently, economically and in line with relevant generally 
accepted principles of good governance. The CCG’s Constitution specifies the 
arrangements made by the CCG for the discharge of functions by the Governing 
Body. 
 
 Membership of the Governing Body must include: 

• at least six members (including its chair and deputy chair) 
• accountable officer 
• at least one each of the following: 

o an employee of the CCG who has a professional qualification in 
accountancy and the expertise or experience to lead the financial 
management of the CCG 

o a registered nurse 
o an individual who is a secondary care specialist 
o a lay person who is qualified for membership  
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o another lay person who is qualified for membership  
 
The CCG’s Constitution specifies that “each member of the governing body should 
share responsibility as part of a team to ensure that the group exercises its functions 
effectively, efficiently, and economically, with good governance and in accordance 
with the terms of its constitution. Each brings their unique perspective, informed by 
their expertise and experience. Notwithstanding this, all members of the governing 
body have joint responsibility for every decision of the governing body regardless of 
their individual skills and experience”.  
 
The Governing Body is also supported by a number of committees which it has 
established, and which provide regular reports to it. Details for these committees are 
set out in the Annual Governance Statement below. The executive team is 
responsible for the day-to-day running of the organisation and implementing 
decisions taken at a strategic level by the Board. 
 

Governing Body Profiles  

Dr Matthew Walmsley, GP Member and Chair 

Matthew trained in the north east and has spent over twenty years working in the 
region. He has been a partner at Marsden Road Health Centre for 17 years with 
clinical interests in mental health, substance misuse and safeguarding. 
 
Matthew has chaired South Tyneside CCG since its inception. His time in post has 
seen the CCG gain a growing reputation for innovation and integration, overseeing 
significant service reconfiguration in areas such as mental health, urgent care, 
paediatrics, and maternity. 
 

Dr Neil O’Brien, Chief Clinical Officer and Accountable Officer 

Dr O’Brien has been a local GP in Chester-Le-Street for over 20 years. He has 
developed a special interest in cardiology and has previously worked as a GP with 
special interest in this area. Neil is a practicing clinician, which strengthens his 
influence with local practices and other clinicians.   
 
Neil is also the Clinical Accountable Officer for two other CCG’s in Sunderland and 
South Tyneside.  Neil is a member of the Integrated Care System (ICS) 
Management Group representing the needs of local populations at the North East 
and North Cumbria ICS. 
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During the last year Neil has chaired the ICS vaccination board overseeing the roll 
out of the flu vaccination programme and the COVID-19 vaccination programme, 
Neil is also a member of the national clinical advisory group advising the national roll 
out of the COVID-19 vaccination. 
 

Ms Jeanette Scott, Executive Director of Nursing, Quality and 
Patient Safety 

Jeanette is passionate about the quality and safety of care experienced by 
patients.  Jeanette trained as a nurse in South Tyneside and has held several senior 
positions in both provider and commissioning organisations during her 39 years NHS 
experience. 

She is a qualified Nurse and Health Visitor and has completed an Executive MBA as well 
as numerous leadership programmes. Jeanette is also a Visiting Research Fellow at the 
University of Sunderland. 

When not at work Jeanette enjoys spending time with her grandchildren and is an avid 
reader and follower of The Archers. 
 

Mr Matt Brown, Director of Operations 

Matt is passionate about working to improve services and outcomes for patients, having 
spent nearly 20 years working in the NHS around the country, particularly in Cumbria 
and the North East. 
 
During that time, Matt has worked for a number of commissioner, provider, and 
regulatory organisations, across a range of strategic and operational roles. 
Following a degree in Actuarial Mathematics, Matt undertook an Executive MBA and an 
MSc in Public Health, before becoming a graduate of the Nye Bevan Executive 
Healthcare Leadership programme. 
 
As Executive Director of Operations, Matt is responsible for the day-to-day running of the 
CCG, strategic planning and delivery of its commissioning, system leadership, 
partnership, and integration functions. 
 

Ms Kate Hudson, Chief Finance Officer / Chief Officer 

Kate is the Chief Finance Officer and Chief Officer for South Tyneside CCG and has 
been in post since its inception in 2013.  Having originally joined the NHS graduate 
training scheme she has significant NHS experience, including 16 years at senior 
management level.   
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Her predominant experience is within commissioning and she is committed to improving 
healthcare by working with partners to secure efficient and effective services. 
 

Mr Tom Hall, Director of Public Health, South Tyneside Council 

Tom Hall has worked in public health since 2003 and he has been the Director of 
Public Health for South Tyneside since May 2017. He is the Statutory Lead Officer 
for health and wellbeing and the South Tyneside Health & Wellbeing Board, and 
strategic lead for the implementation of the Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy.  
Tom plays a key role in the South Tyneside Alliance system leadership approach, 
developing an integrated health and care system and leads A Whole Council Public 
Health approach. Tom is also involved in academic leadership at the regional level 
with the Applied Research Collaboration and Public Health Clinical Research 
Network. 
 

Ms Louise Lydon, Primary Healthcare Professional Member 

Louise has worked as a community pharmacist in South Tyneside for over 20 years 
since graduating from Sunderland school of pharmacy in 2000. 
 
Louise is passionate about tackling local health inequalities and sits on various 
alliancing boards / groups including long-term conditions, flu and COVID-19, 
smoking, drug and alcohol.   
 
She is an independent prescriber and a champion for extending the role of the 
community pharmacist, working outreach within communities. 
 
Louise’s other professional roles include being the South Tyneside and Gateshead 
Local Pharmacy Committee secretary, and a visiting lecturer at Sunderland 
University, School of Pharmacy. 
 
Louise enjoys cooking, reading, gardening, and growing as well as paddle boarding 
with her sister and daughters. 
 

Dr Tarquin Cross, Secondary Care Consultant 

Tarquin moved from London to Newcastle in 1991 to study medicine and has stayed in 
his adopted North East ever since. 

He has trained and worked in numerous hospitals across the region before taking up a 
consultant post in Elderly Medicine with Northumbria Healthcare NHS Foundation Trust 
in 2007. He is currently Associate Head of Service for Acute Elderly Medicine and is 
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involved in the development of Northumbria’s new Specialist Emergency Care Hospital 
and base sites project. 

He has a young family and in the small amount of remaining time he enjoys playing 
football, running, and snowboarding. 
 

Mr Paul Cuskin, Lay Member, Public & Patient Involvement, Deputy 
Chair 

Paul had a 30-year career with the UK Civil Service during which time he worked with 
both the public and private sectors in the development of Employment & Skills to deliver 
Welfare to Work, and between 1999 and 2011 worked as Strategic Director for the 
North-East Employer Coalition working with employers and agencies to tackle long-term 
unemployment. 

Previously, Paul was the inaugural Chair of Healthwatch South Tyneside, and was 
appointed to the committee of Healthwatch England to help represent the views of 
patients, care users and the public at a national level. 

Paul also chaired the multi-agency Local Quality Surveillance Group and was a previous 
board member of South Tyneside Health and Wellbeing and Integrated Health 
Boards.  Paul is a former international athlete representing Great Britain at road, cross-
country and track racing. 

He was also a dementia carer. 
 

Mr John Whitehouse, Lay Member for Governance 

John is a qualified public finance accountant. In a career spanning 37 years he has 
worked in local government, the private sector, and the NHS. Within the NHS he 
held several senior roles in finance but most significantly in internal audit. He lives in 
Hartlepool with his wife. He has two daughters and a growing number of 
grandchildren with whom he spends a great deal of his time. 
 
In addition to chairing the Audit and Risk Committee, John is our Conflicts of Interest 
Guardian in accordance with our Standards of Business Conduct Policy. 
 
He is also a governing body member at North Cumbria CCG and County Durham 
CCG 
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Mrs Pat Harle MBE, Lay Member 

Pat has over 40 years NHS experience, in acute, community, teaching hospital, and 
consultancy, the last 20 years at board level in NHS commissioning and provider 
services and is passionate about ensuring high quality services. Pat has held a 
number of national offices, and was awarded an MBE, a ‘Probe Lifetime 
achievement award ‘and presented with a Medal of Distinction from the British 
Dental Association.  
 

Division of responsibilities  

The Governing Body is satisfied that there is a clear division of responsibilities 
between the Chair and Chief Executive. 
 

Committee(s), including Audit and Risk 

Details of the CCG's committees can be found in the governance statement of this 
annual report. 
 

Register of Interests 

The CCG's register of interests is available on our public website and can be found 
using the following link:   
https://www.southtynesideccg.nhs.uk/news-media/publications/registers-of-interest/ 
  
It is updated on an annual basis in line with current national guidance and reviewed 
by both the Audit and Risk Committee and Governing Body.  
 

Personal data related incidents 

The CCG has not had any serious incidents or serious information breaches during 
the year. 
 
Principles of Remedy 
The CCG complaints policy and procedure has been developed and updated in line 
with current legislation and statutory requirements and best practice. This includes 
adopting the principles as outlined in the Parliamentary and Health Service 
Ombudsman’s principles of good complaints handling, principles of good 
administration and principles of remedy. 
 

https://www.southtynesideccg.nhs.uk/news-media/publications/registers-of-interest/
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Emergency Preparedness, Resilience and Response  
The CCG has a business continuity plan in place which is fully compliant with NHS 
England’s Emergency Preparedness Framework 2019. The plan sets out the 
necessary process for staff to follow in the event of a business continuity incident 
and includes key contacts to support this. In addition, the CCG has completed 
business impact analysis for all its key functions and used these to prioritise which 
activities would need to be continued in the event of such an incident. The CCG is 
also a member of the Local Health Resilience Forum, however, as a category 2 
responder, is not required to have a major incident plan. 
 

Statement of Disclosure to Auditors 

Each individual, who is a member of the CCG at the time the Members’ Report is 
approved confirms: 

 
• so far as the member is aware, there is no relevant audit information of 

which the CCG’s auditor is unaware that would be relevant for the purposes 
of their audit report 

• the member has taken all the steps that they ought to have taken to make 
him or herself aware of any relevant audit information and to establish that 
the CCG’s auditor is aware of it. 

 

Modern Slavery Act 

NHS South Tyneside Clinical Commissioning Group fully supports the Government’s 
objectives to eradicate modern slavery and human trafficking but does not meet the 
requirements for producing an annual Slavery and Human Trafficking Statement as 
set out in the Modern Slavery Act 2015. 
 

Statement of Accountable Officer’s Responsibilities  
The National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended) states that each Clinical 
Commissioning Group shall have an Accountable Officer and that Officer shall be 
appointed by the NHS Commissioning Board (NHS England).  NHS England and 
Improvement has appointed Dr Neil O'Brien, Clinical Chief Officer to be the 
Accountable Officer of NHS South Tyneside CCG. 
 
The responsibilities of an Accountable Officer are set out under the National Health 
Service Act 2006 (as amended), Managing Public Money and in the Clinical 
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Commissioning Group Accountable Officer Appointment Letter.  They include 
responsibilities for:  

• The propriety and regularity of the public finances for which the Accountable 
Officer is answerable,  

• For keeping proper accounting records (which disclose with reasonable 
accuracy at any time the financial position of the Clinical Commissioning 
Group and enable them to ensure that the accounts comply with the 
requirements of the Accounts Direction),  

• For safeguarding the Clinical Commissioning Group’s assets (and hence for 
taking reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and other 
irregularities). 

• The relevant responsibilities of accounting officers under Managing Public 
Money, 

• Ensuring the CCG exercises its functions effectively, efficiently, and 
economically (in accordance with Section 14Q of the National Health Service 
Act 2006 (as amended)) and with a view to securing continuous improvement 
in the quality of services (in accordance with Section14R of the National 
Health Service Act 2006 (as amended)), 

• Ensuring that the CCG complies with its financial duties under Sections 223H 
to 223J of the National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended). 

 
Under the National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended), NHS England has 
directed each Clinical Commissioning Group to prepare for each financial year a 
statement of accounts in the form and on the basis set out in the Accounts Direction. 
The accounts are prepared on an accruals basis and must give a true and fair view 
of the state of affairs of the Clinical Commissioning Group and of its income and 
expenditure, Statement of Financial Position, and cash flows for the financial year. 
In preparing the accounts, the Accountable Officer is required to comply with the 
requirements of the Government Financial Reporting Manual and in particular to: 

• Observe the Accounts Direction issued by NHS England, including the 
relevant accounting and disclosure requirements, and apply suitable 
accounting policies on a consistent basis; 

• Make judgements and estimates on a reasonable basis; 

• State whether applicable accounting standards as set out in the Government 
Financial Reporting Manual have been followed, and disclose and explain any 
material departures in the accounts; and, 

• Prepare the accounts on a going concern basis; and 

• Confirm that the Annual Report and Accounts as a whole is fair, balanced, 
and understandable and take personal responsibility for the Annual Report 
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and Accounts and the judgements required for determining that it is fair, 
balanced and understandable. 

 
As the Accountable Officer, I have taken all the steps that I ought to have taken to 
make myself aware of any relevant audit information and to establish that NHS 
South Tyneside CCG auditors are aware of that information. So far as I am aware, 
there is no relevant audit information of which the auditors are unaware. 
 
I also confirm that:  

• as far as I am aware, there is no relevant audit information of which the 
CCG’s auditors are unaware, and that as Accountable Officer, I have taken all 
the steps that I ought to have taken to make myself aware of any relevant 
audit information and to establish that the CCG’s auditors are aware of that 
information.  

 
 

Governance Statement by the Accountable Officer  
 
Introduction  
 
NHS South Tyneside Clinical Commissioning Group (the CCG) is a body corporate 
established by NHS England on 1 April 2013 under the National Health Service Act 
2006 (as amended).  

The CCG’s statutory functions are set out under the National Health Service Act 
2006 (as amended). The CCG’s general function is arranging the provision of 
services for the purposes of the health service in England. The CCG is, in particular, 
required to arrange for the provision of certain health services to such extent as it 
considers necessary to meet the reasonable requirements of its local population. 

As at 1 April 2021, the CCCG is not subject to any directions from NHS England 
issued under Section 14Z21 of the National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended).  

The geographical area covered by the CCG is coterminous with the boundary of 
South Tyneside Metropolitan Borough Council and commission’s health care on 
behalf of a population of 148,000. As a membership organisation the CCG 
comprises of 21 practices that make up the membership, represented through the 
Council of Practices.  

The Governing Body and its formal sub-committees are responsible for the day to 
day governance of the organisation in accordance with the delegated functions set 
out in the CCG’s Constitution. 
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Scope of responsibility 
 
As Accountable Officer, I have responsibility for maintaining a sound system of 
internal control that supports the achievement of the CCG’s policies, aims and 
objectives, whilst safeguarding the public funds and assets for which I am personally 
responsible, in accordance with the responsibilities assigned to me in Managing 
Public Money.  I also acknowledge my responsibilities as set out in my Clinical 
Commissioning Group Accountable Officer Appointment Letter. 

I am responsible for ensuring that the CCG is administered prudently and 
economically and that resources are applied efficiently and effectively, safeguarding 
financial propriety and regularity. I also have responsibility for reviewing the 
effectiveness of the system of internal control within the CCG as set out in this 
governance statement. 

 

Governance arrangements and effectiveness 
 
The National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended), at paragraph 14L (2) (b) states: 

“The main function of the governing body is to ensure that the group has made 
appropriate arrangements for ensuring that it complies with such generally accepted 
principles of good governance as are relevant to it.” 

The CCG’s Constitution sets out the terms by which the CCG, through its appointed 
members, elected GP executives and Governing Body, implements all statutory 
obligations including the commissioning of secondary health care and other services 
in South Tyneside. The Constitution contains the main governance rules of the CCG 
and Governing Body. 

The Constitution was agreed and signed by all member practices at the inception of 
the CCG.  It has been reviewed and updated on a regular basis to ensure it remains 
fit for purpose and takes into account any subsequent guidance, as well as key 
elements such as: 

• specifying the arrangements made by the CCG for the discharge of its 
functions 

• specifying the arrangements made by the CCG for the discharge of the 
functions of the Governing Body 

• the procedures to be followed by the CCG in making decisions 

• the arrangements it has made to secure that individuals to whom health 
services are being or may be provided pursuant to its commissioning 
arrangements are involved 
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• arrangements made by the CCG for discharging its duties in respect of 
registers of interests and management of conflicts of interests 

• arrangements made by the CCG for ensuring that there is transparency about 
the decisions of the group and the manner in which they are made. 

As a membership organisation, the CCG has an established Council of Practices 
which has reserved a limited number of matters to itself (as specified in the CCG’s 
Scheme of Reservation and Delegation) having delegated the majority of functions 
and duties of the CCG, through means of the Constitution, to the Governing Body. 

The CCG has met regularly with its member practices through its Council of 
Practices and Educational Forums, moving these to virtual meetings from May 2020 
due to the impact of the Covid-19 pandemic.  Through these sessions, we kept our 
members up to date on key developments both nationally and locally across the 
CCG, as well as obtaining their views and feedback on key issues, improvements 
and future developments. 

We will hold our annual general meeting on 29 July 2021 in which we will share our 
key achievements during the year with member practices and the public and also 
highlight our priorities for the coming year.  We will include an overview of the CCG’s 
financial performance to demonstrate we have met our statutory duties in relation to 
these.   

The NHS Operational Planning and Contracting Guidance 2020/21 set out the 
requirement for practices to work as part of local primary care networks.  Primary 
care networks (PCNs) are based on GP registered lists, typically serving natural 
communities of around 30,000 to 50,000, being small enough to provide the personal 
care valued by both patients and GPs but large enough to have impact and 
economies of scale through better collaboration between practices and others in the 
local health and social care system. 
 
The CCG has three PCNs covering the East, West and South localities of South 
Tyneside.  The PCNs continue to build on the core of current primary care and 
enable greater provision of proactive, personalised, coordinated and more integrated 
health and social care. 
 

Governance Framework 

We use our governance framework to lead and manage the achievement of our 
vision to work collaboratively across South Tyneside to improve health and 
commission excellent health care.  We also use governance to lead and manage 
through our core values and the public sector values of accountability, probity and 
openness and our systems (such as governance structures and risk management 
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systems).  Details of our strategic objectives can be found in the performance report 
section of CCG’s annual report.   

We also use governance as the system of control, accountability and decision-
making at the highest level of the organisation.  The CCG governance framework 
comprises of the systems and processes and culture and values by which the CCG 
is directed and controlled. It enables us to monitor the achievement of our strategic 
objectives and ensure we deliver our vision of commissioning appropriate, cost-
effective services for the residents of South Tyneside.   

The CCG’s system of internal control is a significant part of the governance 
framework and is designed to manage risk to a reasonable level. It cannot eliminate 
all risk of failure to achieve policies, aims and objectives and therefore can only 
provide reasonable and not absolute assurance of effectiveness.  

Our system of internal control is based on an ongoing process designed to: 
• Identify and prioritise the risks to the achievement of policies, aims and 

objectives 
• Evaluate the likelihood of those risks materialising and the impact should 

they materialise,  
• Manage risks efficiently, effectively and economically 

 

The governance framework has been in place in the CCG for the whole of the year 
ending 31 March 2021 and up to the date of the approval of the statement of 
accounts. 

To ensure effective governance arrangements are in place within the CCG, the 
Governing Body and its sub-committees operate in such a way as to ensure it 
discharges its functions appropriately and are managed effectively. The Governing 
Body and committee agendas are structured to ensure key risks and issues were 
addressed and ensure continued delivery of our corporate objectives and priorities 
throughout the pandemic.   

The Governing Body has an agreed assurance framework in place (described in 
more detail in the control mechanisms section of this statement) which is supported 
by clear risk management processes to place for identifying, analysing, evaluating, 
controlling, monitoring and communicating risk. The Audit and Risk Committee 
oversees the risk management function on behalf of the Governing Body. 

The Governing Body has used its assurance framework to ensure delivery of the 
corporate objectives and has received regular updates on progress for assurance.  
The Audit and Risk Committee also supported this work and undertook regular 
reviews of the framework and process associated with it to ensure it remained robust 
throughout the year.  
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Governing Body and Committee Structure  

 

In 2020/21, the Governing Body met on 12 occasions via virtual meetings, six of 
which were streamed live to the public.  The other six occasions were used for 
dedicated sessions on the CCG’s response to Covid-19 as well as maintaining a 
detailed focus on other key areas.  The Governing Body membership is set out in the 
members report of this annual report.   

The Governing Body’s committee structure reflects guidance and best practice and 
includes an Executive Committee, Audit and Risk Committee, Quality and Patient 
Safety Committee, Primary Care Commissioning Committee and Remuneration 
Committee. 

Each committee has agreed terms of reference to outline their key areas of 
responsibility and accountability to the Governing Body.  These terms of reference are 
reviewed on a regular basis to ensure they remain relevant and reflect the committee’s 
role and responsibilities.    

Agendas are structured to deal with strategic, performance, quality, assurance, risk 
and governance issues, as well as patient experience via patient stories at public 
governing body meetings.  These arrangements meet the requirements of best 
practice guidance in respect of risk management and ensure that a robust assurance 
framework is in place and consistently reviewed.  They also reflect the public service 
values of accountability, probity and openness and specify, as Accountable Officer, 
my responsibility for ensuring these values are met within the CCG. 
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Governing Body and Committee Attendance Record  

Member 
Role 

 

Audit and 
Risk 

Committee 

Quality and 
Patient 
Safety 

Committee 

Governing 
Body 

Executive 
Committee 

Primary Care 
Commissioning 

Committee 
Remuneration 

Committee 

Dr Matthew 
Walmsley 
Chair*  

 4/5 6/6 10/11 4/5 3/3 

Dr Neil O'Brien 
Accountable Officer* 
 

  6/6 9/11   

Dr Tarquin Cross 
Secondary Care 
Consultant* 

 5/5 5/6  2/5  

Ms Kate Hudson 
Chief Officer/Chief 
Finance Officer* 

4/4  5/6 10/11 3/5  

Mr Matt Brown  
Executive Director of 
Operations*  

  6/6 8/11 3/5  

Mrs Jeanette Scott 
Executive Director of 
Nursing, Quality and 
Safety* 

 5/5 6/6 10/11 4/5  

Mr Paul Cuskin 
Lay Member, Patient 
and Public 
Involvement*  

4/4 4/5 4/6  2/5 3/3 

Mr John Whitehouse 
Lay Member, Audit* 4/4  5/6   2/3 

Mrs Pat Harle 
Lay Member, Primary 
Care Commissioning 
and Quality*  

4/4 5/5 6/6  4/5 3/3 

Ms Louise Lydon, 
Primary Care Health 
Professional* 

 0/5 6/6  4/5 0/3 

Mr Tom Hall  
Executive Director of 
Public Health, South 
Tyneside Council  

  6/6 9/11   

Ms Sue Ross 
Director of Adults 
Services 
(July to December 
2020) 

  0/3 4/6   

Ms Vicki Pattison  
Interim Director of 
Adult Services, South 
Tyneside Council – 
(Attended Governing 
Body from January 

  2/2 8/11   
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Description of Established Governing Body Committees 

The roles of each of the Governing Body Committees are set out broadly below.  The 
Governing Body committees have authority under the Scheme of Reservation and 
Delegation to establish sub committees or sub-groups to enable them to fulfill their 
role.  Each of the Governing Body Committees has detailed terms of reference and 
is authorised by the Governing Body to pursue any activity as set out in its terms of 
reference and within the scheme of reservation and delegation.   

Remuneration Committee 

The Committee is established to advise on and recommend to the Governing Body 
the appropriate remuneration and terms of service for the Chief Officer and other 
staff paid through the Very Senior Manager Pay Framework. The Committee also 
advises on and makes recommendations to the Governing Body on the 
remuneration for the role of Chair, remuneration and terms of service of any 
independent lay members and clinical directors and reviews any business cases for 
early retirement and redundancy.  

Audit and Risk Committee 

In line with the requirements of the NHS Audit Committee Handbook and NHS 
Codes of Conduct and Accountability, the Committee provides the organisation with 
an independent and objective review of their financial systems, financial information 
and compliance with laws, guidance, and regulations governing the NHS. The 
Committee reviews the establishment and maintenance of an effective system of 

2021) 

Dr Jon Tose, Clinical 
Director 
 (until August 2020) 

   3/3   

Dr David Julien, 
Clinical Director    11/11   

Dr James Gordon, 
Clinical Director    8/11   

Dr Nousha Ali, 
Clinical Director – 
took up role Sept 20 

   8/11   

Dr Jennifer Hunter, 
Clinical Director – 
took up role Sept 20 

   7/11   

Ros Whitehead, 
Practice Manager & 
Engagement Lead 

   7/11   

denotes does not attend Committee/Governing Body 
*     denotes voting right on the Governing Body  
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integrated governance, risk management and internal control, across the whole of 
the organisation’s activities. An annual Counter Fraud Plan is agreed by the 
Committee which focuses on the deterrence, prevention, detection and investigation 
of fraud. The Committee is a non-executive committee of the Governing Body and 
has no executive powers, other than those specifically delegated in its terms of 
reference. Annually the Committee also carries out a self-assessment of its 
effectiveness.  

The Committee’s cycle of business enables the Audit and Risk Committee to carry 
out its key objectives necessary to support its assurances regarding the 
effectiveness of the organisation’s internal controls.  

In accordance with the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014, the Audit and Risk 
Committee has also taken on the responsibility for the appointment of external 
auditors as an Auditor Panel. 

Quality and Patient Safety Committee 

The principal purpose of the Quality and Patient Safety Committee is to ensure that 
the appropriate governance systems and processes are in place to commission, 
monitor and ensure the delivery of high-quality safe patient care in commissioned 
services and to facilitate, monitor and ensure quality improvement in general medical 
practice working with the NHS England and Improvement.  

Significantly, during the year through its cycle of business, the Committee and its 
associated sub-committees have considered a number of quality and patient safety 
matters including monitoring provider quality and patient safety performance using a 
range of metrics. In addition, the Committee has reviewed assurance reports 
regarding quality of care in nursing homes, safeguarding and commissioning for 
quality and innovation schemes.  

Executive Committee 

The Executive Committee is responsible for delivery of the CCG’s overall 
management, to support the CCG to work efficiently, effectively and economically, 
ensuring clinical engagement and promoting the involvement of all member practices 
in the work of the CCG in securing improvements in commissioning of care and 
services. The committee ensures best practice in its decision making, and in 
particular ensures that decisions are based on clear and transparent criteria. The 
Committee has delegated authority to commit expenditure according to the CCG’s 
Scheme of Reservation and Delegation. 

Primary Care Commissioning Committee 

In accordance with its statutory powers under section 13Z of the National Health 
Service Act 2006 (as amended), NHS England delegated responsibility for the 
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commissioning of primary care services to the CCG. Accordingly, in April 2017 the 
CCG established a Primary Care Commissioning Committee with delegated 
functions for the commissioning of primary care services. The Committee’s terms of 
reference and a supporting schedule provide details of the extent of the delegation 

In accordance with guidance and in order to avoid any conflicts of interests, the 
meetings are held in public and it is chaired by the Lay Member of Primary Care 
Commissioning and Quality.  The GP membership on the committee is in an 
advisory capacity only and non-voting.  

 
Joint Committee Arrangements  
The CCG has the following joint and collaborative arrangements in place to make 
commissioning decisions through delegation arrangements. These are as follows: 
 

• South Tyneside Health and Wellbeing Board 
• South Tyneside Council (section 75) agreement in place for joint 

commissioning arrangements for the Better Care Fund 
• Collaborative arrangements with the other North East and North Cumbria 

CCGs with regards to commissioning arrangements for contracts with 
NHS healthcare providers across the North East and Cumbria 

• Joint arrangements with the North East CCGs to determine commissioning 
for health gain policies and to review and approve individual funding 
requests, including conducting an appeals process 

• Joint arrangements with the North East CCGs to advise upon and make 
recommendations to CCGs on high-cost cancer drugs and high-cost 
treatments 

• Joint arrangements with the North East CCGs to provide a partnership 
forum to work together with trade union and professional organisation 
representatives to discuss issues relating to employment matters affecting 
their employees 

 
The groups identified above have an agreed governance structure in place with 
specific roles, responsibilities and accountabilities or are covered by individual 
CCGs' governance arrangements where appropriate and agreed. Any investments 
and decisions made by these groups are formally documented and reviewed 
regularly as part of the CCG contracting and performance arrangements. 
 
We continue to work closely with our partner organisations across the local health 
community to ensure we commission high quality services for the residents of South 
Tyneside. A significant part of this partnership working continues to be with South 
Tyneside Metropolitan Borough Council in the delivery of the Better Care Fund 
(BCF).  The combined total for the BCF Fund was £14.1m in 2020/21 which is being 
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used to enable much needed changes to improve services across both the health 
and care sectors whilst making maximum use of the combined resources. Robust 
governance arrangements are in place around the BCF and demonstrate the 
strength of the links that we have with the Council.   
 

Health and social care integration 
The CCG and Council have worked in partnership over the past three years to 
transform the delivery of care across South Tyneside and have established robust 
alliancing arrangements with other key partners to strengthen the connections 
between local health and social care services.   

This work supports the future direction of the NHS commissioning landscape in 
having larger, more strategic commissioning organisations supported by place-based 
arrangements , coterminous with local authorities.  This built upon the approach set 
out in the NHS Long Term Plan (Jan 2019) and reiterated in the planning guidance 
issued in August 2020.  Going forward collaboration is a key factor in bringing 
together those organisations who commission and deliver care across a local place-
based system as part of an Integrated Care System (ICS), making collective 
decisions on how to achieve the best outcomes for local residents.   

We have moved forward with our alliancing arrangements during March 2020 and 
have established the Alliance Executive Committee (AEC) which will act on behalf of 
the South Tyneside system to work efficiently, effectively and economically through 
improved commissioning of local health and care services.  Through this 
collaborative model, the AEC will support the alignment of health and care services, 
ensuring effective clinical engagement and promoting the involvement of all key 
stakeholders in improving the health and wellbeing of local people.  

By strengthening the governance framework for partnership arrangements, we are 
taking the next step in the transition to the ICS approach and will continue to build 
upon the well-established and successful joint working already in place with key 
partners across the Borough.  The AEC will continue to evolve over the coming 
months as the CCG's the transitions into the new ICS system.  

 

Governance During Covid-19 Pandemic 
As a result of the Covid-19 pandemic and the national guidance on how NHS 
organisations need to respond is changing rapidly, the CCG needs to adapt its 
internal decision making and assurance processes to ensure it can respond quickly 
and appropriately whilst still ensuring good governance.  
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National Directions  
The Secretary of State for Health and Social Care set down national directions on 27 
March 2020 for the exercise of certain commissioning functions as set out in the 
NHS Act 2006 (as amended) in response to the Covid-19 pandemic.  This changed 
the legislative responsibility for a number of CCG commissioning functions to NHS 
England and Improvement and resulted in the CCG operating under a national level 
four 'command and control' situation for majority of the year.  This added a level of 
complexity to the CCG's normal governance structures and processes to which the 
CCG responded appropriately to ensure it continued to maintain a focus on 
governance and internal control mechanisms. 

 
 
Emergency powers and urgent decisions – Governing Body and sub-
committees  
The Standing Orders contained within the CCG Constitution allow for emergency 
powers and urgent decisions to be taken.  These arrangements contained within the 
CCG’s Standing Orders apply also to sub-committees within the CCG’s committee 
structure, with Chair’s action allowing for urgent decisions to be taken outwith agreed 
meeting structures (where circumstances demand it), with the resulting action and 
decision recorded and ratified at the next meeting of that sub-committee. These 
include Executive Committee, Audit and Risk Committee, Primary Care 
Commissioning Committee and Quality and Patient Safety Committee.  
 
The frequency and timing of meetings did not fit well with the speed at which 
decision-making was required in response to the pandemic and as a result, the CCG 
needed to utilise emergency powers and provisions for urgent decisions contained 
within the Constitution to enable it to respond appropriately but still within a formal 
governance structure. 
 
The CCG undertook a review of its Scheme of Reservation and Delegation in 
response to Covid-19 and an emergency and temporary scheme of delegation was 
put in place to give greater flexibility to the operational teams managing the response 
to the pandemic.  This was approved by the Governing Body initially for the period 
26 March to 31 July 2020.  The Governing Body agreed to extend the Scheme in 
July 2020 for the remainder of the financial year until 31 March 2021 and agreed for 
the Scheme permanent as from 1 April 2021 at its meeting on 25 March 2021. 
 
 
Implications for Governing Body/Committee meetings during Covid-19 
The NHS England and Improvement letter ‘Reducing the Burden’ dated 28 March 
2020 set out some suggestions as to how Trusts and CCGs could reduce the burden 
on their workforce and release capacity, both clinical and non-clinical wherever 
possible.   
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The CCG reviewed its scheduled meetings and governance requirements in April 
2020 and were able to maintain these on a virtual basis by focussing the agendas of 
both the Governing Body and its supporting sub-committees on essential business 
only as well as supporting and responding to the pandemic as needed across the 
South Tyneside and wider system.      

 
 

Assessment of Governing Body Effectiveness 

We have reported on our corporate governance arrangements by drawing upon best 
practice available.  During the year, the Governing Body has continuously reviewed 
feedback on the effectiveness of each of its meetings using a standard template and 
criteria including evidence of constructive challenge, evidence of contributions 
beyond member disciplines, behaviour, pace and enthusiasm.   

We continuously monitor our process for managing conflicts of interest to ensure any 
actual or potential interests are managed effectively and robustly.  The CCG was not 
required to submit quarterly assurance returns to NHS England and Improvement 
during 2020/21 as this process was stepped down due to the impact of the 
pandemic.  However the CCG has continued to manage conflicts of interest during 
this period and has not had any breaches at the time of writing this statement.  Our 
register is publicly available on the CCG’s website. 
 
The Governing Body has held regular virtual development sessions throughout the 
year to continuously review, develop and enhance its effectiveness.  The sessions 
covered a range of key topics such as: 

• Covid-19 response and recovery 
• System-wide development of the integrated care system and partnerships  
• End of Life care   
• Planning and priorities  
• Place based development - primary care networks and alliance arrangements 

with the local authority  
 
Having reviewed the effectiveness of the Governing Body’s governance framework 
and associated guidance, I consider that the organisation has followed and applied 
the principles and standards of best practice. 

 

Discharge of Statutory Functions 

The arrangements put in place by the CCG and explained within the corporate 
governance framework were developed with extensive expert external legal input, to 
ensure compliance with all relevant legislation. That legal advice also informed the 
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matters reserved for membership body and Governing Body decision and the 
scheme of delegation. 

In light of the 2013 Harris Review, the CCG has reviewed all of the statutory duties 
and powers conferred on it by the National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended) 
and other associated legislative and regulations. As a result, I can confirm that the 
CCG is clear about the legislative requirements associated with each of the statutory 
functions for which it is responsible, including any restrictions on delegation of those 
functions. 

Responsibility for each duty and power has been clearly allocated to a lead director. 
The director teams have confirmed that their structures provide the necessary 
capability and capacity to undertake all of the CCG’s statutory duties. 

 

Risk Management Arrangements and Effectiveness  

Effective risk management is an integral part of the work of the CCG in delivering 
against its corporate objectives and strategic priorities in the stewardship of public 
funds.  The Governing Body has a responsibility to maintain a strategic view of the 
organisation’s risk appetite, as set out in the CCG’s risk management framework, 
and to set boundaries to guide staff on the limits of risk they are able to accept in the 
pursuit of achieving its organisational objectives. 
 
The CCG risk management framework takes into account current guidance on risk 
management as well as established best practice. The framework sets out the CCG’s 
approach to risk and the management of risk in the fulfilment of its overall objective 
to commission high quality and safe services. In addition, the adoption and 
embedding of an effective risk management framework and processes helps to 
ensure that the reputation of the CCG is maintained and enhanced, and its 
resources are used effectively to reform services through innovation, large-scale 
prevention, improved quality and greater productivity. 

 
Key elements of the framework include: 

• Clear statements on the responsibilities of the Governing Body and its sub 
committees as well as individual accountability for delivery of the 
framework 

• Clear principles, aims and objectives of the risk management process 
• Clear processes for the management of risk in commissioned services, 

partnership working and the delivery of the quality, innovation, productivity 
and prevention programme 

• A clearly defined process for assessing and managing risks, including 
implementation and dissemination of the framework to all staff 
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• Details of the approach to be undertaken to assess and report risks, 
including incident reporting, serious incidents and safeguarding 

• Confirmation of the arrangements for reporting of and managing risks 
through the risk register process 

• Arrangements for monitoring and review of the framework 
 
Risk management is embedded in the activity of the CCG through: 

• The risk management framework and its supporting policies and 
procedures 

• The committee structure described earlier in this statement 
• A risk management workshop including directors and senior team  
• The management processes (e.g. a risk-based approach to help prioritise 

strategic planning, identify risks to the achievement of organisational 
objectives and the delivery of work programmes)    

• The Governing Body assurance framework 
• Risk management skills training, including risk assessments of various 

types and the mandatory and statutory training programme for all staff 
• A robust incident reporting system through which staff are actively 

encouraged to report incidents to help identify risks 

• A clear policy and process in place for staff to raise any concerns in 
relation to potential fraud risks 

 
Understanding, monitoring and mitigating risks are fundamental tasks in a successful 
organisation, as well as basic aspect of good governance. As such, it is the 
responsibility of the Governing Body to determine the best place for risk 
management to positioned ensuring effective management and assurance 
processes are in place.  The overall risk management approach ensures that the 
framework is coordinated across the whole organisation. 
 
As a formal sub-committee of the Governing Body, the Audit and Risk Committee 
provides the Governing Body with an independent and objective view of the CCG’s 
financial systems, financial information, and compliance with laws, regulations and 
directions governing the CCG in so far as they relate to finance. The Committee also 
provides assurance to the Governing Body that systems were in place and operating 
effectively for the identification, assessment and prioritisation of risks, potential and 
actual, and to report on any major strategic issues and any associated financial 
implications to the Governing Body and other external agencies as appropriate.  

The Committee’s specific responsibilities relating to risk management are to;  
• Oversee the risk management system and obtain assurances that there is an 

effective system operating across the CCG 
• Report to the Governing Body any significant risk management issues   
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The Committee also reviewed the Governing Body assurance framework (GBAF) to 
ensure the Governing Body received assurances that effective controls were in place 
to manage all strategic risks aligned to the corporate objectives. It provided 
assurance with regards to risks to the services being commissioned ae well as 
overall risks to the organisation’s strategic and operational plans.  
 
Dedicated risk management workshops are held throughout the year with executive 
and senior leads to review and updated the GBAF along with the risk registers.  
agers in dedicated workshop sessions. The CCG tries to reduce risks to the lowest 
level reasonably practicable.  Where risks cannot reasonably be avoided, every 
effort is made to mitigate the remaining risk.   
 
The Executive and Quality and Patient Safety Committees review and manage any 
strategic or operational risks pertaining to the committee’s area of focus on 
exceptional basis. 
 
Additional risk management support  
The CCG has a service line agreement in place with North of England 
Commissioning Support (NECS) to provide specialist support and advice in relation 
to risk management in conjunction with the Head of Corporate Affairs.  This support 
includes the management of the Safeguard Incident and Risk Management System 
which is the system the CCG uses to record and analyse all identified risks. 
 
Other risk management processes  
The equality and quality impact assessment processes are well established within 
the CCG and staff receive regular training and updates to ensure any risks 
associated with these are identified and managed. The Governing Body and 
committee report cover sheets also include reference to both processes to 
demonstrate compliance with this duty and highlight any potential issues.      
 
The CCG involves key stakeholders and the public in the management of risks 
through its public Governing Body meetings. The risk register is a regular item on 
the public agenda and there is an opportunity for questions to be asked on the 
register as a whole or any specific risks during the meeting. In addition, key 
stakeholders and the public are invited to specific events such to discuss issues and 
topics in detail, which includes identifying and assessing relevant risks.  
 
There is also the opportunity through the CCG’s involvement and engagement 
activities and collaborative working across the health economy to discuss risks 
openly and to help identify ways in which they should be managed. By working in an 
inclusive way with the public, this ensures the CCG takes into account the views of 
the public and key stakeholders.  Any such views form a crucial part of developing 
robust mitigating action plans for any identified risks. 
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Control Mechanisms 
The CCG’s corporate objectives were reviewed by the Governing Body during the 
year and no changes were made for 2020/21.   
 
The CCG's corporate objectives are:  

 
The Governing Body maintains oversight of the internal control and risk management 
frameworks and seeks assurance that these are being managed within appropriate 
delegated limits, with specified objectives and robust action plans.  Whenever risks 
to the achievement of the CCG’s objectives are identified, an assessment is 
undertaken to ensure the appropriate controls are put in place (using any existing 
strategic risks identified on the risk register and aligning these to the corporate 
objectives).   
 
Supporting action plans are also identified and implemented to mitigate these risks 
materialising as far as possible.  A number of controls and assurances, along with 
associated gaps in assurance and controls, are also identified and together these 
form the Governing Body Assurance Framework (GBAF). 
 
The GBAF is reviewed six-monthly by the Audit and Risk Committee which provides 
the Governing Body with assurance on the adequacy and effectiveness of the GBAF. 
 
Specific risks relating to the 2020/21 GBAF are included in the performance section 
of this annual report.    
 
A number of gaps in assurance and controls were identified in reviewing and 
agreeing the assurance framework.  These have been monitored as appropriate 
within the committee structure. 
 
A number of audits have also been conducted throughout the year focusing on key 
governance areas such as standards of business conduct, corporate decision-
making, financial systems and risk management.  The outcomes of these audits are 
shown in the Head of Internal Audit Opinion summary later in this statement.   
 

Corporate Objectives 2020/21  
1. Developing and delivering the CCG’s key strategic priorities: 
     1a:  Ensuring integrated commissioning and delivery of services 
     1b:  Enabling people to take greater responsibility for their own health 
     1c:  Enabling people to receive timely, safe and appropriate care 
        1d:  Enabling people to stay well in their own homes and communities 
2. Making the best use of resources 
3. Improving patient experience and wellbeing 
4. Ensuring the CCG is a well-led organisation 
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The CCG’s commissioning plans describes the long-term vision for health and social 
care of South Tyneside.  Risks to delivery of this plan have been systematically 
identified and managed as part of the detailed planning process and in collaboration 
with all relevant partners, using a risk-based assessment of likelihood and 
consequence.   
 
The CCG’s financial framework has also been developed using a risk-based 
approach to ensure a balanced financial plan year on year.  Contingencies were 
identified within the financial framework to ensure high level financial risks could be 
addressed. The CCG used its local prioritisation process to enable the balance of 
investments and disinvestments to be robustly assessed and reviewed.  In addition, 
the process to develop and approve business cases has also been reviewed in year.  
 
The North East and North Cumbria (NENC) geographical area has been established 
as an integrated care system (ICS).  The NENC ICS aims to develop and work 
towards a shared local vision regarding care both inside and outside our hospitals 
underpinned by better integration with local authority services in respect of 
prevention, early intervention and social care. 
 
We are part of the South Tyneside and Sunderland Partnership leading the Path to 
Excellence programme which includes NHS Sunderland CCG and South Tyneside 
and Sunderland NHS Foundation Trust.  This is a transformational programme in 
relation to acute (in hospital) services across South Tyneside and Sunderland.  
Further information on this work programme can be found on the Path to Excellence 
website (https://pathtoexcellence.org.uk/)  
 

As a CCG, we have a duty to work with partners to improve the health of the local 
population. Partnerships can involve high levels of risk due to their complexities 
making robust risk management an essential element of partnership governance.  
We have ensured that any work carried out across the health and social care 
economy adhered to the CCG’s principles of robust risk management, focusing on 
those areas considered to be of highest risk and undertaking appropriate risk 
assessments and mitigating action plans as necessary. 

 
Capacity to Handle Risk 
The responsibility for risk management is identified at all levels across the CCG, from 
Governing Body members, directors and to all managers and staff. 
 
As Accountable Officer, I have overall responsibility to ensure the implementation of 
the framework with supporting risk management systems and internal control. I also 
ensure an appropriate committee structure is in place to meet all the statutory 
requirements and ensure positive performance towards the achievement of the 
CCG’s strategic priorities. Day to day responsibility for risk management was 

https://pathtoexcellence.org.uk/
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delegated to the Executive Director of Operations between the period 1 April to 31 
October 2020.  As from 1 November 2020, this responsibility was delegated to the 
Head of Corporate Affairs. 
 
The Chief Officer/Chief Finance Officer provides expert professional advice to the 
Governing Body on the efficient and economic use of the CCG’s financial resources.  
This includes ensuring the CCG has appropriate arrangements in place for audit and 
identifying risks and mitigating actions in the delivery of agreed quality improvement 
programmes. 

Each director of the CCG is responsible for: 

• Co-ordinating operational risk in their specific areas in accordance with the 
risk management framework 

• Ensuring that all areas of risk are assessed appropriately and action taken to 
implement improvements 

• Ensuring that staff under their management are aware of their risk 
management responsibilities in relation to the Risk Management Framework 

• Incorporating risk management as a management technique within the 
performance management arrangements for the organisation 

• Promoting risk management processes with the CCG’s member practices.   
 
All managers within the CCG have a responsibility to incorporate risk management 
within all aspects of their work in line with the requirements set out in the risk 
management framework.  Appropriate training has also taken place over the year to 
enable managers to undertake their risk management duties appropriately and 
enable them to share best practice.   
 
The structure within the CCG to manage risk is detailed as follows:  
 

Committee Responsibility for Risk 
Management 

Role 

Governing Body  Maintains oversight of the 
internal control and risk 
management frameworks 

Seek assurance on behalf of the 
CCG membership that risks are 
being managed appropriately 
within delegated limits, with 
specific objectives and robust 
action plans to ensure the CCG 
meets its statutory duties and 
functions. 

Audit and Risk 
Committee 
 

Main committee with 
responsibility for oversight 
of the risk management 

Receives regular information on 
risks and provides assurance to 
the Governing Body progress is 
being made towards mitigating 
these.  
Reviews the Governing Body 
Assurance Framework and 
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provides assurance to the 
Governing Body that the CCG is 
discharging its functions 
appropriately.   

Risk management 
workshops   

Supports the Audit and 
Risk Committee in 
managing risk across the 
CCG.   

Provides assurance to the Audit 
and Risk Committee on the 
embedding of the CCG’s risk 
management policy and 
framework, with a particular focus 
on the risk register system and 
process. 

Other formal sub-
committees 

Review risks and key 
issues on an exceptional 
basis (relevant to each 
committee terms of 
reference). 

Undertakes this role for additional 
scrutiny when required.   
 

 

Risk Assessment 
The CCG has ensured that its risk management processes are embedded throughout 
the organisation and provide a clear process for identifying, analysing, evaluating, 
managing, controlling, monitoring and communicating risk. The types of risks the 
CCG faces include corporate (accountability to the public), clinical (associated with 
our commissioning responsibilities), reputational and financial risks.   
 
The CCG continues to use a standard matrix methodology in the application of a risk 
rating to ensure a consistent approach to the prioritisation of risks and effective 
targeting of resources.  Risks are assessed using the consequence and likelihood of 
that risk occurring, giving an overall rating of extreme, high, moderate or low. This 
rating is recorded against the identified risk and managed via a serious of controls 
and actions and progress is monitored via the CCG’s governance processes.   
Risks are aligned to the CCG’s corporate objectives and assurance framework, with 
appropriate director leads, to identify existing or prospective risks to the organisation.   
 
The corporate register focuses on the extreme and high risks that have been 
identified to the delivery of the CCG’s strategic objectives and a strategic risk register 
supports the GBAF (as described in the controls mechanisms section previously).    
In addition, risks are identified through our strategic planning process and monitored 
via our performance management system that rates all objectives for risk to delivery. 
 
The CCG service line agreement with NECS also includes further support, advice 
and training in relation risk assessment.   
 
By using the risk register framework, this has enabled the CCG to maintain a 
continued focus on those risks with a potential greater impact on the organisation at 
both committee and Governing Body level and ensure mitigating action plans were 
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put in place to address these.  Progress has been monitored closely by the Audit and 
Risk Committee and Governing Body. 
 
 

Other Sources of Assurance 
 

Internal Control Framework  
A system of internal control is the set of processes and procedures in place in the 
CCG to ensure it delivers its policies, aims and objectives. It is designed to identify 
and prioritise the risks, to evaluate the likelihood of those risks being realised and the 
impact should they be realised, and to manage them efficiently, effectively and 
economically.  

The system of internal control allows risk to be managed to a reasonable level rather 
than eliminating all risk. It can therefore only provide reasonable and not absolute 
assurance of effectiveness.  

The committee structure within the CCG has been established to ensure there are 
robust reporting mechanisms and clear lines of accountability in place to provide 
assurance to the Governing Body, and ultimately our members, that the CCG is 
discharging its activities and functions effectively.  Each committee is subject to an 
annual review of effectiveness and this is reviewed by the Governing Body. 
 
The scheme of delegation and reservation sets out the responsibilities of the 
membership, Governing Body and its sub-committees, the Accountable Officer and 
other directors to ensure the CCG discharges its functions appropriately.  The 
scheme is explicit in defining where the responsibilities lie in delivering each of these 
key functions and also provides a framework by which the Governing Body, on 
behalf of the members, can seek assurance these are being done so appropriately.     
 
The CCG financial framework also forms part of the internal control framework and 
includes a number of approved policies and procedures as well as a financial 
scheme of delegation.  This ensures these individuals have a clear framework in 
place within which they can make financial decisions.  Compliance with the scheme 
is monitored by the Audit and Risk Committee and Governing Body to ensure 
delegated limits are being adhered to.   

The CCG has delegated authority for primary medical care commissioning function 
from NHS England and Improvement and has robust control mechanisms in place to 
ensure the CCG delivers the requirements of the delegated function appropriately.  A 
signed delegation agreement between the CCG and NHS England and Improvement 
is in place and sets out the roles and responsibilities of each organisation.  The 
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Primary Care Commissioning Committee oversees this function as set out in the 
CCG’s Constitution. 

Annual audit of conflicts of interest management 
The statutory guidance on managing conflicts of interest for CCGs requires an 
annual internal audit of conflicts of interest management to be undertaken.  The 
CCG has carried out an annual audit of conflicts of interest and received a rating of 
substantial from the CCG’s internal auditors, AuditOne.  
 

Data Quality 
The Governing Body and member practices are aware of the importance of 
maintaining high standards of information governance and securing confidentiality of 
patients’ information. As the Accountable Officer, I receive assurance from the 
Executive Director of Operations as Senior Information Risk Owner (SIRO) and the 
Clinical Chair as Caldicott Guardian that this function is discharged appropriately, 
with the Executive Committee maintaining oversight of this.  Both are supported in 
their roles by the Head of Corporate Affairs and via a service line agreement with 
NECS to provide specialist advice, support and training on information governance 
issues. 
 
The Governing Body and member practices are satisfied with the quality of data 
used to inform decision-making and planning to deliver the commissioning agenda 
and to ensure the CCG meets its statutory requirements. 
 

Information Governance and Data Security 
The NHS information governance framework sets out the processes and procedures 
by which the NHS handles information about patients and employees, in particular 
personal identifiable information. The NHS information governance framework is 
supported by an information governance toolkit and the annual submission process 
provides assurances to the CCG, other organisations and to individuals that personal 
information is dealt with legally, securely, efficiently and effectively.   
 
The CCG has undertaken a self-assessment against the specified assertions within 
the toolkit and assessed ourselves as being fully compliant by 31 March 2021.  A 
review of some toolkit assertions was undertaken by AuditOne but as this is no 
longer a formal audit, an assurance rating is not given but any areas identified for 
improvement or as best practice are highlighted.    
 
We place high importance on ensuring there are robust information governance 
systems and processes in place to help protect patient and corporate information. 
We have an established information governance framework, including an approved 
strategy, both of which are reviewed on an annual basis, and have developed 
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information governance processes and procedures in line with the information 
governance toolkit.   
 
There are processes in place for incident reporting and investigation of serious 
incidents and a programme of mandatory training for information risk management 
and incident management. The CCG’s information governance framework helps to 
ensure all staff are aware of their information governance roles and responsibilities 
and it is embedded into everyday practice of the CCG.  
 
We have ensured all staff undertake annual information governance training and 
have a staff information governance handbook to ensure staff are aware of their 
information governance roles and responsibilities.  The handbook is reviewed on an 
annual basis to ensure it remains up to date and relevant.  

NECS as the provider of IT services to the CCG has a range of controls in place to 
ensure data security.  Control objectives include physical access, logical access, 
segregation of duties, data transmissions, data centre environmental controls, IT 
processing, data integrity and backups, change management procedures, network 
security measures, data migration, problem and incident resolution, system recovery 
and disaster recovery pans. 

I can confirm the CCG has had no serious information governance breaches in year. 

Business Critical models 
I can confirm that an appropriate framework and environment is in place to provide 
quality assurance of business- critical models, in line with the recommendations in 
the Macpherson report. 
 

Third Party Assurances  
The CCG currently contracts with a number of external organisations for the 
provision of back office services and functions and as such has established an 
internal control system to gain assurance from these. These external services 
include: 

• The provision of Oracle financial system and financial accounting support 
from NHS Shared Business Services. The use of NHS Shared Business 
Services is mandated by NHS England and Improvement (NHSEI) for all 
CCGs and is fundamental in producing NHSEI group financial accounts 
through the use of an integrated financial ledger system 

• The provision of financial accounting services from the North of England 
Commissioning Support  

• The provision of payroll services from Northumbria Healthcare NHS 
Foundation Trust 

• The provision of the ESR payroll systems support from McKesson 
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• The provision of practice payment services via the Exeter system 
processed by NHSEI   

 
Assurance on the effectiveness of the controls is received in part from annual service 
audit reports and internal audit assurance reports from the relevant service providers 
as well as additional testing of controls by the CCG’s internal auditors.  The outcome 
from these audits is reported to the Audit and Risk committee and subsequently the 
Governing Body via the committee’s minutes. 
 
For 2020/21, the following was noted: 
• Payroll:  no issues of concern were raised during the year. 
• NHS Business Services Authority (BSA): There were no significant issues 

reported in year in relation to any internal control issues at the BSA affecting the 
provision of the service to the CCG. 

• Capita: The CCG received the assurance report on 5th May 2021 relating to the 
period 1st April 2020 to 31st March 2021.   The report gave a qualified opinion for 
three out of sixteen control objectives.  However, the External Auditors have 
advised that they do not rely on this SAR, undertake comprehensive testing 
themselves and that they are assured that the CCG has in place compensating 
controls.  

 
 
Review of Economy, Efficiency and Effectiveness of the 
Use of Resources 
 
For 2020/21 the business rules for CCGs were determined by NHS England and 
Improvement (NHSEI) and a revised national financial framework was put in place in 
response to the Covid-19 pandemic.   
 
A financial framework was set for April to July (extended to September), this was 
followed by a framework for October through to March 2021.  The annual planning 
round was suspended and budgets were presented to Governing Body for approval 
based on the revised financial frameworks. 
 
Under both frameworks, NHSEI calculated the resource required by the CCG using 
historic expenditure data and CCG forecasts.  It further determined block contract 
values with our main hospital providers that applied for the full year. 
 
For the first half of the year, many costs relating to Covid-19 were claimed 
retrospectively from NHSEI.  For the second half of the year, allocations were made 
to on an integrated care partnerships (ICP) footprint.  These included CCG core 
allocations, top up funding for hospital providers and an allocation for Covid-19 
costs.  The ICP agreed how the funding would be distributed across partners using a 
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Memorandum of Understanding that was developed and authorised by all 
organisations in the ICP. 
 
South Tyneside CCG sits within the Central ICP which consists of the following 
organisations: 

• County Durham CCG 
• South Tyneside CCG 
• Sunderland CCG 
• County Durham and Darlington Foundation Trust 
• South Tyneside and Sunderland Foundation Trust.  

 
During the year, AuditOne undertook an audit of Covid-19 commissioning and 
costing and this report received substantial assurance. 
 
The annual efficiency programme was suspended for 2020/21. 

During 2020/21 performance of the CCG and compliance with its licence has been 
assessed by the NHSEI Regional Team in line with the CCG Assurance Framework. 
At the time of writing this report, the CCG had not yet received its final year-end 
assessment. 

AuditOne has undertaken a review of the CCG’s financial controls during the year 
and the CCG achieved an outcome rating of substantial assurance.    
 
Under the new VFM external audit approach applying from 2020/21 onwards, the 
external auditors (Mazars) is required to be satisfied that the body “has made proper 
arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of 
resources” and report any significant weaknesses in arrangements in its Annual 
Auditor’s Report.  
 
 
Delegation of functions 
The CCG has delegated decision-making on an aspect of its expenditure through a 
pooled funding arrangement with South Tyneside Council - the Better Care Fund.  
Additionally, separate arrangements exist in relation to NHS continuing healthcare, 
funded nursing care and personal health budgets, as well as an integrated budget 
and risk share arrangement for learning disabilities.  Governance processes have 
been clearly outlined in a formal agreement and control of resources remains within 
the CCG. The CCG interfaces with the Council on these arrangements in a range of 
ways, such as at officer, director and committee levels. 
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Primary Care Delegated Functions  
NHS England delegated authority to the CCG to exercise primary medical care 
commissioning functions from April 2015 (often referred to as ‘level 3 delegated co-
commissioning’). 
 
For 2020/21 the following sources of assurances relating to the financial reporting 
with the CCG’s accounts are as follows: 

• ISA3402 report - NHS Digital – this report provides assurance in relation to 
processes used to maintain demographic data on populations used to 
calculate GMS / PMS payments for the period 2020/21 

• ISAE3402 report - NHS Shared Business Services ISFE service auditor report 
- this report covers financial processes operated by NHS SBS, including 
controls on the National Health Applications and Infrastructure Services 
interface between Exeter and the ISFE ledger 

• ISAE3402 report – Capita service auditor report – this report covers the 
services of all primary care support in 2020/21  

• CCG controls - control mechanisms that are in place to review and approve 
recharges posted into the CCG ledger by CCG senior officers 

• Financial reporting - review of financial reporting against budget by the 
Primary Care Commissioning Committee on a monthly basis. 

 
 

North of England Commissioning Support Service (NECS) 
The CCG contracts with NECS for the provision of a number of commissioning 
support functions such as human resources, information technology and some 
finance services. The CCG has established an internal control system to gain 
assurance from NECS on these functions. 

Service auditor reports (SARs) from NECS provided assurance on the internal 
controls and control procedures operated by this service organisation to its 
customers and their auditors.  The CCG received the SARs on 4th May 2021.   

The report was for the period covering April 2020 to March 2021. 
 
The SAR identified control exceptions relating to customer authorisation of purchase 
orders and processing of staff changes in appropriate timescales.  Whilst these 
weaknesses must be addressed they are not considered to be material or significant. 

 
Counter Fraud Arrangements 
The CCG’s counter fraud activity plays a key part in deterring risks to the 
organisation’s financial viability and probity. An annual counter fraud plan is agreed 
by the Audit and Risk Committee, which focuses on the deterrence, prevention, 
detection and investigation of fraud. 
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Through its contract with AuditOne, the CCG has counter fraud arrangements in 
place that comply with the NHS Protect Standards for Commissioners: Fraud, 
Bribery and Corruption including: 

• An Accredited Counter Fraud Specialist is contracted to undertake counter 
fraud work proportionate to identified risks and is invited to attend Audit and 
Risk Committee on a regular basis  

• A report against each of the standards for commissioners received by the 
Audit and Risk Committee at least annually.  This is signed off by the Chief 
Officer/Chief Finance Officer and Chair of the Audit and Risk Committee as a 
true representation of the CCG’s counter fraud arrangements  

• The Chief Officer/Chief Finance Officer is the executive lead for proactively 
and demonstrably tackling fraud, bribery and corruption. 

• Appropriate action is taken regarding any NHS Protect quality assurance 
recommendations.  
 

Head of Internal Audit Opinion 
 
The purpose of my annual Head of Internal Audit Opinion is to contribute to the 
assurances available to the Accountable Officer and the Governing Body which 
underpins the organisation’s own assessment of the effectiveness of the system of 
internal control. This Opinion will in turn assist in the completion of the Annual 
Governance Statement. 
 
My opinion is set out as follows: 
 

• Overall opinion. 
• Basis for the opinion. 

 
In providing this opinion, it is important that to recognise the additional limitations on 
our work caused by the Covid-19 pandemic. These limitations include access to 
CCG personal and the timely supply of information that would available to us in 
normal operating circumstances. However, as your Head of Internal Audit I am 
satisfied that we have sufficient evidence, largely based upon the completion of Core 
Internal Audit plan and carefully considered professional judgements, to provide the 
CCG with a robust Head of Internal Audit Opinion. 
 

Overall Opinion 
 
 
 
 

From my review of your systems of internal control, I am providing an opinion of 
substantial assurance that the system of internal control, governance and risk 
management has been effectively designed to meet the organisation’s objectives, 
and that controls are being consistently applied. 
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Basis of the Opinion  
The basis for forming my opinion is as follows: 
 

1. An assessment of the design and operation of the underpinning Assurance 
Framework and supporting processes for governance and the management of 
risk 

2. An assessment of the range of individual opinions arising from audit 
assignments, contained within risk-based plans that have been reported 
throughout the year. This assessment has taken account of the relative 
materiality of these areas and management’s progress in respect of 
addressing control weaknesses. While work is usually split between core 
assurance and assurance arising from additional advisory and assurance 
audits, with core assurance being provided on an annual basis in those areas 
central to the operation of the CCG, as a result of the continuing impact of 
Covid-19 on NHS organisations no additional advisory and assurance audits 
were carried out during 2020-21. Instead, all work focused on core areas, with 
changes to plans being made to cover emerging risks and changes in both 
guidance and the financial regime under which CCGs operated 

3. Brought forward Internal Audit assurances 
4. An assessment of the organisation’s response to Internal Audit 

recommendations, and 
5. Consideration of significant factors outside the work of Internal Audit. 

 
I would like to take this opportunity to thank the staff at NHS South Tyneside CCG 
for the co-operation and assistance provided to my team during the year.  
 
Carl Best 
Director of Internal Audit 
AuditOne 
 
11 March 2021 
 
 

Summary of Draft Head of Internal Audit Opinion 
 
Audit area Assurance Level 

Core Assurance  
ST CCG 2020-21/01: Governance Structures and Risk 
Management Arrangements [Final] 

Substantial 

ST CCG 2020-21/02: Conflicts of Interest [Final] Substantial 
ST CCG 2020-21/03: Data Security and Protection Toolkit [Interim 
Outcome] 

Unsatisfactory/ 
Limited 

ST CCG 2020-21/04: Primary Medical Care Commissioning [Final] Substantial 
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Audit area Assurance Level 

CICP 2020-21/05: Implementing Phase 3 of the NHS Response to 
Covid-19 [Draft] 
 
[Audit carried out jointly across the Central ICP, consisting of South 
Tyneside CCG, Sunderland CCG and County Durham CCG] 

Substantial 

ST CCG 2020-21/07: Key Financial Controls [Final] Substantial 
ST CCG 2020-21/08: Continuing Healthcare – The Hospital 
Discharge Scheme [Draft] 

Reasonable  

ST CCG 2020-21/10: Covid-19 Commissioning and Costing [Final] Substantial 
 

 
Definitions of Assurance Levels assigned to individual audit assignments 
 

  
Assurance Levels 
 
Substantial Governance, risk management and control arrangements provide substantial 

assurance that the risks identified are managed effectively. Compliance with 
the control framework was found to be taking place.  

Good Governance, risk management and control arrangements provide a good level 
of assurance that the risks identified are managed effectively.  A high level of 
compliance with the control framework was found to be taking place. Minor 
remedial action is required 

Reasonable Governance, risk management and control arrangements provide reasonable 
assurance that the risks identified are managed effectively. Compliance with 
the control framework was not found to be taking place in a consistent 
manner.  Some moderate remedial action is required. 

Limited Governance, risk management and control arrangements provide limited 
assurance that the risks identified are managed effectively. Compliance with 
the control framework was not found to be taking place.  Immediate and 
fundamental remedial action is required. 

 
 

Review of Effectiveness of Governance, Risk Management 
and Internal Control 
 
My review of the effectiveness of the system of internal control is informed by the 
work of the internal auditors, executive managers and clinical leads within the CCG 
who have responsibility for the development and maintenance of the internal control 
framework. I have drawn on performance information available to me. My review is 
also informed by comments made by the external auditors in their reports.  
 
Our Governing Body assurance framework itself provides me with evidence that the 
effectiveness of controls that manage risks to the CCG achieving its principles have 
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been reviewed.  I have been advised on the implications of the result of my review of 
the effectiveness of the system of internal control by: 

• The Governing Body,  
• The Audit and Risk Committee  
• The Quality and Patient Safety committee 
• System of internal control mechanisms 
• Internal Audit 

 
The Governing Body, Audit and Risk Committee and Quality and Patient Safety 
Committee have concluded through their annual review processes that the CCG has 
effective governance, risk management and internal control mechanisms in place to 
ensure the CCG to meet its statutory duties.   
 
The internal control section earlier in this statement describes in detail the process 
that has been applied in maintaining and reviewing the effectiveness of the CCG’s 
system of internal control.   

Following completion of the planned audit work for the financial year for the CCG, the 
Head of Internal Audit issued an independent and objective opinion on the adequacy 
and effectiveness of the CCG’s system of risk management, governance and internal 
control. The Head of Internal Audit Opinion has been included in the previous section. 

 

Conclusion 
 
As Accountable Officer, I have reviewed the governance and risk management 
processes within the CCG and am assured the CCG had an effective system of 
internal control over the previous year with no significant control issues. 
 
Dr Neil O’Brien 
Accountable Officer  
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REMUNERATION AND STAFF REPORT  
 
The remuneration and staff report sets out the organisation’s remuneration policy for 
directors and senior managers, reports on how that policy has been implemented 
and sets out the amounts awarded to directors and senior managers and where 
relevant the link between performance and remuneration. 
 

Remuneration Report  
Remuneration Committee 
The remuneration committee was established to advise the Governing Body about 
pay, other benefits and terms of employment for the Chief Officer and other senior 
staff. 
 
The remuneration committee is established in accordance with the CCG’s 
constitution, standing orders and scheme of delegation. The committee membership 
is as follows: 
 

• Patricia Harle - Chair of Remuneration Committee/Lay Member 
• Matthew Walmsley - CCG Chair 
• Louise Lydon - Member of Governing Body 
• Paul Cuskin - Governing Body Lay Member 
• John Whitehouse - Governing Body Lay Member 

 
The remuneration committee has delegated authority from the Governing Body to 
make recommendations on determinations about pay and remuneration for 
employees of the CCG and people who provide services to the CCG. 
 

Policy on the remuneration of senior managers  
The remuneration for senior managers for current and future financial years is 
determined in accordance with relevant guidance, best practice and national policy. 
Continuation of employment for all senior managers is subject to satisfactory 
performance. Performance in post and progress in achieving set objectives is 
reviewed annually. 
 
There were no individual performance review payments made to any senior 
managers during the year and there are no plans to make such payments in future 
years. This is in accordance with standard NHS terms and conditions of service and 
guidance issued by the Department of Health and Social Care. 
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Contracts of employment in relation to all senior managers employed by the CCG 
are permanent in nature and subject to between three and six months’ notice of 
termination by either party. 
 
Termination payments are limited to those laid down in statute and those provided 
for within NHS terms and conditions of service and under the NHS Pension Scheme 
Regulations for those who are members of the scheme. No awards have been made 
during the year to past senior managers. 
 
For the purpose of this remuneration report, the definition of ‘senior managers’ is as 
per the CCG Annual Reporting Guidance published by NHS England: 
 
Those persons in senior positions having authority or responsibility for directing or 
controlling the major activities of the clinical commissioning group.  
 
This means those who influence the decisions of the entity as a whole rather than 
the decisions of individual directorates or departments. 
 
It is considered that the Governing Body and Executive Committee members 
represent the senior managers of the CCG. 
 

Remuneration of Very Senior Managers (VSM)  

Where one or more senior managers of a CCG are paid more than a pro rata of 
£150,000 per annum, equivalent to the Prime Minister’s salary, information is 
disclosed in the remuneration report.  
 
During 2020/21 South Tyneside CCG had eleven senior managers in clinical roles 
which includes the staff sharing arrangement for the Accountable Offier that were 
paid more than a pro rata of £150,000 per annum. The senior managers were in part 
time roles and were not paid more than the Prime Minister’s actual salary.   
 
VSM Salaries were set at the establishment of the CCG in line with nationally 
mandated pay scales.  The Remuneration Committee reviews the level of pay award 
applied to VSM on an annual basis and has determined that VSM pay award should 
not be inconsistent with that applied to non VSM staff, i.e. the nationally determined 
pay award for staff on ‘agenda for change’ pay scales is applied to VSM. 
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Senior manager remuneration (including salary and pension entitlements) 

Table 1: South Tyneside CCG remuneration report 2020/21 (this has been subject to audit) 

Name  Title Salary 

Expense 
payments 
(taxable) 

to 
nearest 

£100 

Performance 
pay and 
bonuses 

Long-term 
performance 

pay and 
bonuses 

All 
pension 
related 
benefits 

TOTAL 

    
(bands 

of 
£5,000) 

 (bands of 
£5,000) 

(bands of 
£5,000) 

(bands 
of 

£2,500) 

(bands 
of 

£5,000) 
    £000 £00 £000 £000 £000 £000 
Dr Matthew Walmsley GP Chair 45-50 - - - 12.5-15 55-60 
Paul Cuskin Deputy Chair/Lay Member 10-15 - - - - 10-15 
Patricia Harle Lay Member 10-15 - - - - 10-15 
John Whitehouse Lay Member 10-15 - - - - 10-15 
Dr Tarquin Cross Secondary Care Clinician 5-10 - - - - 5-10 
Louise Lydon Primary Healthcare Professional 

Member  5-10 - - - - 5-10 
Dr Neil O’Brien Chief Clinical Officer and 

Accountable Officer 50-55 17 - - 12.5-15 65-70 
Matt Brown Director of Operations 95-100 55 - - 20-22.5 125-130 
Kate Hudson Chief Finance Officer/Chief Officer 120-125 - - - 82.5-85 200-205 
Jeanette Scott  Director of Nursing, Quality & Safety 70-75 - - - - 70-75 
Dr Jonathan Tose GP Clinical Director, Planned Care, 

Contracting and Quality in Primary 
Care 25-30 - - - 40-42.5 70-75 
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Name  Title Salary 

Expense 
payments 
(taxable) 

to 
nearest 

£100 

Performance 
pay and 
bonuses 

Long-term 
performance 

pay and 
bonuses 

All 
pension 
related 
benefits 

TOTAL 

    
(bands 

of 
£5,000) 

 (bands of 
£5,000) 

(bands of 
£5,000) 

(bands 
of 

£2,500) 

(bands 
of 

£5,000) 
    £000 £00 £000 £000 £000 £000 
 Dr James Gordon Clinical Director (Mental Health & 

Learning Disability) 50-55 - - - 12.5-15 60-65 
Dr David Julien  Clinical Director (Long Term 

Conditions) 60-65 - - - 12.5-15 75-80 
Dr Nousha Ali Clinical Director (Planned Care, 

Medicines Management, Palliative 
Care) 25-30 - - - 92.5-95 120-125 

Dr Jennifer Hunter Clinical Director (Primary Care and 
Cancer) 30-35 - - - 30-32.5 65-70 

Ros Whitehead Practice Manager Lead 20-25 - - - - 20-25 
 
Notes to senior manager remuneration table 2020/21: 
 
Expenses payments (taxable) are shown in £00 and relate to lease car allowances and mileage claims.  
John Whitehouse commenced the Lay Member role on 1 April 2020. 
 
Louise Lydon commenced the Primary Healthcare Professional Member role on 1 April 2020. 
 
 
Dr Neil O’Brien is employed by County Durham CCG and works for South Tyneside CCG and Sunderland CCG as part of a staff 
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sharing arrangement. The salary disclosed above shows South Tyneside CCG’s share of remuneration of 33.3%. Pension 
benefits are reported in full by County Durham CCG. 
 
Dr Tarquin Cross is employed by Northumbria Healthcare NHS Foundation Trust. Pension related benefits information is not 
reported by Northumbria Healthcare NHS Foundation Trust because Dr Cross is not a senior manager of that organisation. 
 
Dr Jonathan Tose left the Clinical Director role on 6 September 2020. Remuneration relates to the Clinical Director role. Mr Tose 
is also employed under a separate contract for a non-management role.  
 
Dr Nousha Ali commenced the Clinical Director role on 7 September 2020. 
 
Dr Jennifer Hunter commenced the Clinical Director role on 7 September 2020. 
 
Tom Hall, Director of Public Health is invited to be in attendance at the Governing Body in a non-voting capacity. He is not 
employed by the CCG and receives no remuneration from the CCG for the CCG Governing Body role. 
 
Pension related benefits information is provided by NHS Pensions. The value of pension benefits accrued during the year is 
calculated as the real increase in pension multiplied by 20, less, the contributions made by the individual. The real increase 
excludes increases due to inflation or any increase or decrease due to a transfer of pension rights. This value does not represent 
an amount that will be received by the individual. It is a calculation that is intended to convey to the reader of the accounts an 
estimation of the benefit that being a member of the pension scheme could provide.  
The pension benefit table provides further information on the pension benefits accruing to the individual.   
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Senior manager remuneration (including salary and pension entitlements) 

Table 2: South Tyneside CCG remuneration report 2019/20 (this has been subject to audit) 

Name  Title Salary 

Expense 
payments 
(taxable) 

to 
nearest 

£100 

Performance 
pay and 
bonuses 

Long-term 
performance 

pay and 
bonuses 

All 
pension 
related 
benefits 

TOTAL 

    
(bands 

of 
£5,000) 

 (bands of 
£5,000) 

(bands of 
£5,000) 

(bands 
of 

£2,500) 

(bands 
of 

£5,000) 
    £000 £00 £000 £000 £000 £000 
Dr Matthew Walmsley GP Chair 45-50 - - - 12.5-15 55-60 
Paul Cuskin Deputy Chair/Lay Member 10-15 2 - - - 10-15 
Patricia Harle Lay Member 10-15 - - - - 10-15 
Paul Morgan Lay Member 10-15 - - - - 10-15 
Dr Tarquin Cross Secondary Care Clinician 5-10 - - - - 5-10 
Dr Sreeni Vis-Nathan GP Member 5-10 - - - - 5-10 
Dr David Hambleton Chief Executive 125-130 66 - - 35-37.5 170-175 
Matt Brown Director of Operations 95-100 110 - - 52.5-55 160-165 
Kate Hudson Chief Finance Officer 105-110 3 - - 17.5-20 125-130 
Jeanette Scott  Director of Nursing, Quality & Safety 65-70 5 - - - 65-70 
Dr Jonathan Tose GP Clinical Director, Planned Care, 

Contracting and Quality in Primary 
Care 65-70 5 - - 20-22.5 85-90 

Dr James Gordon Clinical Director (Mental Health & 
Learning Disability) 50-55 - - - 7.5-10 60-65 
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Name  Title Salary 

Expense 
payments 
(taxable) 

to 
nearest 

£100 

Performance 
pay and 
bonuses 

Long-term 
performance 

pay and 
bonuses 

All 
pension 
related 
benefits 

TOTAL 

    
(bands 

of 
£5,000) 

 (bands of 
£5,000) 

(bands of 
£5,000) 

(bands 
of 

£2,500) 

(bands 
of 

£5,000) 
    £000 £00 £000 £000 £000 £000 
Dr David Julien Clinical Director (Long Term Conditions) 60-65 - - - 12.5-15 75-80 
Ros Whitehead Practice Manager Lead 15-20 2 - - - 15-20 
 
Notes to senior manager remuneration table 2019/20: 
 
Expenses payments (taxable) are shown in £00 and relate to lease car allowances and mileage claims. 
 
Dr Tarquin Cross is employed by Northumbria Healthcare NHS Foundation Trust. Pension related benefits information is not 
reported by Northumbria Healthcare NHS Foundation Trust because Dr Cross is not a senior manager of that organisation. 
 
Dr Jonathan Tose remuneration relates to the Clinical Director role. Mr Tose is also employed under a separate contract for a non 
management role.  
 
Pension related benefits information is provided by NHS Pensions. The value of pension benefits accrued during the year is 
calculated as the real increase in pension multiplied by 20, less, the contributions made by the individual. The real increase 
excludes increases due to inflation or any increase or decrease due to a transfer of pension rights. This value does not represent 
an amount that will be received by the individual. It is a calculation that is intended to convey to the reader of the accounts an 
estimation of the benefit that being a member of the pension scheme could provide.  
 
The pension benefit table provides further information on the pension benefits accruing to the individual.   
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Staff sharing arrangement for senior manager remuneration 2020/21 

  
Dr Neil O’Brien is employed by County Durham CCG  and works for South Tyneside CCG and Sunderland CCG as part of a staff 
sharing arrangement.  
 
The total remuneration earned for all work across all CCGs in 2020/21 is shown below: 
 
Table 3: South Tyneside CCG staff sharing arrangement 2020/21 (this has been subject to audit) 
Name Title Salary Expense 

payments 
(taxable) to 

nearest £100 

TOTAL 

    (bands of 
£5,000) 

 (bands of 
£5,000) 

    £ 000 £00 £ 000 
Dr Neil O’Brien Chief Clinical Officer and Accountable Officer 160-165 51 165-170 
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Pension benefits as at 31 March 2021  

Table 4: South Tyneside CCG senior officers pension benefits 2020/21 (this has been subject to audit) 

 

Real 
increase in 
pension at 

pension 
age 

Real 
increase in 

pension 
lump sum 
at pension 

age 

Total 
accrued 

pension at 
pension 

age at 31 
March 
2021 

Lump sum 
at pension 
age related 
to accrued 
pension at 
31 March 

2021 

Cash 
Equivalent 
Transfer 

Value at 1 
April 2020 

Real 
Increase in 

Cash 
Equivalent 
Transfer 

Value 

Cash 
Equivalent 
Transfer 
Value at 
31 March 

2021 

Employer's 
contribution 

to 
stakeholder 

pension 

 

(bands of 
£2,500) 

(bands of 
£2,500) 

(bands of 
£5,000) 

(bands of 
£5,000)     

 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 
Dr Matthew Walmsley 0-2.5 - 5-10 10-15 108 8 120 - 
Matt Brown 0-2.5 - 20-25 35-40 278 10 299 - 
Kate Hudson 2.5-5 5-7.5 35-40 80-85 599 71 685 - 
Dr Jonathan Tose 0-2.5 0-2.5 20-25 35-40 308 12 353 - 
Dr James Gordon 0-2.5 - 15-20 30-35 225 7 239 - 
Dr David Julien 0-2.5 - 10-15 20-25 194 9 212 - 
Dr Nousha Ali 2.5-5 5-7.5 5-10 20-25 53 34 118 - 
Dr Jennifer Hunter 0-2.5 - 10-15 - 86 6 105 - 
Pension information is provided by NHS Pensions.  
 
Cash equivalent transfer value at 1st April 2020 has been inflated by 1.7%.  
 
The pension figures shown relate to the benefits that individuals have accrued as a consequence of their total membership of the 
scheme. Benefits and related Cash Equivalent Transfer Values do not allow for a potential future adjustment arising from the 
McCloud judgement.  
 
Non executives and lay members are not members of the NHS Pension scheme. 
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Pension benefits as at 31 March 2020  

Table 5: South Tyneside CCG senior officers pension benefits 2019/20 (this has been subject to audit) 

 

Real 
increase in 
pension at 

pension 
age 

Real 
increase in 

pension 
lump sum 
at pension 

age 

Total 
accrued 

pension at 
pension 

age at 31 
March 
2020 

Lump sum 
at pension 
age related 
to accrued 
pension at 
31 March 

2020 

Cash 
Equivalent 
Transfer 

Value at 1 
April 2019 

Real 
Increase in 

Cash 
Equivalent 
Transfer 

Value 

Cash 
Equivalent 
Transfer 
Value at 
31 March 

2020 

Employer's 
contribution 

to 
stakeholder 

pension 

 
(bands of 
£2,500) 

(bands of 
£2,500) 

(bands of 
£5,000) 

(bands of 
£5,000)     

 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 
Dr Matthew Walmsley 0-2.5 - 5-10 10-15 95 7 106 - 
Dr David Hambleton 2.5-5 0-2.5 50-55 140-145 1,076 48 1,142 - 
Matt Brown 2.5-5 2.5-5 15-20 35-40 230 31 273 - 
Kate Hudson 0-2.5 - 30-35 70-75 558 17 589 - 
Dr Jonathan Tose 0-2.5 0-2.5 15-20 30-35 276 15 303 - 
Dr James Gordon 0-2.5 - 10-15 30-35 208 5 221 - 
Dr David Julien 0-2.5 - 10-15 20-25 173 8 190 - 
Pension information is provided by NHS Pensions.  
Cash equivalent transfer value at 1st April 2019 has been inflated by 2.4%.  
 
The pension figures shown relate to the benefits that individuals have accrued as a consequence of their total membership of the 
scheme. Benefits and related Cash Equivalent Transfer Values do not allow for a potential future adjustment arising from the 
McCloud judgement.  
 
Non executives and lay members are not members of the NHS Pension scheme.  
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Cash equivalent transfer values  
A cash equivalent transfer value (CETV) is the actuarially assessed capital value of 
the pension scheme benefits accrued by a member at a particular point in time. The 
benefits valued are the member’s accrued benefits and any contingent spouse’s (or 
other allowable beneficiary’s) pension payable from the scheme. 
 
A CETV is a payment made by a pension scheme or arrangement to secure pension 
benefits in another pension scheme or arrangement when the member leaves a 
scheme and chooses to transfer the benefits accrued in their former scheme. The 
pension figures shown relate to the benefits that the individual has accrued as a 
consequence of their total membership of the pension scheme, not just their service 
in a senior capacity to which disclosure applies. 
 
The CETV figures and the other pension details include the value of any pension 
benefits in another scheme or arrangement which the individual has transferred to 
the NHS pension scheme. They also include any additional pension benefit accrued 
to the member as a result of their purchasing additional years of pension service in 
the scheme at their own cost. CETVs are calculated within the guidelines and 
framework prescribed by the Institute and Faculty of Actuaries.  
 

Real increase in CETV 
This reflects the increase in CETV that is funded by the employer. It does not include 
the increase in accrued pension due to inflation, contributions paid by the employee 
(including the value of any benefits transferred from another scheme or 
arrangement) and uses common market valuation factors for the start and end of the 
period.  
 
The method used to calculate CETVs changed, to remove the adjustment for 
Guaranteed Minimum Pension (GMP) on 8 August 2019. If the individual concerned 
was entitled to a GMP, this will affect the calculation of the real increase in CETV. 
This is more likely to affect the 1995 Section and the 2008 Section. 
 
Compensation on early retirement or for loss of office (this has been subject to audit) 
There was no compensation on early retirement or for loss of office during 2020/21.  
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Payments to past members (this has been subject to 
audit) 
 
There were no payments to past members during 2020/21.  
 

Fair Pay Disclosure (this has been subject to audit) 
Reporting bodies are required to disclose the relationship between the remuneration 
of the highest paid member in their organisation and the median remuneration of the 
organisation’s workforce. 
 
The banded remuneration of the highest paid director in South Tyneside CCG in the 
financial year 2020/21 was £120-125k (2019/20: £130-135k).  This was 1.9 times 
(2019/20:1.9) the median remuneration of the workforce, which was £63,751 
(2019/20: £71,113).  
 
In 2020/21, no employees (2019/20, no employees) received remuneration in excess 
of the highest paid director. Remuneration ranged from £11,558 to £103,983 
(2019/20: £11,368 to £108,766). 
 
Total remuneration includes salary, non-consolidated performance-related pay, 
benefits-in-kind, but not severance payments.  It does not include employer pension 
contributions and the cash equivalent transfer value of pensions. 
 
The 2020/21 median remuneration ratio remains at a consistent level to the 2019/20 
reported value due to marginal changes to the overall number, composition and 
remuneration of the workforce. The highest paid director has changed in 2020/21 
due to changes in the CCG management structure.  
 
Table 6: Fair pay disclosure (the has been 
subject to audit)   

 

 2020/21 2019/20 
Band of Highest Paid Director's Total Remuneration 
(£'000)  120-125 130-135 
Median Total Remuneration (£)  63,751 71,113 
Ratio  1.9 1.9 

 
 



 

117 
 

Staff Report   

Number of senior managers 
The CCG had 15 senior managers in post at 31st March 2021. This includes 2 very 
senior managers.  
 

Staff numbers and costs (this has been subject to 
audit) 
Staff numbers and costs are analysed by permanent employees and ‘other.’  
Permanently employed refers to members of staff with a permanent (UK) 
employment contract directly with the CCG. Other refers to any staff engaged that do 
not have a permanent (UK) employment contract with the CCG. This includes 
employees on short term contracts of employment and agency/temporary staff. 
 
The figures exclude lay members of the Governing Body.  

 

Permanent 
Employees Other Total 

Average number of people employed   21.4 1.1 22.5 
    

 

Permanent 
Employees Other Total 

Staff costs £'000 £'000 £'000 
Salaries and wages 1,428 114 1,542 
Social security costs 176 0 176 
Employer Contributions to NHS Pension 
scheme 235 0 235 
Other pension costs 3 0 3 
Less recoveries (13)  (13) 
Staff costs 1,829 114 1,942 

 

Trade Union Facility Time 
Under the terms of the Trade Union (Facility Time Publication Requirements) 
Regulations 2017, we are required to publish the number of employees who were 
trade union officials during this period, and information and details of paid facility 
time and trade union activities.  
 
During 2020/21 there were no employees of NHS South Tyneside CCG who were 
trade union representatives. 
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Staff composition 
The CCG staff gender profile at 31st March 2021 is based upon headcount of 
permanently employed staff.  
 
   Female Male Total 
Very senior managers 1 1 2 
Other staff 25 11 36 
Total staff 26 12 38 

 
  Female Male Total 
Governing Body 
members 4 6 10 

*The Governing Body figures are provided as standalone figures as some members 
are employed by other organisations  
 

Staff engagement percentages 
Since South Tyneside CCG was established in 2013 our organisation has 
participated in the NHS Annual Staff Survey and 2020 was no exception. The survey 
is distributed to all staff during November and results are reported early the following 
year.   We were pleased to learn that 76% of our staff completed the survey against 
a national average of 79%.  A number of survey questions relate to views and 
experiences by our staff relating to communication, engagement and involvement 
with managers.  The area of the survey most closely related to this is the 'Your 
Managers' section containing eleven questions across these broad engagement 
themes; 
 

• Encouragement form manager 

• Support from manager  

• Feedback from manager 

• Manager ask for opinion 

• Manager supportive 

• Manager interested in health and wellbeing of staff 

• Manager values work 

• Staff know who senior managers are 

• Communication between staff and managers is effective  

• Senior managers involve staff in important decisions 

• Senior managers act on staff feedback 
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Across all eleven questions our staff response rates were all higher than the national 
average for similar organisations.  
 
We are delighted to report that South Tyneside's overall positive score ranked the 
CCG at number one in the 2020 staff survey. 
 
In response to the challenging work environment during 2020 we also undertook a 
number of internal 'pulse surveys' to ensure we were in touch with staff views and 
experiences during the pandemic and to access feedback in a shorter timeframes as 
opposed to relying solely on one annual survey. 
 
Our pulse surveys told us that staff felt the organisation's approach to working 
through the pandemic had been open and transparent and high numbers of staff felt 
their line manager was in regular contact with them and was supportive.  Our Mental 
Health First Aider's engaged with staff through a monthly health and wellbeing 
bulletin providing advice and guidance across a range of issues to support staff 
during home working.    
 
The corner stone of engagement between staff and the organisation is our staff 
compact and CCG vision and values.  The results of our 'pulse surveys' showed that 
CCG values and behaviours were front and centre of our approach to workforce 
safety during Covid.  A summary of our engagement initiatives and pulse survey 
results is shown below; 
 

• Regular communications in the form of staff briefings from the CCGs Chief 
Officer and Executive Director of Operations to all staff providing updates as 
necessary. 

• Monthly ‘Health and Wellbeing’ bulletins from Mental Health First Aiders to 
support wellbeing during COVID 19. 

• All usual line management responsibilities relating to leadership and 
management functions have continued as normal such as team meetings and 
1-1s to ensure staff feel supported. 

• The creation of a WhatsApp Group has kept the organisation connected. 
 

Staff Sickness Absence  
The CCG has an agreed policy on the management of staff absence which ensures 
all staff are treated fairly and equitably, with the relevant support from line managers 
and HR advisors. The CCG also has access to occupational health services. The 
staff sickness absence data is reported for each calendar year.   
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 2020 2019 
Total days lost 104 100 
Average working days lost 3.9 3.8 

 

Staff Turnover 
Staff turnover of permanent employees is reported as a percentage of the average 
number of people employed. The staff turnover percentage in 2020/21 was 22%. 
 

Staff Policies 
The CCG has policies in place relating to staff available on the CCG intranet and 
website.  
 
The policies support and assist all employees with guidance and policy information 
relating to wide range of human resources functions.  
 
The promotion of equality and diversity is actively pursued through these policies 
and ensures that employees receive fair, equitable and consistent treatment and 
ensure that employees, and potential employees, are not subject to direct or indirect 
discrimination. 
 
The CCG is committed to equality of opportunity for all employees and is committed 
to employment practices, policies and procedures which ensure that no employee, or 
potential employee, receives less favourable treatment on the grounds of gender, 
race, colour, ethnic or national origin, sexual orientation, marital status, religion or 
belief, age, trade union membership, disability, offending background, domestic 
circumstances, social and employment status, HIV status, gender reassignment, 
political affiliation or any other personal characteristic.  
 
Diversity is viewed positively and, in recognising that everyone is different, the 
unique contribution that each individual’s experience, knowledge and skills can make 
is valued equally.  
 

Expenditure on consultancy 
Consultancy expenditure of £19k was incurred in 2020/21 (2019/20, £29k). 
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Off-payroll engagements  
Off-payroll engagements longer than 6 months 
 
All off-payroll engagements as at 31 March 2021, for more than £245 per day and 
that last longer than six months: 

  Number 

Number of existing engagements as of 31 March 2021 1 

Of which, the number that have existed: 

for less than one year at the time of reporting 0 

for between one and two years at the time of reporting 0 

for between 2 and 3 years at the time of reporting 0 

for between 3 and 4 years at the time of reporting 0 

for 4 or more years at the time of reporting 1 
 
New off-payroll engagements 
 
New off-payroll engagements, or those that reached six months in duration, between 
1 April 2020 and 31 March 2021, greater than £245 per day and that last for longer 
than six months:   

  Number 
Number of new engagements, or those that reached six months in 
duration, between 1 April 2020 and 31 March 2021 3 

Of which: 

number assessed that fall under the remit of IR35 3 

number assessed that do not fall under the remit of IR35 0 

 
Number engaged directly (via personal service company 
contracted to department) and are on the department payroll 0 

Number of engagements reassessed for consistency/assurance 
purposes during the year. 0 

Number of engagements that saw a change to IR35 status 
following the consistency review 0 

 
 
 
Off-payroll engagements / senior official engagements 
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Off-payroll engagements of Board members and senior officials with significant 
financial responsibility, between 1 April 2020 and 31 March 2021. 
 

Number of off-payroll engagements of board members, and/or 
senior officials with significant financial responsibility, during 
the financial year 

0 

Total no. of individuals that have been deemed “board 
members, and/or, senior officials with significant financial 
responsibility”, during the financial year. This figure should 
include both off-payroll and on-payroll engagements. 

15 

 
 
Exit packages, including special (non-contractual) payments (this has been subject 
to audit) 
 
No exit packages including special (non-contractual) payments were made in 
2020/21.   
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Parliamentary Accountability and Audit Report 
NHS South Tyneside CCG is not required to produce a Parliamentary Accountability 
and Audit Report.  
 
The CCG has no disclosures on remote contingent liabilities, losses and special 
payments, gifts, and fees and charges.   
 
An audit certificate and report is also included in this annual report at page 125 
onwards. 
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XX month 2021 
 
 



 
REPORT CLASSIFICATON  CATEGORY OF PAPER 

 

Official  Proposes specific action/decision  
Official: Sensitive Commercial  Provides assurance   
Official: Sensitive Personal   For information only  

 
 

GOVERNING BODY 
 

3 JUNE 2021 

Report Title: 
 

Management Letter of Representation 
 

Purpose of Report 
The purpose of this item is to provide the Governing Body with a copy of the Management 
Letter of Representation to be sent by the Accountable Officer, Neil O’Brien to the Director of 
Mazars, Cameron Waddell. 

Key Points 
The purpose of the Management Letter of Representation from the Accountable Officer is to  
express an opinion as to whether the financial statements for 2020/21 give a true and fair 
view in accordance with the Group Accounting Manual. 

Financial Implications/Risks/Issues 

The key issue is to ensure the CCG meets its statutory duties for financial performance and 
reporting and the financial statements for 2020/21 give a true and fair view in accordance with 
the Group Accounting Manual. 

Assurances  

Assurances are provided within the letter. 

 

The Governing Body is asked to consider and note the letter to be sent. 

Sponsor/approving director Dr Neil O'Brien, Accountable Officer 

Report author Kate Hudson, Chief Finance Officer 

Link to CCG Objectives (tick all that apply) 
1. Developing and delivering the CCG’s key strategic priorities: 

1a:  Ensuring integrated commissioning and delivery of services  
1b:  Enabling people to take greater responsibility for their own health  
1c:  Enabling people to receive timely, safe and appropriate care  
1d:  Enabling people to stay well in their own homes and communities  

2.  Making the best use of resources  
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3.  Improving patient experience and wellbeing  

4.  Ensuring the CCG is a well-led organisation.  

Relevant Legal/Statutory Issues  

Noted within the letter. 

Any potential/actual conflicts 
of interest associated with 
the paper? (please tick) 

Yes  No  N/A  

If yes, please specify:  
Equality analysis completed 
(please tick)  Yes  No  N/A  

If no, please specify:   
If there is an expected 
impact on patient outcomes 
and/or experience, has a 
quality impact assessment 
been undertaken? (please 
tick) 

Yes  No  N/A  

If no, please specify:  

Involvement implications 
Has there been/does there 
need to be appropriate 
clinical involvement?  

Not applicable. 

Has there been/does there 
need to be any patient and 
public involvement? 

Not applicable. 

Has there been/does there 
need to be member practice 
involvement? 

Not applicable. 

Has there been/does there 
need to be partner and other 
stakeholder involvement?   

Not applicable. 



 

 

 
 
 
 
Our ref: NO’B/KH/jl 
 
3rd June 2021 
 
 
Cameron Waddell 
Partner 
Mazars LLP 
Salvus House 
Aykley Heads 
Durham 
DH1 5TS 
 
 
Dear Cameron 
 
NHS South Tyneside Clinical Commissioning Group - audit for year ended 31 March 2021 
 
This representation letter is provided in connection with your audit of the financial statements of NHS 
South Tyneside CCG for the year ended 31 March 2021 for the purpose of expressing an opinion as 
to whether the financial statements give a true and fair view in accordance with the Group Accounting 
Manual. 
 
I confirm that the following representations are made on the basis of enquiries of management and 
staff with relevant knowledge and experience (and, where appropriate, inspection of supporting 
documentation) sufficient to satisfy ourselves that I can properly make each of the following 
representations to you. 
 
My responsibility for the financial statements and accounting information 
I believe that I have fulfilled my responsibilities for the true and fair presentation and preparation of the 
financial statements in accordance with the Group Accounting Manual and relevant legislation and 
International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as adapted and adopted by HM Treasury. 
 
My responsibility to provide and disclose relevant information 
I have provided you with:  

• access to all information of which we are aware that is relevant to the preparation of the 
financial statements such as records, documentation and other material; 

• additional information that you have requested from us for the purpose of the audit; and 

• unrestricted access to individuals within the CCG you determined it was necessary to contact 
in order to obtain audit evidence. 

I confirm as Accountable Officer that I have taken all the necessary steps to make me aware of any 
relevant audit information and to establish that you, as auditors, are aware of this information. 
 
As far as I am aware there is no relevant audit information of which you, as auditors, are unaware. 
 
Accounting records 
I confirm that all transactions that have a material effect on the financial statements have been 
recorded in the accounting records and are reflected in the financial statements. All other records and 

Monkton Hall 
Main Hall 

Monkton Lane 
Jarrow 

NE32 5NN 
Email: STCCG.enquiries@nhs.net  

mailto:STCCG.enquiries@nhs.net


related information, including minutes of all Governing Body and relevant committee meetings, have 
been made available to you.  
 
Accounting policies 
I confirm that I have reviewed the accounting policies applied during the year in accordance with 
Group Accounting Manual and International Accounting Standard 8 and consider these policies to 
faithfully represent the effects of transactions, other events or conditions on the CCG's financial 
position, financial performance and cash flows. 
 
Accounting estimates, including those measured at fair value 
I confirm that any significant assumptions used by the CCG in making accounting estimates, including 
those measured at fair value, are reasonable. 
 
Contingencies 
There are no material contingent losses including pending or potential litigation that should be accrued 
where: 

• information presently available indicates that it is probable that an asset has been impaired or 
a liability has been incurred at the balance sheet date; and 

• the amount of the loss can be reasonably estimated. 

There are no material contingent losses that should be disclosed where, although either or both the 
conditions specified above are not met, there is a reasonable possibility that a loss, or a loss greater 
than that accrued, may have been incurred at the balance sheet date. 
 
There are no contingent gains that should be disclosed. 
 
All material matters, including unasserted claims, that may result in litigation against the CCG have 
been brought to your attention. All known actual or possible litigation and claims whose effects should 
be considered when preparing the financial statements have been disclosed to you and accounted for 
and disclosed in accordance with the Group Accounting Manual and relevant legislation and IFRSs as 
adapted and adopted by HM Treasury. 
 
Laws and regulations 
I confirm that I have disclosed to you all those events of which I am aware which involve known or 
suspected non-compliance with laws and regulations, together with the actual or contingent 
consequences which may arise therefrom. We have complied with all aspects of contractual 
agreements that would have a material effect on the accounts in the event of non-compliance. 
 
Fraud and error 
I acknowledge my responsibility as Accountable Officer for the design, implementation and 
maintenance of internal control to prevent and detect fraud and error. I have disclosed to you: 

• all the results of my assessment of the risk that the financial statements may be materially 
misstated as a result of fraud; and 

• all knowledge of fraud or suspected fraud affecting the CCG involving: 

- management and those charged with governance; 
- employees who have significant roles in internal control; and 
- others where fraud could have a material effect on the financial statements. 

 
I have disclosed to you all information in relation to any allegations of fraud, or suspected fraud, 
affecting the CCG's financial statements communicated by employees, former employees, analysts, 
regulators or others. 
 
Related party transactions 
I confirm that all related party relationships, transactions and balances have been appropriately 
accounted for and disclosed in accordance with the requirements of the Group Accounting Manual 
and relevant legislation and IFRSs. 
 
I have disclosed to you the identity of the CCG’s related parties and all related party relationships and 
transactions of which I am aware.  



Future commitments 
I am not aware of any plans, intentions or commitments that may materially affect the carrying value or 
classification of assets and liabilities or give rise to additional liabilities. 
 
Subsequent events 
I confirm all events subsequent to the date of the financial statements and for which the Group 
Accounting Manual, relevant legislation and IFRSs require adjustment or disclosure have been 
adjusted or disclosed. Should further material events occur after the date of this letter which may 
necessitate revision of the figures included in the financial statements or inclusion of a note thereto, I 
will advise you accordingly. 
 
Going concern 
To the best of my knowledge there is nothing to indicate that the CCG will not continue as a going 
concern in the foreseeable future. I have taken into consideration the proposed NHS legislation which 
would see the functions carried out by CCGs currently transferring to new statutory bodies from 1 April 
2022; as the services the CCG provides will continue to be provided, I consider the going concern 
assumption to remain appropriate. The period to which I have paid particular attention in assessing the 
appropriateness of the going concern basis is not less than twelve months from the date of approval of 
the accounts.  
 
Yours sincerely 
 
 
 
Dr. Neil O’Brien 
Accountable Officer 
 



 
REPORT CLASSIFICATON  CATEGORY OF PAPER 

 

Official  Proposes specific action/decision  
Official: Sensitive Commercial  Provides assurance   
Official: Sensitive Personal   For information only  

 
 

GOVERNING BODY 
 

3 June 2021 

Report Title: Internal Audit Annual Report and Head of Internal Audit 
Opinion 

Purpose of Report 
This report is to provide assurance to the Governing Body around both the adequacy of the 
internal audit function itself and the assurance arising from individual audits included within 
the internal audit plan. 

Key Points 
The Annual Report sets out the final position in relation to the 2020-21 internal audit plan, 
including the outturn position, key performance indicators, and a summary of the Head of 
Internal Audit Opinion. The overall opinion is rated as Substantial Assurance. 

Financial Implications/Risks/Issues 

The internal Audit Plan is delivered within the fee envelope agreed by the Chief Finance 
Officer on an annual basis. 

Assurances 

The Internal Audit Annual Plan sets out the assurances that the Audit and Risk Committee 
can expect to receive from the Internal Audit function during the financial year. Individual risks 
identified will be set out in Internal Audit Reports, which will be brought to the Audit and Risk 
Committee as appendices to the Progress Report once they have been finalised, with the 
report summarising all reports issued during the year. 

Recommendation/Action Required 

The Governing Body is asked to note the content of the Internal Audit Annual Report 2020/21. 

Sponsor/approving director Carl Best, Director of Internal Audit, AuditOne. 

Report author Gillian Robson, Group Audit Manager, AuditOne 
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Link to CCG Objectives (tick all that apply) 
1. Developing and delivering the CCG’s key strategic priorities: 

1a:  Ensuring integrated commissioning and delivery of services  
1b:  Enabling people to take greater responsibility for their own health  

1c:  Enabling people to receive timely, safe and appropriate care  
1d:  Enabling people to stay well in their own homes and communities  

2.  Making the best use of resources  

3.  Improving patient experience and wellbeing  

4.  Ensuring the CCG is a well-led organisation.  

Relevant Legal/Statutory Issues 

Note any relevant Acts, regulations, national guidelines etc 

Any potential/actual conflicts 
of interest associated with 
the paper? (please tick) 

Yes  No 
 
 N/A  

If yes, please specify:  
Equality analysis completed 
(please tick)  Yes  No  N/A  

 

If no, please specify:   
If there is an expected 
impact on patient outcomes 
and/or experience, has a 
quality impact assessment 
been undertaken? (please 
tick) 

Yes  No  N/A 

 
 
 
 

If no, please specify:  

Involvement implications 
Has there been/does there 
need to be appropriate 
clinical involvement?  

Not applicable. 

Has there been/does there 
need to be any patient and 
public involvement? 

Not applicable. 

Has there been/does there 
need to be member practice 

Not applicable. 
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involvement? 

Has there been/does there 
need to be partner and other 
stakeholder involvement?   

Not applicable. 



 

 

 

 

  

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 

NHS South Tyneside CCG 
 

21 May 2021 

 
 

 
 

Internal Audit Annual Report for the year ending 
31 March 2021 (including Head of Internal Audit 
Opinion) 
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This report is prepared solely for the use of the Governing Body, Audit Committee and Senior Management of South Tyneside CCG.  Details may be made available to specified external agencies, but otherwise the report should 
not be quoted or referred to in whole or in part without prior consent. No responsibility to any third party is accepted as the report has not been prepared and is not intended for any other purpose. 

AuditOne is an NHS Consortium hosted by Cumbria Northumberland Tyne and Wear NHS Foundation Trust. 

 

 

1. Introduction 
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The purpose of the Internal Audit Annual Report is to provide the Audit Committee with: 

 
• The draft Head of Internal Audit Opinion for the year ended 31 March 2021, which provides our opinion on the overall adequacy and 

effectiveness of the CCG’s system of internal control.  
 
• An analysis of performance of the internal audit service received during the year ended 31 March 2021. 

 
• Assurances regarding conformance of the internal audit service with Public Sector Internal Audit Standards. 

 
 
1.1 Impact of COVID-19 
 
The pandemic has significantly influenced the delivery of internal audit and TRA audits throughout 2020/21. As a consequence, at various points 
during the year, decisions have had to made and with a clear focus on safeguarding our ability to provide a meaningful annual head of internal audit 
opinion for all members and clients.  
 
Early in 20/21, a decision was made to abandon the audits in the first quarter of the audit plan, to allow our member organisations to focus their 
efforts on addressing the pandemic. Audit work was recommenced on 1 August 2020, with a revised internal audit plan that accounted for the 
changes in the risk environment and an 25% reduction to the plan to reflect the abandonment of the first quarter’s work. However, in accordance 
with our planning methodology, the core elements of the audit plan, which support the annual opinion remained in place, with the intention of 
delivering throughout the rest of the year.  
 
Since recommencing the audit plan in August 2020, the delivery of individual audit assignments has been difficult and challenging, as we sought to 
complete our work remotely, in order to comply with our host Trust’s guidelines and safeguard the health and wellbeing of staff, and the increased 
limitations caused by obtaining timely information and gaining access to the key client personal, which were extending the time taken to deliver 
each assignment.  This resulted in a further review of audit plans in January 2021, to ensure that we had the organisation’s support to deliver the 
remaining part of the audit plan and that each assignment was still relevant.              
 
Throughout the year, and we have kept both the Audit Committee and Chief Finance Officer fully informed of these matters, and the organisation 
has been fully supportive, which is acknowledged and appreciated.    
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In providing the above summary of the year, the decisions that we have taken, I am satisfied that we have sufficient evidence, largely based on 
completion of the Core Internal Audit Plan and carefully considered professional judgement, to provide the CCG with a robust Head of Internal Audit 
Opinion for 2020/2021.    
 

 

2. Head of Internal Audit Opinion for the year ended 31 March 2021 
 

2.1 Introduction 
 
In accordance with Public Sector Internal Audit Standards, the Head of Internal Audit is required to provide an annual opinion on the overall 
adequacy and effectiveness of the organisation’s system of internal control.  
 
The purpose of this report is to provide the Audit Committee with the Head of Internal Audit Opinion for the year ended 31 March 2021, which 
should be used to inform the Annual Governance Statement.  

 
2.2 Roles and responsibilities 
 
The Accountable Officer is responsible for maintaining a sound system of internal control and is responsible for putting in place arrangements for 
gaining assurance about the effectiveness of that overall system.  
 
The Annual Governance Statement is an annual statement by the Accountable Officer, on behalf of the Governing Body, setting out: 

 
• How the individual responsibilities of the Accountable Officer are discharged in relation to maintaining a sound system of internal control 

that supports the achievement of policies, aims and objectives; 
 

• The purpose of the system of internal control as evidenced by a description of the risk management and review processes, including the 
Assurance Framework process; and 

 
• The conduct and results of the review of the effectiveness of the system of internal control, including any disclosures of significant control 

failures together with assurances that actions are or will be taken where appropriate to address issues arising. 
 

The organisation’s Assurance Framework should bring together all of the evidence required to support the Annual Governance Statement 
requirements. In accordance with Public Sector Internal Audit Standards, the Head of Internal Audit is required to provide an annual opinion, based 
upon, and limited to, the work performed, on the overall adequacy and effectiveness of the organisation’s risk management, control and governance 
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processes (i.e. the organisation’s system of internal control). This is achieved through a risk-based plan of work, approved by Audit Committee, 
which should provide a reasonable level of assurance, subject to the inherent limitations described below.  

 
The opinion does not imply that Internal Audit have reviewed all risks and assurances relating to the organisation. The opinion is substantially 
derived from the conduct of risk-based plans, generated from a robust and organisation-led Assurance Framework. As such, it is one component 
that the Accountable Officer takes into account in making the Annual Governance Statement. The Accountable Officer will need to integrate these 
results with other sources of assurance when making a rounded assessment of control for the purposes of the Annual Governance Statement. 

 
  2.3          The Head of Internal Audit Opinion 

 
The purpose of my annual Head of Internal Audit Opinion is to contribute to the assurances available to the Accountable Officer and the Governing 
Body which underpins the organisation’s own assessment of the effectiveness of the system of internal control. This Opinion will in turn assist in 
the completion of the Annual Governance Statement. 

 
My opinion is set out as follows: 

 
2.3.1 Overall opinion; 
2.3.2 Basis for the opinion; 
2.3.3       Commentary. 

 
2.3.1      Overall Opinion 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

From my review of your systems of internal control, I am providing substantial assurance that there is a sound system of internal control, 
governance and risk management designed to meet the organisation’s objectives and that controls are being consistently applied. 
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2.3.2      Basis of the Opinion  
 
        The basis for forming my opinion is as follows: 
 

1. An assessment of the design and operation of the underpinning Assurance Framework and supporting processes for governance and the 
management of risk; 

 
2. An assessment of the range of individual opinions arising from audit 

assignments, contained within risk-based plans that have been reported 
throughout the year. This assessment has taken account of the relative 
materiality of these areas and management’s progress in respect of 
addressing control weaknesses; 

 
3. Brought forward Internal Audit assurances; 

 
4. An assessment of the organisation’s response to Internal Audit 

recommendations, and 
 

5. Consideration of significant factors outside the work of Internal Audit. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

Brought forward 
Internal Audit 

assurances

Response to 
Internal Audit 

Recommendations

Significant other 
factors

Outturn of 
Internal Audit Plan

Assurance  
Framework and 

supporting 
processes
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2.3.3 Commentary 
 

 

Opinion Area 
 

Commentary 

Design and 
operation of the 
Assurance 
Framework and 
supporting 
processes 
 

The Governing Body Assurance Framework has been updated for 2020/21 and presented to the Governing Body and Audit 
and Risk Committee. The Governing Body Assurance Framework was last presented to the Governing Body on 25 March 
2021 and to the Audit and Risk Committee on 9 March 2021.  
 
The Governing Body Assurance Framework is based on the CCG’s strategic objectives and an analysis of the principal risks 
to achieving those objectives. Additional risks have also been identified around management of the Covid-19 pandemic, 
and these have also been included in the CCG’s Governing Body Assurance Framework and Corporate Risk Register. The 
key controls that have been put in place to manage the risks have been documented, and the sources of assurance for 
individual controls have been identified. The Governing Body Assurance Framework therefore provides the CCG with a 
comprehensive mechanism for the management of the principal risks to meeting its strategic objectives and supports the 
compilation of the Annual Governance Statement.  
 
The CCG has developed risk management processes that are operating within the organisation. The Quality and Patient 
Safety Committee, together with the Audit and Risk Committee, oversee the risk management agenda and report to the 
Governing Body. They provide assurance to the Governing Body on the systems and processes by which the organisation 
leads, directs and controls its functions in order to achieve its strategic objectives.  
 
We have reviewed the effectiveness of the assurance framework, and the underpinning risk management processes, in 
bringing together all of the activities and objectives of the CCG. No significant issues were identified.  
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Outturn of Internal 
Audit Plan 
   

 
 The above graph provides a summary of audit plan delivery for 2020/21 at 21 May 2021. A table of individual opinions 

arising from audit assignments reported throughout the year is contained in Appendix A.  Definitions of individual opinions 
are given at Appendix B. 

 
 

At the time of producing this opinion summary we have issued 5 final and 3 draft reports. Where reports have been issued 
in draft, the assurance level has been agreed with the CCG, although management responses in relation to the action to be 
taken to address identified weaknesses have not yet been received.  The split of assurance levels and categorisation for 
the reports issued is shown in the following table: 
 

Report Status Assurance Level 

Substantial Good Reasonable Limited n/a (Advisory) 

Plan APPENDIX A: Core Assurance Audits 

Draft 1  1   

Final 5     

Total  6  1   
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As can be seen from the table above, 7 reports issued during the year have been issued with an assurance level of 
substantial. No significant issues have been identified in our work. 
 
One audit report, on the Hospital Discharge Scheme, was issued with an assurance level of reasonable. Findings related to   
an overall gap in the assurances around various aspects of the Scheme, and particularly in terms of reporting to the CCGs 
Executive Committee and Governing Body on monitoring the Scheme while in progress and on returning to business as 
usual.  However, the CCGs Finance Team are receiving costing information which has enabled non-ISFE returns to be 
submitted to NHSE (and was covered in the Covid-19 Commissioning and Costing Audit 2020-21/10). These issues are not 
significant enough to impact upon the overall audit opinion given the exceptional circumstances being worked in and the 
scheme itself is non-recurrent. 
 
In addition, we have undertaken an independent assessment of the CCG’s Data Security Protection Toolkit. Our review was 
undertaken in accordance with NHS Digital’s 2020 guidance for internal auditors. We have considered whether the 
organisation meets the requirement of 35 evidence texts across 13 mandatory in-scope assertions and also considered the 
broader maturity of the CCG’s data security and protection control environment. The review provides: 

• An assessment of the overall risk associated with the CCG’s data security and data protection control environment 
and the level of risk associated with controls failing and data security and protection objectives not being achieved. 
This is an indicator of the level of risk to the CCG for those assertions and evidence items assessed and how good, 
or otherwise, the data security and protection environment is in terms of helping the CCG achieve the objectives in 
the DSPT; the interim review has assessed this as unsatisfactory. 

• An assessment as to the veracity of the CCG’s self-assessment and DSPT submission and our level of confidence that 
the submission aligns with our independent assessment of the risk and controls; the interim review has assessed 
this as limited. 

 
This is an interim outcome as the CCG works towards the submission date of 30 June. As such it does not detract from the 
overall opinion provided for 2020/21. We will continue to work with the CCG on the shortfalls identified and propose a 
follow up review to report on progress before the toolkit return is submitted.  
 

Brought forward 
Internal Audit 
assurances 
 

The Head of Internal Audit Opinion given for the year ended 31 March 2020 gave a level of assurance of ‘substantial’. Two 
reports were issued with an assurance level of good: Continuing Healthcare, with two medium and four low priority 
recommendations made; and Data Security and Protection Toolkit, with the assurance level being a reflection of difficulties 
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in obtaining evidence to support some mandatory assertions where this evidence is held by the CCG’s commissioning 
support unit rather than within the CCG. No high priority findings were raised in either report.  
 
Actions that were due in relation to the recommendations made have been implemented, with two medium priority actions 
remaining, both of which have an agreed target date of 31 March 2021.  
 
There were no material issues identified to be brought forward for consideration in this opinion statement.  
 

Response to 
Internal Audit 
recommendations 
 

The implementation of internal audit recommendations is a key indicator of the organisation’s engagement with ourselves 
and the importance it places on the recommendations we have made and have been agreed to be implemented. The Audit 
Committee receives updates on the progress of agreed actions for all high and medium issues raised, but it does not require 
updates in relation to low priority issues so these are not subject follow-up by AuditOne.  

 
In the year to 31 March 2021, 2 high/medium recommendations were due to be implemented based on initial or revised 
target dates, of which neither are yet implemented. However both were only due for implementation on 31 March 2021. 
 
During the year all recommendations made in reports have been routinely followed up using our automated software 
and reported to the Audit Committee at each meeting during 2020/21. 

Significant factors 
outside the work 
of internal audit 
 
 

While the Head of Internal Audit Opinion provides the CCG with assurances in relation to the areas covered by the 
internal audit plan, it is only one of the sources of assurance available to the CCG. As the CCG outsources many of its 
functions, assurances from third parties are equally as important when the CCG draws up its Annual Governance 
Statement.  
 
The main ones that we have been made aware of are summarised below, and although we have reviewed these for any 
significant items of control, we have not taken account of these in providing the overall opinion except where indicated:  
 
• Payroll services are provided by NHS Payroll Services hosted by Northumbria Healthcare NHS Foundation Trust. The 

CCG, through its membership of the Payroll Consortium, receives an annual assurance letter setting out the results 
of the internal audit work carried out during the year.  
 

• The CCG outsources many of its support services to the North of England Commissioning Support Unit (NECS), hosted 
by NHS England, under a signed service level agreement. Assurance on the operation of certain financial and payroll 
controls has been provided by NHS England’s internal auditors, Deloitte LLP, via an ISAE 3402 Type II report issued on 
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4 May 2021 and covering the period from 1 April 2020 to 31 March 2021.  This report identified some weaknesses in 
the operation of controls during the period, which were set out in their ‘Basis for Qualified Opinion’ section of the 
report, but provided reasonable assurance in relation to remaining controls that the related control objectives were 
achieved throughout the period 1 April 2020 to 31 March 2021. 
 

• Assurance in respect of the operation of the finance and accounting services provided by NHS Shared Business 
Services (SBS) is provided by the NHS SBS’ auditors, on an annual basis.  

• Assurance in respect of the primary care support services provided from Capita Business Services Limited to NHS 
England and CCGs is provided by Capita’s auditors, Mazars, on an annual basis.  The report for 2020/21 was issued 
on 5 May 2021 and identified some weaknesses in the operation of controls during the period, which were set out 
in their ‘Basis for Qualified Opinion’ section of the report, but provided reasonable assurance in relation to 
remaining controls that the related control objectives were achieved throughout the period 1 April 2020 to 31 
March 2021. 
 

• Assurance in respect of the operation of the prescription payments process provided by NHS Business Service 
Authority and Capita is provided by the NHS BSA’s auditors, PwC LLP, via an ISAE 3402 Type II report on an annual 
basis.  
 

• Assurance in respect of the operation of the NHS GP Payment Service provided by NHS Digital for is provided by the 
NHS Digital’s auditors, PwC LLP, via an ISAE 3402 Type II report issued on an annual basis.  
 

• Your counter fraud specialist is required to submit an annual Counter Fraud Functional Standard Return (CFFSR) 
(formerly known as the Self Review Tool) to the NHS Counter Fraud Authority (NHSCFA) in relation to the CCG’s 
counter fraud, bribery and corruption arrangements. This provides an overview of the CCG’s counter fraud activity, 
progress against NHSCFA requirements and assists the Chief Finance Officer (CFO) and Audit and Risk Committee in 
monitoring and managing the counter fraud service. The CFFSR for 2020/21 will be reviewed and approved by both 
the Audit and Risk Committee chair and CFO prior to submission by the deadline of 31 May 2021. The CCG’s overall 
rating for 2020/21 will be confirmed following CFFSR approval. The CCG has not been subject to an NHSCFA 
engagement meeting in 2020/21.  
 

• The Electronic Staff Record (ESR) service is provided by IBM. An ISAE 3000 Type II report covering the operation of 
the national system is issued on an annual basis by their external auditors, PwC LLP.  
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It is for the CCG to decide what assurance to take from these reports and whether any of the weaknesses identified should 
be included within the CCG’s Annual Governance Statement. Nevertheless, I can advise the Governing Body that the work 
on the outsourced payroll functions will have been undertaken in accordance with the Public Sector Internal Audit 
Standards.  

 
In providing this opinion, it is important to recognise the additional limitations on our work caused by the COVID-19 pandemic. These limitations 
include access to CCG personnel and the timely supply of information that would be available to us under normal circumstances. However, as your 
Head of Internal Audit I am satisfied that we have sufficient evidence, to provide the CCG with a robust Head of Internal Audit Opinion.    
I would like to take this opportunity to thank the staff at South Tyneside CCG for the co-operation and assistance provided to my team during the 
year.  

 
           

 
 

Carl Best 
Director of Audit, AuditOne 
Date:  21st May 2021 
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3. Internal Audit Performance 
 

      3.1          Planned and actual coverage 
 

The internal audit plan for the year ended 31 March 2021 was approved by the Audit Committee in July 2020.  
 
The following changes to the audit plan were agreed by the Audit Committee during the year: 
 
• As a result of the continuing impact of Covid-19 on NHS organisations, no additional advisory and assurance audits were carried out during 2020-

21. Instead, all work focused on core areas, with changes to plans being made to cover emerging risks and changes in both guidance and the 
financial regime under which CCGs operated. 

 
• Financial and Strategic Planning – the audit was split into two parts, with the first audit to cover Covid-19 Costing and Commissioning, looking at 

the processes around forecasting, capturing and reporting Covid-19 costs, and for purchasing additional services in response to Covid-19.  
 
• The remaining days in the Financial and Strategic Planning audit were combine with the audit of Contract and Performance monitoring to cover 

implementation of Phase 3 of the NHS response to Covid. This covered the three CCGs making up the Central Integrated Care Partnership – South 
Tyneside CCG, Sunderland CCG and County Durham CCG.     

 
• Continuing Healthcare and Funded Nursing Care – focused on the Hospital Discharge Scheme, i.e. looking at the processes that the CCG is putting 

into effect to manage the backlog of CHC assessments as a result of introducing the Hospital Discharge Scheme in accordance with NHS guidance. 
 

During the year we have reported upon our progress against plan to the Audit Committee via our regular progress report. All audit fieldwork was 
completed by 18 May 2021, and all draft reports issued to management by 20 May 2021. 

 
 
 

3.2 Key performance indicators 
 

Below is a summary of performance for the year ended 31 March 2021 on key performance indicators that were agreed with the Audit Committee. 
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* Recommendation percentages relate to all final reports issued between 1st April 2020 and 31st March 2021. 
 
 

Performance indicator (description) Reporting Regularity Status 

(March 2021) 

Senior Management and Audit Committee survey results Annual See Appendix C 

External effectiveness review results  Annual As a result of an EQA undertaken by 
an independent external assessor 
during 2020/21 we were awarded 
the highest level of conformance 

(Generally Conforms).  Our next EQA 
will be due in 2025/26. 

Progress against plan Each Audit Committee meeting  See Appendix A 

Percentage of recommendations raised which are agreed* Annually 92% 

Percentage of recommendations which are implemented* Annually N/A 

Timeliness of progress reports and HIAO Per Audit Committee schedule  Achieved 

 Compliance with internal audit protocol: 
- Audit Planning Memos 3 weeks prior to commencing audit 

work 
- Draft report issued within 3 weeks of completion of fieldwork 

- Final report issued within 2 weeks of final management 
response 

- Post Audit Questionnaire issued within 1 working day of issue 
of final report 

 
Annually 

 
Annually 
Annually 

 
Annually 

 
75% 

 
75% 

100% 
 

100% 
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3.3 Post audit questionnaires 
 
We issue Post Audit Questionnaire (PAQs) via our automated audit software.  In respect of the 2020/21 audit plan, 100% of post audit questionnaires 
were issued within one working day of issue of the final report. 

 
Key audit contacts were presented with the following statements regarding the internal audit service received: 

 
• The audit scope and objectives were clearly communicated at the start of the audit as detailed within the Audit Planning Memorandum; 
• The auditor’s requests for information and evidence were reasonable and clear; 
• audit findings and conclusions were communicated throughout the audit; 
• reports were issued in a timely manner; 
• audit reports were clear, concise and provided adequate detail; 
• Recommendations made were relevant, constructive, evidence based and practical; 
• The auditor(s) were courteous, approachable and professional at all times and provided prompt replies to any queries; 
• The disruption of daily activities was minimised as far as possible. 
• Overall, I am satisfied with the auditor(s) and the audit service received. 

 
The following table summarises PAQ responses from the one questionnaire that was returned out of three issued: 

  

Strong Positive 
Feedback 

(‘strongly agree’) 

Positive Feedback 
(‘agree’) 

Neutral 
(‘neither agree or 

disagree’) 

Negative Feedback 
(‘disagree’) 

Strong Negative Feedback 
(‘strongly disagree’) 

Not Applicable 

5 
(55.56%) 

4 
(44.44%) 

0 
(0%) 

0 
(0%) 

0 
(0%) 

0 
(0%) 

 
Clients were also provided with the opportunity to add any additional comments to their questionnaire response, however no specific comments 
were received. 
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3.4 Annual quality questionnaire 

 
Executive Directors and Audit Committee members have been asked to complete a questionnaire about their satisfaction with the internal audit 
service received from AuditOne. No responses were received from 11 questionnaires issued.  
 

 
4. Conformance with Public Sector Internal Audit Standards 

 
During the year ended 31 March 2021 our work was governed by the Public Sector Internal Audit Standards (The Standards).  The Standards require 
that an External Quality Assessment (EQA) be conducted at least once every five years by a qualified, independent assessor or assessment team 
from outside of our organisation.  An external independent assessor, appointed through the Chartered Institute of Internal Auditors, was appointed 
to commission this piece of work and we received the highest possible rating of “Generally Conforms” with internal auditing standards. We are now 
using the detailed feedback and recommendations within the EQA report as part of a programme of ongoing development and continuous 
improvement.  

 
Our Quality Assurance and Improvement Programme also includes internal quality assessments; which have been carried out during 2020/21 by 
AuditOne’s Quality and Performance Manager. An internal self-assessment of compliance with the Standards has also been undertaken and 
recommendations progressed accordingly. 

 
  



17 
 

Appendix A  
 

Summary of work undertaken 
 

Audit area 

Assurance   Recommendations 

Substantial Good Reasonable Limited  High Medium Low Totals 

Core areas (Appendix A of the Audit Plan) 

 
 

 

Governance, Risk and Performance   

Governance Structures and Risk 
Management Arrangements       0 0 2 2 

Conflicts of Interest       0 0 4 4 

Information Governance 

 
  

Data Security & Protection Toolkit – 
Interim Assessment 

*Assurance levels as below (in accordance with NHS Digital’s 
2020 guidance for internal auditors) 

 
 6 1 0 7 

Overall risk assessment across all 10 
National Data Guardian standards 

Unsatisfactory as 1 or more Standards are rated as 
‘unsatisfactory’  

 Assurance level based on the 
confidence level of the independent 
assessor in the veracity of the CCG’s 
self-assessment. 

Limited. High level of deviation. The organisation’s self-
assessment against the Toolkit differs significantly from the 
Independent Assessment 

For example, the organisation has declared as “Standards 
Met” or “Standards Exceeded” but the independent 
assessment has found individual NDG standards as 
‘Unsatisfactory’ and the overall rating is ‘Unsatisfactory’. 

 

 

Commissioning and Contracting   
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Audit area 

Assurance   Recommendations 

Substantial Good Reasonable Limited  High Medium Low Totals 

 

Primary Medical Care Commissioning      0 0 2 2 

Implementing Phase 3 of the NHS 
Response to Covid-19 (Draft)      0 1 0 1 

Finance 

 
  

Key Financial Controls      0 0 2 2 

Continuing Healthcare - Hospital 
Discharge Scheme (Draft)      0 5 1 6 

COVID-19 Commissioning and Costing      0 1 1 2 

Totals (Appendix A – Core) 6 0 1 0  6 8 12 26 
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                                                                                                                                                                                                                                    Appendix B 
Recommendation and assurance definitions 

 
  

Assurance Levels 
 

Substantial Governance, risk management and control arrangements provide substantial assurance that the risks identified are managed 
effectively. Compliance with the control framework was found to be taking place.  

Good 
Governance, risk management and control arrangements provide a good level of assurance that the risks identified are managed 
effectively.  A high level of compliance with the control framework was found to be taking place. Minor remedial action is 
required 

Reasonable 
Governance, risk management and control arrangements provide reasonable assurance that the risks identified are managed 
effectively. Compliance with the control framework was not found to be taking place in a consistent manner.  Some moderate 
remedial action is required. 

Limited 
Governance, risk management and control arrangements provide limited assurance that the risks identified are managed 
effectively. Compliance with the control framework was not found to be taking place.  Immediate and fundamental remedial 
action is required. 

 
 

 
Recommendation Prioritisation  

 

High A fundamental weakness in the system that puts the achievement of the systems objectives at risk and / or major and consistent 
non-compliance with the control framework requiring management action as a matter of urgency. 

Medium A significant weakness within the system that leaves some of the systems objectives at risk and / or some non-compliance with 
the control framework.  

Low Minor improvement to the system could be made to improve internal control in general and engender good practice but are 
not vital to the overall system of internal control. 

 
 



20 
 

 



 

 

 

REPORT CLASSIFICATON  CATEGORY OF PAPER 

Official  Proposes specific action/decision  

Official: Sensitive Commercial  Provides assurance   

Official: Sensitive Personal   For information only  

 

 
GOVERNING BODY 

 
3 JUNE 2021 

Report Title: Audit Completion Report 2020/21 

Purpose of Report 

This report summarises the external auditor’s work on the statutory financial statements and 
annual report (the elements of the Remuneration and Staff Report subject to audit).  
The report highlights also that no significant weaknesses have been identified in the CCG’s 
arrangements for delivering economy, efficiency and effectiveness (value for money), with a 
separate report on VfM to be issued in July.  

Key Points 

At the time of issuing this report and subject to the satisfactory conclusion of the remaining 
audit work, the external auditor anticipates issuing an unqualified opinion, without 
modification. There are: 

 no material amendments to the financial statements (either adjusted or unadjusted); 

 no significant deficiencies in internal control noted; and 

 no significant weaknesses in the CCG’s arrangements for delivering value for money.   
Upon completion of the highlighted outstanding work, Members will be informed by way of a 
follow-up letter.   

Financial Implications/Risks/Issues 

As per report.  

Assurances  

As per report. Note this report was considered by the Audit and Risk Committee on 26 May 
2021.  

Recommendation/Action Required 

 Note the external auditor’s report.  

 Highlight any issues for discussion with the external auditor as part of two-way 
communication.  

 Recommend the annual report (including the financial statements) for approval by the 
Governing Body, including the specific assurances required by the external auditor in 
the letter of representation (appendix A). 

Sponsor/approving director 
Kate Hudson 
Chief Finance Officer and Chief Officer 

Report author Diane Harold, Senior Manager, Mazars LLP 



 

2 

 

 

Cameron Waddell, Partner, Mazars LLP 

Link to CCG Objectives  

1. Developing and delivering the CCG’s key strategic priorities: 

1a:  Ensuring integrated commissioning and delivery of services  

1b:  Enabling people to take greater responsibility for their own health  

1c:  Enabling people to receive timely, safe and appropriate care  

1d:  Enabling people to stay well in their own homes and communities  

2.  Making the best use of resources  

3.  Improving patient experience and wellbeing  

4.  Ensuring the CCG is a well-led organisation.  

Relevant Legal/Statutory Issues  

National Audit Office Code of Audit Practice 

Any potential/actual conflicts 
of interest associated with 
the paper? (please tick) 

Yes  No  N/A  

If yes, please specify: n/a 

Equality analysis completed 
(please tick)  

Yes  No  N/A  

If no, please specify:  n/a 

If there is an expected 
impact on patient outcomes 
and/or experience, has a 
quality impact assessment 
been undertaken? (please 
tick) 

Yes  No  N/A  

If no, please specify: n/a 

Involvement implications 

Has there been/does there 
need to be appropriate 
clinical involvement?  

n/a 

Has there been/does there 
need to be any patient and 
public involvement? 

n/a 

Has there been/does there 
need to be member practice 
involvement? 

n/a 

Has there been/does there 
need to be partner and other 
stakeholder involvement?   

n/a 
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Audit and Risk Committee and Governing Body Members
NHS South Tyneside Clinical Commissioning Group
Monkton Hall
Main Hall
Monkton Lane
Jarrow
NE32 5NN

18 March 2021

Dear Members

Audit Completion Report – year ended 31 March 2021

We are pleased to present our Audit Completion Report for the year ended 31 March 2021. The purpose of this document is to summarise our audit conclusions. 

The scope of our work, including identified significant audit risks, key audit matters and other areas of management judgement, was outlined in our Audit Strategy Memorandum which we presented on 9 March 2021. We have 
reviewed our Audit Strategy Memorandum and concluded that the original significant audit risks and other areas of management judgement remain appropriate. We noted in our Audit Strategy Memorandum that our risk 
assessment in respect of our VFM work was not complete; following completion of this risk assessment, we did not identify any significant risks of weaknesses in arrangements. 

We would like to express our thanks for the continued assistance of your team during our audit.

If you would like to discuss any matters in more detail then please do not hesitate to contact me on 078 1375 2053. 

Yours faithfully

Cameron Waddell
Partner

Mazars LLP

Mazars LLP

The Corner

Bank Chambers

26 Mosley Street

Newcastle upon Tyne

NE1 1DF

Mazars LLP – The Corner – Bank Chambers – 26 Mosley Street – Newcastle upon Tyne – NE1 1DF

Tel: 0191 383 6300 – www.mazars.co.uk

Mazars LLP is the UK firm of Mazars, an integrated international advisory and accountancy organisation. Mazars LLP is a limited liability partnership registered in England and Wales with registered number OC308299 and with its registered office at Tower Bridge House, St Katharine’s Way, 

London E1W 1DD.

We are registered to carry on audit work in the UK by the Institute of Chartered Accountants in England and Wales. Details about our audit registration can be viewed at www.auditregister.org.uk under reference number C001139861. VAT number: 839 8356 73

http://www.mazars.co.uk/
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1. Executive summary

Principal conclusions and significant findings

As outlined in our Audit Strategy Memorandum, our audit has been conducted in accordance with International 
Standards on Auditing (UK) and means we focus on audit risks that we have assessed as resulting in a higher 
risk of material misstatement. 

In section 4 of this report we have set out our conclusions and significant findings from our audit. This section 
includes our conclusions on the audit risk and area of management judgement in our Audit Strategy 
Memorandum, which were as follows: 

• management override of controls (inherent significant risk); and

• accrual of prescribing expenditure (enhanced risk). 

Section 5 sets out internal control recommendations and section 6 sets out audit misstatements; there are no 
unadjusted misstatements to report, subject to the completion of outstanding matters. 

Status and audit opinion

We have substantially completed our audit in respect of the financial statements for the year ended 31 March 
2021. 

At the time of preparing this report the matters outlined in section 2 are outstanding. 

We will provide an update to you in relation to the significant matters outstanding through issuance of a follow-
up letter. 

Subject to the satisfactory conclusion of the remaining audit work, we have the following conclusions:

5

Executive summary Status of audit Audit approach Significant findings
Internal control 

recommendations
Summary of

misstatements
Value for Money Appendices

Audit opinion
We anticipate issuing an unqualified opinion, without modification, on the financial 

statements.  Our proposed audit opinion is included in the draft auditor’s report in Appendix 

B.

Value for Money
We anticipate having no significant weaknesses in arrangements to report in relation to the  

arrangements the CCG has in place to secure economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its 

use of resources.  Further detail on our Value for Money work is provided in section 7 of this 

report.  

Regularity 
We anticipate issuing an unqualified regularity opinion, meaning that in our opinion, in all 

material respects the expenditure and income recognised in the financial statements have 

been applied for the purposes intended by Parliament.  Our proposed regularity opinion is 

included in the draft auditor’s report in Appendix B.

Reporting to the group auditor
We anticipate reporting to the National Audit Office (NAO) that the CCG’s consolidation data 

is consistent with the financial statements. 
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2. Status of the audit

Audit area Status Description of the outstanding matters

Transaction testing, 

including payables

Completion of testing and also considering the second iteration of the Agreement of 

Balances exercise, once available. 

Cut-off testing
Given the anticipated timing of the opinion being signed in mid-June (due to when the 

NHS ledger re-opens), we need to extend our cut-off testing to cover May. 

Disclosures Work is on-going in respect of various disclosures.

Consolidation schedules Testing of the consolidation schedules (Whole of Government Accounts).

Review and closure 

processes

Including internal consistency checks, checking the final version of the Annual Report and 

financial statements and consideration of any post balance sheet events. 

7

Our work is substantially complete and there are currently no matters of which we are aware that would require modification of our audit opinion, subject to the outstanding matters detailed below:

Likely to result in material adjustment or 

significant change to disclosures within 

the financial statements.

Potential to result in material adjustment 

or significant change to disclosures 

within the financial statements.

Not considered likely to result in material 

adjustment or change to disclosures 

within the financial statements. 

Executive summary Status of audit Audit approach Significant findings
Internal control 

recommendations
Summary of

misstatements
Value for Money Appendices
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3. Audit approach

Changes to our audit approach 

We provided details of our intended audit approach in our Audit Strategy Memorandum in March 2021.  We 
have not made any changes to our audit approach since we presented our Audit Strategy Memorandum. 
We noted in our Audit Strategy Memorandum that our risk assessment in respect of our VFM work was not 
complete. Following completion of this risk assessment we did not identify any significant risks of weaknesses 
in arrangements. 

Materiality

Our provisional materiality at the planning stage of the audit was set at £6.2 million using a benchmark of 1.5% 
of total operating expenditure.  Our final assessment of materiality, based on the final financial statements and 
qualitative factors, is £6.2 million using the same benchmark. 

Use of experts 

There have been no changes to our use of experts outlined in our Audit Strategy Memorandum, with no issues 
arising we are required to report to you. 

Service organisations 

There have been no changes to the CCG’s service organisations outlined in our Audit Strategy Memorandum.  
The table to the right shows the service organisations for which Service Auditor Reports were obtained. As set 
out in our Audit Strategy Memorandum, we review the Service Auditor Reports (SARs) and consider if there is 
any impact on our audit responsibilities. 

All SARs received to date were qualified for 2020/21.  We have challenged management on how they have 
gained assurance over their internal controls, given the control exceptions reported.  We are satisfied the CCG 
has appropriate mitigating controls in place.  As we did not place specific reliance on the SARs, but considered 
their impact, we are satisfied there are no significant matters we are required to report to you. 

The CCG intends setting out its assessment of the SARs in its revised Annual Report (Governance Statement) 
and how it has satisfied itself in respect of the control exceptions.  

9

Executive summary Status of audit Audit approach Significant findings
Internal control 

recommendations
Summary of

misstatements
Value for Money Appendices

Items of account Service organisation Audit approach

Income and Expenditure

Treasury and Cash Management

North of England 

Commissioning Service 

(NECS)

For each of the service 

organisations listed, we 

have reviewed the Type II 

Service Auditor Reports 

(SAR). 

We have not identified any 

further audit risks and do 

not place any direct 

reliance on the work 

completed by the service 

organisations’ auditors.

Staff Costs
NHS Electronic Staff Record 

System (ESR)

Income and Expenditure

Accounts Payable 

Accounts Receivable

NHS Shared Business 

Services (SBS)

Expenditure – prescription costs
NHS Business Services 

Authority (BSA)

Expenditure – primary care co-

commissioning expenditure
Capita and NHS Digital
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4. Significant findings

In this section we outline the significant findings from our audit. These findings include:

• our audit conclusions regarding the significant risk and key area of management judgement outlined in the 
Audit Strategy Memorandum;

• our comments in respect of the accounting policies and disclosures that you have adopted in the financial 
statements. On page 15 we have concluded whether the financial statements have been prepared in 
accordance with the financial reporting framework and commented on any significant accounting policy 
changes that have been made during the year;

• significant matters discussed with management; and

• any significant difficulties we experienced during the audit.

Significant risk

Management 

override of 

controls

Description of the risk

In all entities, management at various levels within an organisation are in a 

unique position to perpetrate fraud because of their ability to manipulate 

accounting records and prepare fraudulent financial statements by overriding 

controls that otherwise appear to be operating effectively. Due to the 

unpredictable way in which such override could occur, we consider there to be 

a risk of material misstatement due to fraud and thus a significant risk on all 

audits.

How we addressed this risk

We addressed this risk through performing audit work over:

• accounting estimates impacting amounts included in the financial 

statements;

• consideration of identified significant transactions outside the normal course 

of business; and

• journals recorded in the general ledger and other adjustments made in 

preparation of the financial statements.

Audit conclusion

Our work has provided us with the assurance we sought and has not 

highlighted any material issues to bring to your attention. 

Executive summary Status of audit Audit approach Significant findings
Internal control 

recommendations
Summary of

misstatements
Value for Money Appendices
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4. Significant findings

Key area of management judgement

Prescribing 

expenditure 

estimate

Description of the management judgement

The CCG’s accounts contain estimates. Subject to when the CCG receives 

information on actual February and March 2021 prescribing expenditure, it is 

possible that the accounts may contain a material estimate in respect of 

prescribing expenditure i.e. in most years the accounts contain an estimate 

based on NHS Business Services Authority (BSA) profiling which is reported 

two months in arrears. 

We consider this area of key management judgement to be an enhanced risk.

How our audit addressed this area of management judgement

We addressed the risk by:

• testing the prescribing accrual included in the accounts, including 

comparing the reasonableness of the estimate to the outturn for the prior 

year;

• reviewing the basis upon which the estimate has been made;

• agreement to the BSA notification; and

• reviewing and considering the assurance we receive from BSA (Type II 

service audit report).

Executive summary Status of audit Audit approach Significant findings
Internal control 

recommendations
Summary of

misstatements
Value for Money Appendices

Prescribing 

expenditure 

estimate 

(continued)

Audit conclusion

Prescribing for 2020/21 totalled £29.6 million (prior year £28.1 million), including an 

estimate totalling £2.6 million (prior year £2.8 million). 

Estimate: management is required, when making estimates included in the accounts, to 

consider any additional information available relevant to those estimates, right up until the 

point when the auditor’s opinion is given. Therefore, we consider the difference between 

the estimates and the actuals.

The difference between the March estimate and the actual is £0.109 million, with the 

actual being higher than the CCG’s estimate. Management do not plan to adjust for this 

and it is below our triviality level.

Service auditor report: we note the qualified service auditor report for 2020/21, with 

control exceptions arising in respect of checking payments were complete, accurate and 

made to valid contractors as well as controls in respect of system access.

The CCG’s assertion is that it has sufficient internal controls in place for checking 

prescribing expenditure to mitigate against these control exceptions.  We have 

considered the CCG’s processes and also have drawn assurance from our own 

substantive testing. 

Overall: our work has provided us with the assurance we sought and has not highlighted 

any material issues to bring to your attention.
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4. Significant findings

Qualitative aspects of the CCG’s accounting practices

We have reviewed the CCG’s accounting policies and disclosures and concluded they comply with Department 
of Health and Social Care Group Accounting Manual 2020/21, appropriately tailored to the CCG’s 
circumstances. There were no significant changes to accounting policies. 

Going concern
We discussed with the CCG the going concern assumption, as set out in accounting policy 1.1, which states 
that “if services continue to be provided, the financial statements are prepared on a going concern basis”. In 
considering management’s going concern assumption, we are required to consider at least 12 months after the 
date our opinion is signed. In light of the February 2021 White Paper proposals for CCGs, we recommended 
the CCG expand upon the going concern policy, to clarify the proposals would result, if the legislation is passed, 
in the CCG’s functions transferring to new statutory bodies by April 2022 (i.e. the CCG’s services would 
continue to be provided). 

Compliance of the CCG template with the Government Accounting Manual (GAM)
We noted there were again a number of areas where the CCG template used by NHS South Tyneside CCG did 
not fully comply with the GAM, including: 

• the split of disclosures into programme and administration expenditure; 

• the classification of expenditure in the operating costs disclosure note; and

• the wording of some accounting policies. 

We were satisfied there were no material omissions, noting the additional narrative included by the CCG at the 
foot of the operating costs disclosure. 

Financial statements and working papers: draft financial statements were received from the CCG on 27 April 
and were again of a good quality and supported by comprehensive working papers. 

Significant matters discussed with management

Significant matters discussed include:

• Coronavirus: we discussed the impact of the pandemic upon the CCG’s arrangements, as well as the value 
of coronavirus expenditure included in the 2020/21 financial statements. 

• Revised financial regime for 2020/21: we considered the revised mandated regime in place, arising as a 
result of the pandemic. 

• Integrated Care Partnership (ICP) funding: we discussed how the funding for the Central ICP, which this 
CCG is part of, was hosted by and accounted for by NHS County Durham CCG.

• Non-NHS payables: we discussed the reasons for the significant increase in non-NHS payables. 

• Service auditor reports: we discussed with management how they obtained sufficient assurance where the 
service auditor reports were either qualified, with control exceptions identified. 

• Prescribing: we discussed with management the requirement for them to revisit estimates made in 
preparing the accounts prior to sign-off, to take account of any further information available. 

Significant difficulties during the audit

During the course of the audit we did not encounter any significant difficulties and we have had the full co-
operation of management. 
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5. Internal control recommendations

The purpose of our audit was to express an opinion on the financial statements. As part of our audit we have 
considered the internal controls in place relevant to the preparation of the financial statements in order to 
design audit procedures to allow us to express an opinion on the financial statements but not for the purpose of 
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of internal control or to identify any significant deficiencies in their 
design or operation.

The matters reported are limited to those deficiencies and other control recommendations that we have 
identified during our normal audit procedures and that we consider to be of sufficient importance to merit being 
reported. If we had performed more extensive procedures on internal control we might have identified more 
deficiencies to be reported or concluded that some of the reported deficiencies need not in fact have been 
reported. Our comments should not be regarded as a comprehensive record of all deficiencies that may exist or 
improvements that could be made.

Our findings and recommendations are set out below. We have assigned priority rankings to each of them to 
reflect the importance that we consider each poses to your organisation and, hence, our recommendation in 
terms of the urgency of required action. In summary, the matters arising fall into the following categories:

We have not identified any internal control deficiencies in 2020/21. 

Priority ranking Description Number of issues

1 (high) In our view, there is potential for financial loss, damage to 

reputation or loss of information. This may have implications 

for the achievement of business strategic objectives. The 

recommendation should be taken into consideration by 

management immediately.

0

2 (medium) In our view, there is a need to strengthen internal controls or 

enhance business efficiency. The recommendations should 

be actioned in the near future. 

0

3 (low) In our view, internal controls should be strengthened in these 

additional areas when practicable.

0
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6. Summary of misstatements

This section outlines the misstatements identified during the course of the audit, above the trivial threshold for adjustment of £187,000.

Unadjusted misstatements: there are no misstatements identified during the course of our audit which management has assessed as not being material either individually or in aggregate to the financial statements and does not
currently plan to adjust.

Adjusted misstatements: there are no misstatements that have been adjusted by management during the course of the audit that we are required to report to you.

Disclosure amendments

Disclosure amendments made include the following:

• Various minor presentational points. 

• Note 4 operating expenditure: addition of narrative at the foot of the table in respect of the non-audit fee work (Mental Health Investment Standard related).

• Remuneration and Staff report.  There have been updates to a number of areas including: 

o Main salary table: amendment for an error for one senior manager. 

o Narrative on Accountable Officer shared arrangements expanded to state that his pension benefits are not included in the pensions table, as they are shown in full by NHS County Durham CCG. 

There are no material unadjusted disclosure points we are required to report to you.

17

Executive summary Status of audit Audit approach Significant findings
Internal control 

recommendations
Summary of

misstatements
Value for Money Appendices



Section 07:

Value for Money

18



Approach to Value for Money

We are required to consider whether the CCG has made proper arrangements for securing economy, efficiency 
and effectiveness in its use of resources.  The NAO issues guidance to auditors that underpins the work we are 
required to carry out and sets out the reporting criteria that we are required to consider. The reporting criteria 
are:

• Financial sustainability - how the CCG plans and manages its resources to ensure it can continue to 
deliver its services;

• Governance - how the CCG ensures that it makes informed decisions and properly manages its risks; and

• Improving economy, efficiency and effectiveness - how the CCG uses information about its costs and 
performance to improve the way it manages and delivers its services.

At the planning stage of the audit, we undertake work to understand the arrangements that the CCG has in 
place under each of the reporting criteria and we identify risks of significant weaknesses in those arrangements.  
Although we describe this work as planning work, we keep our understanding of arrangements under review 
and update our risk assessment throughout the audit to reflect emerging issues that may suggest significant 
weaknesses in arrangements exist. 

Where our risk-based procedures identify actual significant weaknesses in arrangements we are required to 
report these and make recommendations for improvement.   Where such significant weaknesses are identified, 
we report these in the audit report.

Based upon our risk assessment, we did not identify any risks of significant weaknesses in arrangements.

The primary output of our work on the CCG’s arrangements is the commentary on those arrangements that 
forms part of the Annual Audit Letter.  We intend to issue the Annual Audit Letter in July. 

Status of our work 

We have completed our work in respect of the CCG’s arrangements for the year ended 31 March 2021 and we 
have not identified any significant weaknesses in arrangements that have required us to make a 
recommendation.  Our draft audit report at Appendix B confirms that we have no matters to report in respect of 
significant weaknesses.  As noted to the left, our commentary on the CCG’s arrangements will be provided in 
the Annual Audit Letter in July. 

7. Value for Money
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Appendix A: Draft management representation letter

NHS South Tyneside CCG
Monkton Hall
Main Hall
Monkton Lane
Jarrow
NE32 5NN

[Date]

Dear Cameron

NHS South Tyneside Clinical Commissioning Group - audit for year ended 31 March 2021

This representation letter is provided in connection with your audit of the financial statements of NHS South 
Tyneside CCG for the year ended 31 March 2021 for the purpose of expressing an opinion as to whether the 
financial statements give a true and fair view in accordance with the Group Accounting Manual.

I confirm that the following representations are made on the basis of enquiries of management and staff with 
relevant knowledge and experience (and, where appropriate, inspection of supporting documentation) sufficient to 
satisfy ourselves that I can properly make each of the following representations to you.

My responsibility for the financial statements and accounting information

I believe that I have fulfilled my responsibilities for the true and fair presentation and preparation of the financial 
statements in accordance with the Group Accounting Manual and relevant legislation and International Financial 
Reporting Standards (IFRS) as adapted and adopted by HM Treasury.

My responsibility to provide and disclose relevant information

I have provided you with: 

• access to all information of which we are aware that is relevant to the preparation of the financial statements 
such as records, documentation and other material;

• additional information that you have requested from us for the purpose of the audit; and

• unrestricted access to individuals within the CCG you determined it was necessary to contact in order to obtain 
audit evidence.

I confirm as Accountable Officer that I have taken all the necessary steps to make me aware of any relevant audit 
information and to establish that you, as auditors, are aware of this information.

As far as I am aware there is no relevant audit information of which you, as auditors, are unaware.

Accounting records

I confirm that all transactions that have a material effect on the financial statements have been recorded in the 
accounting records and are reflected in the financial statements. All other records and related information, 
including minutes of all Governing Body and relevant committee meetings, have been made available to you. 

Accounting policies

I confirm that I have reviewed the accounting policies applied during the year in accordance with Group 
Accounting Manual and International Accounting Standard 8 and consider these policies to faithfully represent the 
effects of transactions, other events or conditions on the CCG's financial position, financial performance and cash 
flows.

Accounting estimates, including those measured at fair value

I confirm that any significant assumptions used by the CCG in making accounting estimates, including those 
measured at fair value, are reasonable.

Contingencies

There are no material contingent losses including pending or potential litigation that should be accrued where:

• information presently available indicates that it is probable that an asset has been impaired or a liability has 
been incurred at the balance sheet date; and

• the amount of the loss can be reasonably estimated.

There are no material contingent losses that should be disclosed where, although either or both the conditions 
specified above are not met, there is a reasonable possibility that a loss, or a loss greater than that accrued, may 
have been incurred at the balance sheet date.

There are no contingent gains that should be disclosed.
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Appendix A: Draft management representation letter (continued)

Contingencies (continued)

All material matters, including unasserted claims, that may result in litigation against the CCG have been brought 
to your attention. All known actual or possible litigation and claims whose effects should be considered when 
preparing the financial statements have been disclosed to you and accounted for and disclosed in accordance with 
the Group Accounting Manual and relevant legislation and IFRSs as adapted and adopted by HM Treasury.

Laws and regulations

I confirm that I have disclosed to you all those events of which I am aware which involve known or suspected non-
compliance with laws and regulations, together with the actual or contingent consequences which may arise 
therefrom. We have complied with all aspects of contractual agreements that would have a material effect on the 
accounts in the event of non-compliance.

Fraud and error

I acknowledge my responsibility as Accountable Officer for the design, implementation and maintenance of 
internal control to prevent and detect fraud and error. I have disclosed to you:

• all the results of my assessment of the risk that the financial statements may be materially misstated as a 
result of fraud; and

• all knowledge of fraud or suspected fraud affecting the CCG involving:

- management and those charged with governance;

- employees who have significant roles in internal control; and

- others where fraud could have a material effect on the financial statements.

I have disclosed to you all information in relation to any allegations of fraud, or suspected fraud, affecting the 
CCG's financial statements communicated by employees, former employees, analysts, regulators or others.

Related party transactions

I confirm that all related party relationships, transactions and balances have been appropriately accounted for and 
disclosed in accordance with the requirements of the Group Accounting Manual and relevant legislation and 
IFRSs.

I have disclosed to you the identity of the CCG’s related parties and all related party relationships and transactions 
of which I am aware. 

Future commitments

I am not aware of any plans, intentions or commitments that may materially affect the carrying value or 
classification of assets and liabilities or give rise to additional liabilities.

Subsequent events

I confirm all events subsequent to the date of the financial statements and for which the Group Accounting 
Manual, relevant legislation and IFRSs require adjustment or disclosure have been adjusted or disclosed. Should 
further material events occur after the date of this letter which may necessitate revision of the figures included in 
the financial statements or inclusion of a note thereto, I will advise you accordingly.

Going concern

To the best of my knowledge there is nothing to indicate that the CCG will not continue as a going concern in the 
foreseeable future. I have taken into consideration the proposed NHS legislation which would see the functions 
carried out by CCGs currently transferring to new statutory bodies from 1 April 2022; as the services the CCG 
provides will continue to be provided, I consider the going concern assumption to remain appropriate. The period 
to which I have paid particular attention in assessing the appropriateness of the going concern basis is not less 
than twelve months from the date of approval of the accounts. 

Yours faithfully

Accountable Officer
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Appendix B: Draft audit report

To follow
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Appendix C: Independence

As part of our on-going risk assessment we monitor our relationships with you to identify any new actual or perceived threats to our independence within the regulatory or professional requirements governing 
us as your auditors.

We can confirm that no new threats to independence have been identified since issuing the Audit Strategy Memorandum and therefore we remain independent.

Issue Perceived threats Safeguards

NHS SBS Mazars is the appointed auditor for NHS 

SBS, which is the ledger system used by 

all CCGs. 

There is no contractual relationship 

between the CCG and NHS SBS. Only 

NHSE/DHSC have a contractual 

relationship with NHS SBS. 

Mazars LLP is also not involved in 

producing the service auditor report as 

PwC provide this service to NHS SBS.

The potential threats to auditor independence and associated safeguards in place include:

• Self-review: the nature of this work is to carry out the external audit of NHS SBS. The engagement is entirely separate from 

the audit through a separate contract, and the team is a different team to the audit team;

• Self-interest: the total fee level is not deemed to be material to Mazars;

• Management: the work does not involve Mazars making any decisions on behalf of management;

• Advocacy: the work does not involve Mazars advocating the CCG to third parties;

• Familiarity: work is not deemed to give rise to a familiarity threat; and

• Intimidation: the nature of the work does not give rise to any intimidation threat from management to Mazars.

Capita From 2019/20, Mazars is undertaking the 

ISAE3402 assurance work report for 

Capita PCSE, a shared service provider 

for primary care services to NHS Clinical 

Commissioning Groups. 

Fees are estimated to be £94,000 in total.

The potential threats to auditor independence and associated safeguards in place include:

• Self-review: the nature of this work is to provide an independent assurance report to the relevant external body. The 

engagement is entirely separate from the audit through a separate contract, and the team is a different team to the audit 

team;

• Self-interest: the total fee level is not deemed to be material to Mazars;

• Management: the work does not involve Mazars making any decisions on behalf of management;

• Advocacy: the work does not involve Mazars advocating the CCG to third parties;

• Familiarity: work is not deemed to give rise to a familiarity threat; and

• Intimidation: the nature of the work does not give rise to any intimidation threat from management to Mazars.
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Other 

communication
Response

Compliance with 

Laws and 

Regulations

We have not identified any significant matters involving actual or suspected non-compliance with laws and regulations. We will obtain written representations from management that all 

known instances of non-compliance or suspected non-compliance with laws and regulations whose effects should be considered when preparing financial statements have been disclosed.

External 

confirmations

We did not experience any issues with respect to obtaining external confirmations.

Related parties We did not identify any significant matters relating to the audit of related parties. 

We will obtain written representations from management confirming that:

a. they have disclosed to us the identity of related parties and all the related party relationships and transactions of which they are aware; and

b. they have appropriately accounted for and disclosed such relationships and transactions in accordance with the requirements of the applicable financial reporting framework.

Going Concern We have not identified any evidence to cause us to disagree with Members of the Audit and Risk Committee and Governing Body (as ‘Those Charged with Governance’) that NHS South 

Tyneside Clinical Commissioning Group will be a going concern, and therefore we consider that the use of the going concern assumption is appropriate in the preparation of the financial 

statements.

We will obtain written representations from management, confirming that all relevant information covering a period of at least 12 months from the date of approval of the financial statements 

has been taken into account in assessing the appropriateness of the going concern basis of preparation of the financial statements.
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Appendix D: Other communications

Other 

communication
Response

Subsequent events We are required to obtain evidence about whether events occurring between the date of the financial statements and the date of the auditor’s report that require adjustment of, or disclosure 

in, the financial statements are appropriately reflected in those financial statements in accordance with the applicable financial reporting framework.

We will obtain written representations from management that all events occurring subsequent to the date of the financial statements and for which the applicable financial reporting 

framework requires adjustment or disclosure have been adjusted or disclosed.

Matters related 

to fraud

We have designed our audit approach to obtain reasonable assurance whether the financial statements as a whole are free from material misstatement due to fraud. In addition to the work 

performed by us, we will obtain written representations from management, and where appropriate Members of the Audit and Risk Committee and Governing Body (as ‘Those Charged with 

Governance’) confirming that

a. they acknowledge their responsibility for the design, implementation and maintenance of internal control to prevent and detect fraud;

b. they have disclosed to the auditor the results of management’s assessment of the risk that the financial statements may be materially misstated as a result of fraud;

c. they have disclosed to the auditor their knowledge of fraud or suspected fraud affecting the entity involving:

i. Management;

ii. Employees who have significant roles in internal control; or

iii. Others where the fraud could have a material effect on the financial statements; and

d. they have disclosed to the auditor their knowledge of any allegations of fraud, or suspected fraud, affecting the entity’s financial statements communicated by employees, former 

employees, analysts, regulators or others. 
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Mazars

Mazars is an internationally integrated partnership, specialising in audit, accountancy, advisory, tax 

and legal services*. Operating in over 90 countries and territories around the world, we draw on the 

expertise of 40,400 professionals – 24,400 in Mazars’ integrated partnership and 16,000 via the 

Mazars North America Alliance – to assist clients of all sizes at every stage in their development.

*where permitted under applicable country laws.

The Corner
Bank Chambers
26 Mosley Street
Newcastle upon Tyne
NE1 1DF
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